Gulhane Med J June 2022 Volume 64 Issue 2

ISSN: 1302-0471 e-ISSN: 2146-8052



www.gulhanemedj.org



Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Executive Editor-in-Chief

Cevdet ERDÖL. M.D., Prof. Rector of the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Istanbul, Türkiye **Editor-in-Chief**

M. Ali GÜLÇELİK, M.D., Prof. Dean of Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8967-7303

Editors Emre ADIGÜZEL, M.D., Assoc. Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Ankara City Hospital, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-2447-5065

Melih AKINCI, M.D., Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0001-8719-6584

Simel AYYILDIZ, DDS, Ph.D., Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Prosthodontics, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0003-4679-0629

Muhammet CINAR, M.D., Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6150-3539

Ahu PAKDEMİRLİ, M.D., Ph.D., Assoc. Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Ankara, Türkiye

ORCID ID: 0000-0001-9224-3007

Y. Alper SÖNMEZ. M.D., Prof. University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-9309-7715

İlker TAŞÇI, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0002-0936-2476

Duygu TECER, M.D., Assoc. Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye

ORCID ID: 0000-0002-8816-6181

Yusuf TUNCA, M.D., Prof.

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine; Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Medical Genetics, Ankara, Türkiye ORCID ID: 0000-0001-6336-5371

Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Derya Mor Frkan Mor **Publication Coordinator**

Burak Sever Web Coordinators Fuat Hocalar Turgay Akpinar **Graphics Department** Ayda Alaca Ciădem Birinci Gülay Saday Gülşah Özgül **Finance Coordinator**

Sevinç Çakmak

Project Coordinators Aysel Balta , Gamze Aksov Gülay Akın Hatice Sever Melike Eren Özlem Çelik Pinar Akpinar Rabia Palazoğlu Sümeyye Karadağ Research&Development

Nihan Karamanlı Melisa Yiğitoğlu

Ümit Topluoğlu

Managing Editor İlker TAŞÇI, M.D., Prof.

English Editing Provided by Galenos for accepted articles

Editorial Board

İsmail Yaşar AVCI, M.D., Prof. Hatice AYHAN, R.N., Assoc, Prof. Tülav BAŞAK, R.N., Prof. Bilgin B. BAŞGÖZ, M.D., Asst. Prof. Ahmet COSAR, M.D., Prof. Mehmet Ayhan CÖNGÖLOĞLU, M.D., Prof. Fatma İlknur CINAR, R.N., Prof. Ali Hakan DURUKAN, M.D., Prof. Berna EREN FİDANCI, R.N., Assoc. Prof. Şefik GÜRAN, M.D., Prof. Mesut GÜRDAL. M.D., Prof. Ömer KARADAŞ, M.D., Prof. Kazım Emre KARAŞAHİN, M.D., Prof. Necdet KOCABIYIK, M.D., Prof. Tarkan MUMCUOĞLU, M.D., Prof. Mehmet İlkin NAHARCI, M.D., Prof. Sinan ÖKSÜZ, M.D., Assoc. Prof. Oktay SARI, M.D., Prof. Ayhan SAVAŞER, M.D., Prof. Mustafa TUNCA, M.D., Assoc. Prof. Dilek YILDIZ, R.N., Prof.

Gülhane Medical Journal is the official scientific publication of the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye.

<u>GÜLHANE MEDICAL JOURNAL</u> Gülhane Tıp Dergisi



Publisher Contact

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk.

No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Gülhane Medical Journal (Gulhane Med J) is the official, scientific, peer-reviewed, international journal of Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye. The journal accepts submissions on all aspects of general medicine. Featured article types include original articles, case reports, reviews, and letters to the editor. The history of the Gülhane Medical Journal dates back to 1871 and it was named with its current title in 1999.

Reasons to publish with this journal:

- Electronic archive available since 2002
- Covers the broad field of medicine
- Double-blind, peer-review policy
- Published in both print and online versions
- Online early appearance with a doi number
- No fee of any type for submission or publication

The journal is published quarterly in March, June, September and December.

Processing and publication are free of charge with Gülhane Medical Journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process.

All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system which is available through the journal's web page.

For authors submitting to Gülhane Medical Journal, it is recommended that authors follow the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals formulated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

Abstracting and Indexing

Gülhane Medical Journal is indexed in Scopus, British Library, Ulakbim TR Index, CABI, Ebsco HOST, Index Copernicus, OCLC Worldcat, Embase, Türk Medline, Türkiye Atıf Dizini, J-Gate and Gale.

Copyright Statement

Gülhane Faculty of Medicine owns the royalty and national and international copyright of all content published in the journal.

About us

Material Disclaimer

The author(s) is (are) responsible for the articles published in Gülhane Medical Journal The editor, editorial board and publisher do not accept any responsibility for the articles.

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on the rules of the Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www. budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to peerreviewed research literature, we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercialNoDerivatives 4.0 International License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ncnd/4.0/).

The journal is printed on an acid-free paper.

Publisher Corresponding Address

Galenos Yayınevi Tic. Ltd. Şti.

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21, 34093 Fındıkzade-İstanbul-Türkiye

Phone: +90 212 621 99 25

Fax: +90 212 621 99 27

E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr



Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Instructions to Authors

Gülhane Medical Journal (GMJ) is an international, multidisciplinary and peer reviewed journal for researchers and healthcare providers. It is published four times a year, and accepts submissions in English. It is the official journal of the Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences Türkiye.

GMJ follows the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors's (ICMJE) Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals. For authors submitting to GMJ, it is recommended that authors follow the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals formulated by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE).

All submissions are evaluated through the online submission system via (<u>http://submit.gulhanemedj.org/login.php</u>). Following submission, all correspondence is sent by e-mail.

Accepted manuscripts are assigned a DOI number, and the content is freely available.

GMJ publishes in categories listed below;

- 1. Original article
- 2 Case report
- 3. Review article
- 4. Letter to the editor (and their responses)

Authors submitting their manuscripts should follow this guide for the authors. Editorial office may send the manuscript back in order to complete the standard requirements before proceeding for review.

Original articles should be designated either basic research or clinical research.

Review articles should include a summary and subheadings in the text to highlight the content of different sections. Authors are recommended to contact journal before submitting a review article in order to get a provision for review.

Case reports should present an actual patient case with a specific disease or condition.

Letters to the editor should be related to the articles published in the last four issues.

Below are the word limits applied by the GMJ, specific to manuscript types;

Type of article	Abstract	Word count*	Number of authors	Number of references	Table/figure
Original article	250	2000 to 5000	Unlimited	40	5
Review article	250	2000 to 4000	3	50	3
Case report	100	500 to 1000	5	15	2
Letter to the editor	-	250 to 500	3	5	-
*Excludes abstract, acknowl	edgments, cor	nflict of interest state	ement, references, and ta	ables; minimum and maxim	um word counts.

The authors must declare that their submitted article has neither been published in any journal, nor been simultaneously submitted to another journal. Presentations as an abstract at a scientific meeting is an exception but this should be declared in the cover letter.

The Methods section should include a statement indicating that the research was approved by an independent local, regional or national review body (e.g., ethics committee, institutional review board). If the study includes human subjects, the author should declare openly that the work described has been carried out in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans (link- https://www.wma. net/policies-post/wma-international-code-of-medical-ethics/), and Uniform Requirements for manuscripts submitted to Biomedical journals (link- http://www.icmje.org/). The name of the institution and the code of approval (i.e., approval number) must be provided. Authors should include a statement in the manuscript about informed consent obtained from their participants. According to the most recent regulations by the Turkish Academic Network and Information Center (ULAKBIM), the authors (s) of a case report must include a statement in their manuscript that written, informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Instructions to Authors

GMJ follows the ICMJE's clinical trial registration policy for the clinical trials. Therefore, registration of clinical trials in a public trials registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment is a basic requirement in this journal. The name of the public registry and the code of approval should be included in the manuscript.

Animal experiments should comply with the standards as detailed by the <u>EU Directive 2010/63/EU</u> for animal experiments. Different or local regulations may apply provided that this is written in the manuscript and EU Directive is not violated.

Preperation of the manuscript

The text should be in simple, single-column format. Using MS word processor, Times New Roman font and 11- or 12-point font size should be chosen. The text and references should be double-spaced.

Importantly, the title page must be uploaded separately, no page breaks should be used and all pages should be numbered (below, centered) consecutively.

Abbreviations should be defined when first used in the text.

Units must be expressed following the international system of units (SI).

Uploading the Manuscript Submission Form (MSF) (found in online submission system) is mandatory for all submissions. MSF must be filled in English (typewriting is encouraged), signed by the corresponding author and scanned clearly.

Authors should make sure that a good layout is helpful throughout the review and publication process.

Cover Letter

All submissions should include a cover letter and complete contact information for the corresponding author. The authors must declare in this letter that their submitted article has neither been published in any journal, nor been simultaneously submitted to another journal. Whether the authors have published or submitted any related papers from the same study should be stated. Authors may also use this letter for confidential contact with the editor.

Title Page

All manuscripts should start with the title page. It should include; the title of the manuscript, full names, highest academic degrees, and affiliations of all authors including updates, name and complete contact information for the corresponding author, and manuscript word count (not including title, abstract, acknowledgments, references, tables, and figure legends). The title page should also include the "Acknowledgments" section, "Conflict of interest" statement, and information about the previous publications(s) as an abstract with the inclusion of authors list in the presentation. A sample of a title page can be found here.

Abstract

It should be structured according to Aims, Methods, Results, Conclusions

Keywords

Up to six keywords should be included in the manuscript.

Main document

It should be divided into the following sections: Introduction; Methods; Results; Discussion.

A case report should be structured as follows; introduction, Presentation of Case, Discussion, Conclusion.

Acknowledgments (mandatory)

This section must include list of author contributions, credits, and other information. Author contributions must be listed in accordance with ICMJE authorship criteria. Funding must be described in detail including valid codes. Authors are responsible for the completeness of the information that should exist in the acknowledgement.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Instructions to Authors

Conflict of Interest (mandatory)

Authors must disclose any conflict of interest related to their submission. This statement must include any financial, personal or other relationships within three years of beginning the submitted work. When there is no such relationship, the authors must type "The authors declared they do not have anything to disclose regarding conflict of interest with respect to this manuscript."

References

It is the authors' responsibility to maintain the accuracy and completeness of their references and for correct citation in the text.

References should be numbered and listed in the order they appear in the text. In the text, references should be identified using arabic numerals in parenthesis placed before the period.Up to six authors in a cited article all authors should be listed. When there are seven or more authors, the first three authors' names should be included followed by "et al.". The issue number must be included in journal references, and last page number must be typed in full.

Examples of reference style:

Galant SP, Komarow HD, Shin HW, Siddiqui S, Lipworth BJ. The case for impulse oscillometry in the management of asthma in children and adults. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2017;118(6):664-671.

Willeit K, Pechlaner R, Willeit P, et al. Association between vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 and atrial fibrillation. JAMA Cardiol. 2017;2(5):516-523.

Taichman DB, Sahni P, Pinborg A, et al. Data sharing statements for clinical trials: a requirement of the international committee of medical journal editors [published online June 6, 2017]. Ann Intern Med. doi: 10.7326/M17-1028.

World Health Organization. WHO Criteria for Diagnosis of Osteoporosis. Last Accessed Date: 15.06.2017. Available from: http://www.4bonehealth.org/education/world-health-organization-criteria-diagnosis-osteoporosis/

Venables WN, Ripley BD. Modern Applied Statistics With S. 4th ed. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Co; 2003

Purnell L. Transcultural Diversity and Health Care. In: Transcultural Health Care: A Culturally Competent Approach. 4th ed. Philadelphia: FA Davis Company; 2012:7.

Tables

Tables should be numbered in the order of their citation in the text. Each table should have a brief title. Footnotes should also be used where needed. Each table should be uploaded as a separate word file.

Figures

Figures should be numbered in the order of their citation in the text. Each figure should have a brief title. Footnotes should also be used where needed. Each figure should be uploaded as a separate JPEG or TIFF file and should not exceed 1 MB in size.

Table and figure Legends

Use of brief legends (captions) for tables and figures is recommended. These can include explanation of the table or figure, markers and expansion of abbreviations. The legends should be uploaded as separate, word files.

GMJ encourages authors to use reporting guidelines such as CONSORT for Randomized Controlled Trial, PRISMA for Systematic Reviews or Meta-analyses of controlled trials, STARD for Diagnostic accuracy studies, and STROBE for Observational epidemiology studies.

Fees

GMJ offers entirely free publication. No page charges, article processing charge, or other are applied. The journal does not accept donations.

© 2018 Gülhane Medical Journal. All Rights Reserved.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Peer Review and Ethics

Peer Review Policy

Gülhane Medical Journal is an independent, non-biased periodical publication that adheres to the double-blind peerreview process.

The manuscript evaluation process and ethical principals in this publication conform to the Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE Recommendations) (http://www.icmje.org) and The Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (https://publicationethics.org/).

Submitted manuscripts are first evaluated for their scientific value by the managing editor. After the initial evaluation, an editor is assigned by the Editor-in-Chief. Each manuscript is sent to at least two reviewers by the assigning editor. Following review and the decision of the assigning editor, the Editor-in-Chief makes a decision. The procedure is the same for the initial submission and the revised manuscript. The whole evaluation process is aimed to be completed within 12 weeks. Where necessary, manuscripts are also evaluated by the statistics editor.

The dates of submission and acceptance are displayed on the first page of the accepted manuscripts.

The Editor-in-Chief and editors have the right to reject or return manuscripts to be revised for format or scientific content before the reviewer selection.

All queries should be sent to the editorial office via e-mail the following address: editor@gulhanemedj.org.

Withdrawal Policy

Withdrawal of a manuscript will be permitted only for the most compelling and unavoidable reasons. For withdrawal requests, authors need to submit an "Article Withdrawal Form", signed by all authors. The form is available at (http://glns.co/vsw7j). The submission of this form is not sufficient to complete the withdrawal procedure. The editorial office notifies the authors about the decision of the Editor-in-Chief.

In case the review process exceeds six months following editor assignment, the authors have the right to place a withdrawal request without any reason.

Ethical Considerations

Authors

Gülhane Medical Journal is committed to providing high-quality articles and upholds the publication ethics to advance the intellectual agenda of science. We expect the authors to comply with the best practice in publication ethics.

For experimental and clinical studies, approval by the ethical committee and a statement on adherence of the study protocol to the international agreements (Helsinki Declaration revised 2013 (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/ wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/) are mandatory. In experimental animal studies, the authors should indicate that the procedures are in accordance with animal rights (Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals, www.nap.edu.catalog/5140.html) and they should obtain animal ethic committee approval.

The collected data cannot be shared with third-party persons, organizations or other affiliations. Patients' private data cannot be published.

The "Materials and Methods" should include sufficient information about the ethical approval along with its source and code. This section should also include the required statements that the study procedures conformed to the international standards of human and animal studies, and written, informed consent was obtained for each participant.

The declaration of the conflict of interest between the authors and institutions, and acknowledgement of any funding or financial or material support should appear at the end of the manuscript.

Editors and Reviewers

Editors and reviewers are required to report any potential conflict of interest with the submitting authors and their institutions.

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Peer Review and Ethics

Evidence of the following attempts is subject to sanctions in this journal:

Plagiarism: Republishing the data or intellectual material of someone else as one's own original work.

Fabrication: Publishing data and findings/results that do not exist.

Duplication (multiple publications): Publishing the same data or intellectual material more than once. Publication as an abstract presentation in a scientific meeting is outside this definition.

Salami publication/slicing: Publishing multiple articles by dividing the results of a single study preternaturally.

We use Crossref Similarity Check powered by "iThenticate" to screen all submissions for plagiarism before the review step and before the publication.

Author Contributions

In accordance with the ICMJE recommendations, contributions of all authors must be listed in the manuscript. Contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should not be listed as authors, but they should be acknowledged.

GÜLHANE MEDICAL JOURNAL Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Contents

REVIEW

128 Use of high flow nasal cannula as a modality of acute respiratory failure due to COVID-19 Kristin Purnama Dewi, Ivana Purnama Dewi, Iswanto Iswanto, Erika Marfiani, Muhammad Amin; Surabaya, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

136 Roles of angiotensin II, Olmesartan and PD123319 on proliferation, oxidative stress and TGF-β1 in HUVEC culture

Zehra Çiçek, Kübra Akıllıoğlu, Ayşe Şebnem İlhan; Ankara, Adana, Türkiye

- 144 Clinical findings and molecular diagnosis in children with Bardet-Biedl Syndrome in Türkiye: Identification of novel variants Özlem Akgün Doğan, Nihat Buğra Ağaoğlu; Istanbul, Türkiye
- **152** Evaluation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in obese individuals Gülşah Kaner, Neriman İnanç, Eda Başmısırlı, Kürşad Ünlühizarcı; Izmir, Kayseri, Türkiye
- **159** Geographical prevalence of dens invaginatus in the upper lateral teeth of young adult Turkish men

Elif Aybala Oktay, Serpil Karaoğlanoğlu, Numan Aydın, Akın Alper, Bilge Ersöz; Ankara, Izmir, Türkiye

- **164** Clinical outcomes and feasibility of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in elderly patients Ahmet Burak Çiftei, Sönmez Ocak, Ahmet Can Sarı; Samsun, Türkiye
- **169** Evaluation of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on pain, stress, sleep and quality of life in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain Elzem Bolkan Günaydın, Mustafa Çağrı Öcalan, Aslıhan Uzunkulaoğlu, Saime Ay; Ankara, Türkiye
- **178** Factors associated with treatment outcome of tuberculosis in Bale Robe General Hospital, Southeastern Ethiopia: A retrospective study Addisu Assefa Tadesse, Yeshumnesh Belete Gebrewold, Helmut Kloos; Ethiopia, Africa; San Francisco, USA
- 189 Low serum zinc and total antioxidant capacity levels in individuals with premenstrual syndrome Tušba Kücükkasan Cömert Duvgu Ağagündüz Özlem Muslu Avlin Güclü Hülva Zengin Bedive Öztas Sülevma

Tuğba Küçükkasap Cömert, Duygu Ağagündüz, Özlem Muşlu, Aylin Güçlü, Hülya Zengin, Bediye Öztaş, Süleyman Akarsu; Ankara, Türkiye

CASE REPORTS

- **197** Multiple rare neoplasms arising from the nevus sebaceous of the scalp: A case report Deepthi Shetty, Anilkumar Desai, Niranjan Kumar, Dinesh U.S., Aditya Agnihotri, Saurav Bhaduri; Dharwad, India
- 201 Treatment of pediatric patients with Down syndrome, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, and hepatitis C infection by direct-acting antivirals Ayberk Selek, Melike Arslan, Orhan Gürsel, Necati Balamtekin; Ankara, Türkiye
- 204 Diagnosis and treatment of constrictive pericarditis: From chest X-ray to pericardiectomy or antiinflammatory therapy

Serkan Asil, Selen Eski, Ender Murat, Murat Çelik, Hasan Kutsi Kabul; Ankara, Türkiye

Gülhane Tıp Dergisi

Message from the Editor-in-Chief

Message from the Editor-in-Chief,

In the second issue of 2022, we have prepared interesting original articles, review articles, and case reports for our readers. As the journal's publishing team, we tried to cover a wide range of articles from different disciplines.

I would like to express my gratitude to all submitting authors, reviewers, and editors for their contributions.

Prof. Dr. M. Ali Gülçelik Editor-in-Chief



Use of high flow nasal cannula as a modality of acute respiratory failure due to COVID-19

Kristin Purnama Dewi^{1,2}
 Ivana Purnama Dewi^{2,4}
 Iswanto Iswanto²
 Erika Marfiani³
 Muhammad Amin¹

¹Airlangga University Faculty of Medicine; Dr. Soetomo General Hospital, Department of Pulmonology and Respiratory Medicine, Surabaya, Indonesia

²Duta Wacana Christian University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pulmonary and Respiratory Medicine, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

³Airlangga University Faculty of Medicine; Dr. Soetomo General Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Surabaya, Indonesia

⁴Airlangga University Faculty of Medicine; Dr. Soetomo General Hospital, Department of Cardiology and Vascular, Surabaya, Indonesia

Date submitted: 28.04.2021

Date accepted: 13.06.2021

Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Kristin Purnama Dewi MD, Airlangga University Faculty of Medicine; Dr. Soetomo General Hospital, Department of Pulmonology and Respiratory Medicine, Surabaya, Indonesia kristin purnama d@yahoo.co.id

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9328-6690

Keywords: High-flow nasal cannula, HFNC, COVID-19, acute respiratory distress

ABSTRACT

Oxygen (O_2) therapy is the first-line therapy for acute respiratory distress with hypoxemia due to Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19). High-flow nasal cannula (HFNC) therapy represents one of the O_2 therapy alternative modalities. HFNC is a supportive O_2 therapy device using a specially designed HFNC warmed and moisturizer, resulting in a stable flow rate. The physiological mechanisms of HFNC make its efficacy better than other O_2 therapy applications. Management of COVID-19 focuses on preventing disease worsening, and HFNC can optimize the outcome of therapy. Further studies are necessary to evaluate the benefits of HFNC in hypoxemia management. It is also important to clarify its contraindications and factors associated with HFNC failure.

Introduction

Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious disease caused by Severe acute respiratory syndrome-Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2). SARS-CoV-2 is a new type of coronavirus identified in humans, first reported in Wuhan, China, on December 31st, 2019. COVID-19 has spread to various

parts of the world, and on March 11th, 2020, WHO declared a COVID-19 pandemic (1,2).

A preliminary report from the Chinese Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated that most confirmed cases of SARS-CoV-2 infection were 81% mild-moderate, 14% severe, and 5% in critical condition (3). Severe SARS-CoV-2 infection is a critical condition for the occurrence of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and even respiratory failure (4).

Patients with COVID-19 who are accompanied by pneumonia have respiratory problems hindering the maintenance of O_2 needs. Respiratory disorders can range from respiratory distress to respiratory failure. Respiratory distress is the increase and worsening of breathing effort. Respiratory failure is a disorder of one or more respiratory functions and is a life-threatening condition. COVID-19 patients will experience respiratory failure in severe and critical conditions (2).

 O_2 therapy is the first-line therapy for respiratory distress with hypoxemia due to COVID-19. The method for providing O_2 therapy varies and must follow the severity of the disease (2). The goal of O_2 therapy is to maintain O_2 (SpO₂) saturation >90% (2). High flow nasal cannula (HFNC) is a modality for O_2 therapy in COVID-19 with mild to moderate ARDS. HFNC is an option to treat hypoxia (2). The most important rational approach to O_2 therapy with HFNC in respiratory distress patients with hypoxemia is to treat hypoxia as soon as possible to reduce the risk of intubation. However, HFNC therapy requires close monitoring, and if there is no improvement, an immediate switch to another therapeutic modality is needed, such as intubation with mechanical ventilation.

Differences between O_2 support with low flow and high flow nasal cannulas

 O_2 support therapy is an intervention used by clinicians in acute hypoxia treatment. One of the supportive O_2 therapies is the use of a conventional low flow nasal cannula (LFNC). However, LFNC is only effective in providing O_2 support with a flow rate of 4-6 liters/minute or equivalent to the inspired oxygen fraction (FiO₂) of 37-45% (5). Furthermore, LFNC can cause dryness and irritation in the nasal mucosa, increasing the potential for bleeding during long-term use (5). Additionally, there are limitations to O_2 support with LFNC as it depends on the diameter of the nasal cannula used and the adult size is 6.1 mm (5). Furthermore, LFNC is an open O_2 supplementation approach with a high rate of gas leakage and delusions of O_2 , limiting its efficacy (6).

Respiratory disorders require external support to provide O_2 and excrete CO_2 effectively. Additionally, a device that allows comfort, long-term tolerability, and oral nutrition while providing effective oxygenation and reducing the breathing work. This need has enabled experts to find a device named HFNC (7). HFNC therapy is an O_2 supplementation that can deliver O_2 warmed and humidified up to 100% with a flow rate of up to 60 liters/minute (7). The flow control ability of FiO₂ is greater than that of LFNC (5,6)

High flow nasal cannula structure and settings

The high flow O_2 therapy requires a specially designed cannula that is warmed and moisturized, resulting in a stable flow

rate (8). HFNC fulfills inspiration needs by providing an air- O_2 mixture warmed to 37 °C with a relative humidity of 100% and can deliver 21-100% FiO₂ with a flow rate of up to 60-70 liters/ minute (9). The flow rate and FiO₂ can be titrated independently based on patient needs (9).

HFNC has three essential components (7). First, an airflow generator produces flow rates of up to 60-70 liters/minute. Second, the O_2 -air blender increases the control of Fi O_2 regulation from 21 to 100%. Third, the humidifier sets an absolute humidity of 44 mmH₂O/liter and a heater sets the temperature between 35-37 °C (Figure 1). Also, the system includes a non-condensing water reservoir, a circuit system, and a special nasal cannula. The adult-sized cannula is 7.2 mm (8,10).

There are two main settings in HFNC, flow rates, and FiO₂. Flow rates can be set between 30 and 70 liters/minute (7). HFNC can provide air-O₂ mixtures with FiO₂ from 21% to almost 100% (7). Renda et al. (11), recommend the following practical settings for HFNC in Table 1.

Physiological effects of high flow nasal cannula

HFNC has several advantages over conventional O_2 treatments (12). O_2 therapy with HFNC has five physiological mechanisms that make the efficacy of HFNC better than other O_2 therapy supports, including;

- 1. CO₂ washout in the physiological death space,
- 2. Lowering the respiratory rate,
- 3. There is a positive final expiratory pressure (PEEP),
- 4. Increase tidal volume,
- 5. Increase the final expiratory lung volume (EELV) (8).

Anatomical dead space accounts for about one-third of the tidal volume of the breath (2). When ventilation is ineffective, there is CO_2 accumulation and retention in the anatomical dead space during inspiration. So that this condition can decrease O_2 diffusion in the alveoli (2).

High FiO₂ in HFNC increases the volume of gas in the alveoli more than the patient's volume ventilated physiologically (10). Increased ventilation allows washout or elimination of CO_2 with excess O_2 and can also increase mucus clearance in the airways (8). This results in creating a more significant O_2 diffusion gradient, potentially increasing oxygenation (8). HFNC could eliminate the residual volume of CO_2 in the upper airway and replace it with O_2 -rich gas quickly and effectively (13).

HFNC reduces airway resistance in the nasopharynx and improves ventilation and oxygenation through positive pressure (7). Physiologically, the nasopharynx is a dynamic area that allows expansion or constriction of the airway. HFNC creates a positive pressure area, pressing the interior of the nasopharynx outward, thus causing dilation of the nasopharyngeal diameter and reducing airway resistance (7). Reduced airway resistance increases the potential for ventilation and oxygenation. Additionally, HFNC creates positive alveolar pressure at the end of expiration to reduce the respiratory rate and the distribution of alveolar ventilation to be homogeneous throughout the lung region and improve tidal volume (11).

HFNC can also increase EELV (14). An increase in EELV indicates a positive alveolar PEEP. As a result, the PEEP in the lower airway increases (14). Positive pressure causes an increase in the alveolar surface area, so it does not collapse because of the increased pressure on the surface during expiration (14). Therefore, the ventilation process is improved and gas diffusion becomes more effective, resulting in better oxygenation. However, one thing that must be considered when

using HFNC is that mouth must be closed to get optimal PEEP (15). The estimated amount of PEEP produced with the mouth closed at 1 cm H_2O at a 10 liters flow (15,16). It is a difficult challenge for patients to cover their mouths when experiencing respiratory distress (15).

The high flow nasal cannula mechanism in the treatment of respiratory distress

Administration of O_2 therapy with HFNC has a favorable mechanism for overcoming respiratory distress with hypoxemia (17);

1. High FiO_2 gas flow encourages the release of CO_2 gas in the anatomical dead space,



Figure 1. High flow nasal cannula components

Table 1. Recommended	HFNC settings (11)
Prongs	Prongs should not totally occlude nostrils
Flow rate	Start at 30-40 liters min-1 and increase to meet the patient's demand
Temperature	Set at 37 °C
FiO ₂	Increase the FiO ₂ until satisfactory SaO ₂ is achieved
Flow	Increase the delivered flow until a reduction in respiratory rate and stable SaO ₂ are achieved
Water reservoir	Place as high as possible above the humidifier
Monitoring	Continuous monitoring of heart rate, respiratory rate, SaO ₂
Positive response and	Gas flow rate and FiO ₂ adjusted according to the clinical response (expected within 1 h).
weaning	Reduce FiO, by 5-10, and reassess after 1-2 h. Reduce the flow rate by 5 liters min-1 and reassess after
	1-2 h.
	Consider weaning from HFNC with flow rates of 25 liters min-1 and FiO ₂ <0.40.
Ineffective response	If there is no improvement after 60-120 min, treatment escalation must be considered.
HFNC: High flow nasal cannula	, FiO ₂ : Inspired oxygen fraction

2. The high flow of $\mathrm{FiO}_{_{2}}$ gas in the alveolar increases lung volume,

3. Gas flow warmed to 37 $^{\rm o}{\rm C}$ and humidified by 100% can maintain mucociliary function for a good cleaning function,

4. The use of HFNC can reduce the airway resistance,

5. HFNC, in general, increases patient comfort compared to conventional O_2 or non-invasive positive pressure ventilation.

Clinical applications and indications for $\rm O_{2}$ therapy with HFNC

The following are some clinical conditions and indications for the use O_2 therapy with HFNC (7,10);

1. Acute hypoxemic respiratory failure,

2. Hypercapnic respiratory failure (e.g., chronic obstructive pulmonary disease),

3. Impaired respiration due to acute heart failure/pulmonary edema,

4. Impaired respiration due to immune disorders,

5. Impaired pre-intubation and post-extubation respiration,

6. ARDS in COVID-19,

7. Patients who cannot be intubated,

8. Reducing suffering in patients at the end of life.

HFNC can be used effectively in moderate hypoxemic acute respiratory failure. Hypoxemic acute respiratory failure results from intrapulmonary shunt due to collapsed alveoli (7). It is refractory to O_2 supplementation (18). Increased alveolar-capillary hydrostatic pressure and permeability cause the alveoli to fill with blood due to bleeding and/or fluid in inflammatory conditions such as pneumonia (18).

 O_2 therapy is essential, but it has maximum-positive benefits and potentially toxic effects. Increased levels of hyperoxiainduced reactive O_2 species (ROS) have an impact on the surrounding biological tissues. Increased levels of ROS cause hyperpermeability, coagulopathy, and collagen deposition within the alveolar space (19). In hyperoxia, multiple signaling pathways determine the pulmonary cellular response, including apoptosis, necrosis, and repair (19). Therefore, it is crucial to prevent alveolar damage caused by hyperoxia in patients requiring HFNC (19).

Contraindications to using O₂ therapy with HFNC

Contraindications to O_2 therapy with HFNC are divided into absolute and relative contraindications (2,10);

A. Absolute contraindications

- 1. Decrease in consciousness,
- 2. Cardiac arrest,
- 3. Respiratory arrest,
- 4. Conditions requiring emergency actions.

- B. Relative contraindications
- 1. Cardiogenic shock,
- 2. Gastrointestinal bleeding,
- 3. Status epilepticus,
- 4. Airway obstruction (e.g., a large tumor pressing the airway),
- 5. Anaphylaxis that causes airway disorders.

Evaluation of therapy with HFNC

HFNC requires periodic evaluations to determine whether the patient is experiencing improvement or worsening. If HFNC is not closely monitored, it can result in delayed intubation. The criteria of HFNC evaluation (20):

1. $PaO_2 < 60 \text{ mmHg}$ and O_2 saturation <90%, with an HFNC flow rate of 30 liters/minute and FiO₂ of 1.0,

2. Respiratory acidosis with a pH <7.25 and pCO $_{\rm 2}{\rm >}$ 50 mmHg,

3. Respiratory rate >30 times/minute (tachypnea) or unable to produce phlegm,

4. Increased thoraco-abdominal breathing occurring 15-30 minutes after the start of HFNC.

If there are two of the four criteria above, the respiratory condition is expected to worsen (20). The doctor must immediately switch HFNC to intubation with mechanical ventilation.

Respiratory rate and oxygenation (ROX) index

The ROX index, defined as the ratio of SpO_2/FIO_2 to respiratory rate is used to assess as a predictor of the need to intubate in patients who received HFNC O_2 therapy (21,22). ROX index can assess the success of using HFNC in COVID-19 patients with ARDS. The ROX index is used, with the following formula (23);

ROX Index=
$$\frac{(SpO_2 / FiO_2)}{(\text{Respiration Rate})}$$

HFNC therapy is started at O_2 30-40 liters/minute, which can be increased according to the patient's need (4). The flow of O_2 increases until the inhalation rate decreases and a stable SaO₂ reach. In acute respiratory failure, up to 100% FiO₂ can be administered (21,22). The flow rate and FiO₂ can be adjusted according to the patient's clinical response (4).

After 1 h of HFNC, an evaluation should be performed if the patient shows clinical improvement and meets good ventilation criteria (24). Ventilation is accepted sufficient if the ROX index is \geq 4.88 at 2, 6, and 12 h (25,26). This indicates that the patient does not need invasive ventilation. However, ROX index <3.85 indicates a failure to use HFNC and the patient is considered at high risk of immediate intubation (25,26). If the ROX index is between 3.85 and <4.88, scoring must be repeated every 1 to 2 h (Figure 2) (4,25,26).

Weaning off HFNC therapy

Weaning off HFNC can be started when the patient's condition is improved. Weaning is started by lowering the FiO_2 by 5-10% and re-evaluating it every 1-2 hours (11). If $FiO_2 < 0.4$, the flow rate can be reduced by 5 liters/minute. HFNC can be removed when the flow rate reaches ≤ 25 liters/minute and $FiO_2 < 0.4$ (11).

HFNC therapy in COVID-19

COVID-19 in critical condition with ARDS requires treatment in the intensive care unit (ICU). There are two types of respiratory failure; hypoxemic respiratory failure (type 1) and hypercapnic respiratory failure (type 2) (27). Type 1 respiratory failure occurs if the partial arterial O_2 pressure (Pa O_2) is ≤ 60 mmHg in room air, and type 2 respiratory failure occurs when the partial arterial CO_2 pressure (Pa CO_2) is ≥ 50 mmHg. COVID-19 cases with respiratory failure using a ventilator have a mortality of up to 80% (2,25).

COVID-19 with ARDS or respiratory failure requires supportive O_2 therapy. In this modern era, the choice of noninvasive O_2 support is the modality of choice using HFNC (17). O_2 support with HFNC can be administered to treat mild to moderate ARDS. The management of COVID-19 focuses on efforts to prevent the disease from worsening. Therefore, treatment management needs to be planned immediately to optimize the outcome of therapy. There are three essential steps in preventing disease worsening (2,25);

1. HFNC is preferred over non-invasive mechanical ventilation (NIV) in patients with ARDS,

2. Restricted fluid resuscitation, especially in patients with pulmonary edema,

3. Positioning the conscious patient in the prone position,

The European Respiratory Society provides recommendations for the use of HFNC in COVID-19 patients as follows (25,27):

1. In adults with COVID-19 and acute hypoxemic respiratory failure, HFNC is superior to conventional O_2 therapy (weak recommendation, low-quality evidence).

2. In adults with COVID-19 and acute hypoxemic respiratory failure, HFNC is superior to NIPPV (weak recommendation, lowquality evidence).

3. In adults with COVID-19 who receive NIPPV or HFNC, close monitoring of worsening respiratory status to make the decision of early intubation (best practice statement).

A study by Xu et al. (28) reported COVID-19 patient with a P/F ratio ≤300 who was in the prone position early for more than 16 hours and combined with HFNC therapy have no worsening or received invasive ventilation and survived completely. This study also showed that HFNC could reduce the rate of endotracheal intubation in patients with respiratory failure. Additionally, the prone position can correct the ventilation-perfusion mismatch and open the airway, reducing pulmonary atelectasis with adequate sputum drainage (28).

The prone position combined with HFNC requires a patient with good mental status, communication, and stable hemodynamics (Figure 3). The patient should be briefed on the prone position maneuvers and ensure adequate HFNC placement. The vital and clinical signs are monitored during the prone position (28,29).



Figure 2. Evaluation of HFNC with the ROX index

HFNC: High flow nasal cannula, ROX: Respiratory rate and oxygenation

Advantages and limitations of HFNC in COVID-19 patients

The advantages of HFNC include ease of setup and use, such as the use of nasal prongs for patients. The low risk of skin irritation because of high O_2 flow makes the mucosa dry, but HFNC can keep nasal mucosa humidity. Patients can still eat, drink and communicate without removing the HFNC, facilitating the performance of medical personnel, and reducing the time spent on nasal tightness. Additionally, it is more stable and does not remove the equipment that triggers aerosols (30,31).

Like many other medical interventions, there are limitations and drawbacks to HFNC. One of the main drawbacks is the higher maintenance cost, the complexity of the HFNC device, training requirement, risk of gas leakage, and loss of positive pressure effects on the improper airway seal (7,10). Another limitation is the potential for delaying intubation and endof-life decisions in patients with decreased consciousness, facial injuries, excessive secretions increasing the risk of aspiration, and hemodynamic instability (7,10). Additionally, the disadvantages of HFNC include that the sound of a loud instrument makes noise, patient's activities become limited, and complaints of altered smell in rare cases (20).

Aerosol effects and safety of HFNC

HFNC might increase some concerns about the risk of virus transmission. A study by Whittle et al. (32), is measuring



- Gravitational pressure of mediastinum & heart on the lungs
- Expansion of the chest wall & overall less homogenous chest wall compliance



Compressive effect of the abdominal organ on the lungs

the spread of aerosols on various breathing devices. Aerosol dispersion distances for nasal cannula range 3-40 cm, simple mask at all flows ≈ 30 cm, ventury mask range 33-40 cm, NRM at all flows <10 cm, HFNC ranges 4.8-17 cm, NIPPV ranges 85-95 cm, and nebulizers <80 cm (32). However, recent practice recommendations for COVID-19 patients indicate using a medical mask over the HFNC device to limit the particle dispersion due to exhaled gas flow (33). Whittle et al. (32) recommended that the use of HFNC in COVID-19 should be applied cautiously and that adequate personal protective equipment (PPE) and protective measures for healthcare workers should be provided. The Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society (ANZICS) guidelines on COVID-19 state that HFNC therapy in the ICU is the recommended therapy for hypoxia associated with COVID-19, as long as the staff wears PPE (34). The risk of airborne transmission to healthcare workers is low with optimal use of PPE and good infection control precautions (34). The use of a negative pressure room is recommended for patients receiving HFNC therapy (34,35).

Conclusion

HFNC has many advantages in COVID-19 patients. It gives warm and moisturize O_2 to increase the patient's comfort. It also reduces the need for inspiration, increases the functional residual capacity, reduces the dilution of O_2 -air, and can wash out CO_2 in the anatomical dead space. An initial assessment

Prone Position



- Decreased gravitational pressure of mediastinum & heart on the lungs
 More homogenous chest wall compliance
- due to restriction anterior wall movement



Decreased compressive effect of the abdominal organ on the lungs

Figure 3. Comparison of the physiological effects of the supine and prone positions

is critical for the success of HFNC therapy. The ROX index can be used to predict the success or failure of HFNC therapy. Supportive O_2 therapy with HFNC is among the modalities for COVID-19 patients, having advantages over other conventional O_2 therapies. However, further studies are necessary to evaluate the benefit of HFNC in hypoxemia management. HFNC can be used in the ICU, operating room, emergency room, and ordinary wards. However, the use of HFNC in COVID-19 patients is recommended in rooms with negative pressure to minimize the risk of aerosol transmission.

Ethics

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: K.P.D., E.M., Concept: K.P.D., I.I., M.A., Design: K.P.D., E.M., Data Collection or Processing: K.P.D., Literature Search: K.P.D., I.P.D., Writing: K.P.D., I.P.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- WHO. Report of the WHO China Joint Mission on Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). 2020. Available from: https://www. who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/who-china-jointmission-on-covid-19---final-report-1100hr-28feb2020-11marupdate.pdf?sfvrsn=1a13fda0_2&download=true
- 2. PDPI. Pneumonia COVID-19 Diagnosis & Penatalaksanaan di Indonesia. 2020;1-67.
- CDC. Severe Outcomes Among Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) — United States, February 12 March 16, 2020. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/ volumes/69/wr/mm6912e2.htm.
- Roca O, Caralt B, Messika J, et al. An Index Combining Respiratory Rate and Oxygenation to Predict Outcome of Nasal High-Flow Therapy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;199:1368-1376.
- Wettstein RB, Shelledy DC, Peters JI. Delivered oxygen concentrations using low-flow and high-flow nasal cannulas. Respir Care. 2005;50:604-609.
- Segovia B, Velasco D, Jaureguizar OA, Díaz Lobato S. Combination Therapy in Patients with Acute Respiratory Failure: High-Flow Nasal Cannula and Non-Invasive Mechanical ventilation. Arch Bronconeumol (Engl Ed). 2019;55:166-167.
- Sharma S, Danckers M, Sanghavi D, Chakraborty RK. High flow nasal cannula. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. 2021.
- De Jong A, Calvet L, Lemiale V, et al. The challenge of avoiding intubation in immunocompromised patients with acute respiratory failure. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2018;12:867-880.

- 9. Mauri T, Galazzi A, Binda F, et al. Impact of flow and temperature on patient comfort during respiratory support by high-flow nasal cannula. Crit Care. 2018;22:120.
- 10. Nishimura M. High-flow nasal cannula oxygen therapy in adults. J Intensive Care. 2015;3:15.
- Renda T, Corrado A, Iskandar G, Pelaia G, Abdalla K, Navalesi P. High-flow nasal oxygen therapy in intensive care and anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2018;120:18-27.
- Zhang J, Lin L, Pan K, Zhou J, Huang X. High-flow nasal cannula therapy for adult patients. J Int Med Res. 2016;44:1200-1211.
- Thille AW, Muller G, Gacouin A, et al. Effect of postextubation high-flow nasal oxygen with noninvasive ventilation vs highflow nasal oxygen alone on reintubation among patients at high risk of extubation failure: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2019;322:1465-1475.
- 14. Adhikari P, Bhattarai S, Gupta A, et al. Physiological Effects of High-Flow Nasal Cannula Therapy and Its Use in Acute Cardiogenic Pulmonary Edema. Cureus. 2021;13:e13372.
- Parke RL, Bloch A, McGuinness SP. Effect of very-high-flow nasal therapy on airway pressure and end-expiratory lung impedance in healthy volunteers. Respir Care. 2015;60:1397-1403.
- Luo JC, Lu MS, Zhao ZH, et al. Positive end-expiratory pressure effect of 3 high-flow nasal cannula devices. Respir Care. 2017;62:888-895.
- Goligher EC, Slutsky AS. Not just oxygen? mechanisms of benefit from high-flow nasal cannula in hypoxemic respiratory failure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017;195:1128-1131.
- Gonzales JN, Lucas R, Verin AD. The Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: Mechanisms and Perspective Therapeutic Approaches. Austin J Vasc Med. 2015;2:1009.
- Mach WJ, Thimmesch AR, Pierce JT, Pierce JD. Consequences of hyperoxia and the toxicity of oxygen in the lung. Nurs Res Pract. 2011;2011:260482.
- Xing D, Chen YH, Wang L, Yu B, Ran Z, Chen L. Evaluation of the therapeutic effect of high-flow nasal cannula oxygen therapy on patients with aspiration pneumonia accompanied by respiratory failure in the post-stroke sequelae stage. BMC Pulm Med. 2021;21:17.
- Cysneiros A, Organista D, Machado D, et al. Using the Rox index for Nasal High Flow therapy in patients with interstitial lung disease and severe acute respiratory failure. Eur Resp J. 2020;56:3446.
- 22. Hill NS, Ruthazer R. Predicting outcomes of high-flow nasal cannula for acute respiratory distress syndrome. An index that ROX. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019;199:1300-1302.
- 23. Francis J. ROX Index. Available from: https://johnsonfrancis. org/professional/rox-index/
- Rorat M, Szymański W, Jurek T, Karczewski M, Zelig J, Simon K. When Conventional Oxygen Therapy Fails-The Effectiveness of High-Flow Nasal Oxygen Therapy in Patients with Respiratory Failure in the Course of COVID-19. J Clin Med. 2021;10(20):4751.
- 25. PDPI, PERKI, PAPDI, PERDATIN, IDAI. Pedoman Tatalaksana Covid-19 Edisi 3. 2020;1-149.

- Ricard JD, Roca O, Lemiale V, et al. Use of nasal high flow oxygen during acute respiratory failure. Intensive Care Med. 2020;46:2238-2247.
- 27. Oczkowski S, Ergan B, Bos L, et al. ERS Clinical Practice Guidelines: High-flow nasal cannula in acute respiratory failure. Eur Resp J. 2021; in press.
- 28. Xu Q, Wang T, Qin X, Jie Y, Zha L, Lu W. Early awake prone position combined with high-flow nasal oxygen therapy in severe COVID-19: a case series. Crit Care. 2020;24:250.
- Venus K, Munshi L, Fralick M. Prone positioning for patients with hypoxic respiratory failure related to COVID-19. CMAJ. 2020;192:1532-1537.
- Elshof J, Hebbink RHJ, Duiverman ML, Hagmeijer R. Highflow nasal cannula for COVID-19 patients: risk of bio-aerosol dispersion. Eur Respir J. 2020;56:2003004.
- 31. CDC. Interim Infection Prevention and Control Recommendations for Patients with Suspected or Confirmed

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Healthcare Settings. 2020. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/healthcare-facilities/dialysis.html.

- Whittle JS, Pavlov I, Sacchetti AD, Atwood C, Rosenberg MS. Respiratory support for adult patients with COVID-19. J Am Coll Emerg Physicians Open. 2020;1:95-101.
- WHO. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection when novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infection is suspected: Interim Guidance. 2020. Available from: https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330893.
- 34. ANZICS. The Australian and New Zealand Intensive Care Society (ANZICS) COVID-19 Guidelines. 2020. Available from: https://www.anzics.com.au/coronavirus/
- Hamada S, Tanabe N, Inoue H, Hirai T. Wearing of medical mask over the high-flow nasal cannula for safer oxygen therapy in the COVID-19 era. Pulmonology. 2021;27:171-173.



DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.1461 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:136-43

Roles of angiotensin II, Olmesartan and PD123319 on proliferation, oxidative stress and TGF-β1 in HUVEC culture

D Zehra Çiçek¹, D Kübra Akıllıoğlu², D Ayşe Şebnem İlhan³

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Ankara, Türkiye

²Cukurova University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Adana, Türkiye

³University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Dental Medicine, Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 15.10.2020 Date accepted: 22.02.2021 Online publication date: 15.03.2022

Corresponding Author:

Zehra Çiçek, M.D., Lecturer, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Ankara, Türkiye +90 544 598 04 42 dr.zehra_cicek@hotmail.com, zehra.cicek@sbu.edu.tr

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3205-5463

Keywords: Angiotensin II, endothelium, HUVECs, oxidative stress

ABSTRACT

Aims: Angiotensin II (Ang II) causes endothelial cell damage. Oxidative stress is involved in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular diseases via transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF- β 1). In most studies increases in Ang II and TGF- β 1 levels in several cell types are bidirectional. The present study investigated the effects of Ang II on oxidative stress, cell proliferation, and TGF- β 1 levels in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs).

Methods: HUVECs were treated with Ang II (0.1 μ M), Ang II type 1 receptor (ATR1) antagonist Olmesartan (1 μ M), and Ang II type 2 receptors (ATR2) antagonist PD123319 (1 μ M) for 24 hours. Cell proliferation and viability were evaluated by the tetrazolium salt (MTT) assay. Total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and total oxidant capacity (TOC) were measured by spectrophotometer intracellularly and in the culture medium. The TGF- β 1 level was measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).

Results: The addition of 1 μ M, 0.1 μ M, and 0.01 μ M Ang II increased proliferation in HUVECs. Cell proliferation increased significantly in both Ang II and Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319 groups. However, Ang II+OImesartan tended to decrease cell proliferation. In the control group TAC and TOC levels remained in the normal range in HUVEC extracts. In other all groups, TOC values increased compared to control. In HUVECs medium, TAC level was higher in the control, Ang II and Ang II+OImesartan groups, but normal and tolerable in other groups whereas, TOC levels were elevated in control and other all groups. In HUVECs extracts, compared with the control, TGF- β 1 level was significantly lower in the Ang II group, but increased in the Ang II+OImesartan groups.

Conclusions: Ang II shows its proliferative effects through ATR1 activation, whereas stimulation of ATR2 seems to have a key role in the pathophysiology of oxidative stress.

Introduction

Endothelial cells lay the inner surface of all blood vessels as a single layer, and play an important role in the regulation of vascular homeostasis (1). The resting endothelial cells prevent thrombus formation in the blood-tissue interface and play a crucial role in the regulation of inflammation (2). They are also involved in the growth and proliferation of various cell types, especially the smooth muscle cells (3). Endothelial dysfunction is associated with adverse clinical outcomes since vascular wall injury is responsible for vascular diseases (4). Smooth muscle cell proliferation and matrix synthesis can lead to damaged vessel wall repair, but can also cause occlusion in the same lumen (5).

Angiotensin II (Ang II), the main effector molecule of the Renin-Angiotensin System, has physiological and pathological effects on the cardiovascular system (6). Ang II affects the vascular system via Ang II type 1 (ATR1) and type 2 receptors (ATR2) (7). It activates the phospholipase C enzyme by binding

[®]Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

to ATR1s (7,8). However, previous studies have reported that the vascular effects of Ang II may be related to the balance between ATR1-mediated nitric oxide (NO) function and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (8). ROS play role in the physiopathology of many diseases, including hypertension, diabetes and their long-term chronic complications (9).

It has been reported that oxidative stress occurs due to an imbalance in the production of reactive oxygen derivatives and antioxidant systems (10). Free radicals or ROS are the metabolic products that are formed by oxygen spent during the conversion of energy from nutrients in the body (11). Oxidative stress increases the proliferation of vascular cells and accelerates plaque formation (12). Besides, with increasing levels of ROS, organelle damage (e.g., mitochondria), DNA damage, and other disorders including wrong folding of proteins occur (13).

Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) is a cytokine with many subtypes that has regulatory and physiological effects on cells (14). The role of TGF- β on cell growth, development, proliferation, extracellular matrix synthesis, immune system modulation, apoptosis, cell cycle, migration, and angiogenesis was also reported (15). TGF- β inhibits cell proliferation in some cell types (endothelial, epithelium, immune cells) depending on the environment in which it lives (16). TGF- β has also been shown to play a role in the transformation of mesenchymal cells into endothelial cells. TGF- β has many subtypes, including TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 3 (16).

Some *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies found that Ang II increases TGF- β 1 levels in several cells and they have a relation with each other (17,18). It has also been reported that Ang II and TGF- β subtypes play significant roles in the pathophysiology of many cardiovascular diseases. For instance, oxidative stress and TGF- β 1 are important in the pathophysiology of hypertension (19,20). Various drugs such as Angiotensin Converting Enzyme and Ang II type 1 receptor blockers that inhibit RAS components are used in the treatment of many RAS-related cardiovascular diseases (6). Considering the information given above, we investigated the effects of Ang II, and its blockage with Olmesartan and PD123319 on proliferation, total antioxidant capacity (TAC), total oxidant capacity (TOC), and TGF- β 1 levels in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs).

Methods

Cell culture and treatments

HUVEC culture line was obtained from ATCC, USA. The cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, D6046, Sigma-Aldrich) with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific), penicillin-streptomycin (PSA, P4333-100 mL, Sigma-Aldrich) at 37 °C in humid air with 5% CO₂. The culture medium was replaced every 72 h. The cells were obtained by passaging for the proliferation and were

incubated with different doses of Ang II, ([Val5]-Ang II acetate salt hydrate, A2900-50 mg, Sigma-Aldrich, 1000, 100, 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01, and 0.001 μ M), ATR1 blocker Olmesartan (Olmesartan, SML1394-50 mg, Sigma-Aldrich, 1 μ M) and ATR2 blocker PD123319 (PD123319 di (trifluoroacetate) salt hydrate, P186-10 mg, Sigma-Aldrich, 1 μ M) for 24 h. Chemicals were dissolved in a cell medium (DMEM+10% FBS+1% PSA). Cell proliferation, TAC, TOC, and TGF- β 1 levels were measured in all groups.

Experimental groups were; 1: Control, 2: Ang II (0.1 μ M), 3: Olmesartan (1 μ M), 4: Ang II+Olmesartan, 5: PD123319 (1 μ M), 6: Ang II+PD123319, 7: Olmesartan+PD123319, 8: Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319.

Evaluation of cell proliferation

Cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and viability were evaluated using a tetrazolium salt (MTT) assay. It is based on the measurement of cell metabolic activity. Briefly, HUVECs were plated in a 96-well plate with $5x10^3-1x10^4$ cells in each well. Cells were incubated for 24 h at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ environment with Ang II, Olmesartan, and PD123319. The cell medium was changed and 100 uL fresh medium was added. After adding 10 µL MTT (5 mg/mL, Thiazolyl Blue Tetrazolium Bromide, M5655-1G, Sigma-Aldrich) solution to each well, the cells were incubated for 3-4 h. Then the solution was replaced with 100 µL DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide, EMPLURA, Merck, M116743100) and incubated again for an additional 20-30 min. The pale yellow MTT dye was formed. The average absorbance for each group was calculated using a microplate reader (A570 nm-A630 nm, Molecular Devices Filter Max F5) (21).

Preparation of cell and medium extract

The cells were seeded in six-well culture plates following trypsinization. After waiting for 24-72 h. for cell proliferation, Ang II (0.1 μ M), Olmesartan (1 μ M), and PD123319 (1 μ M) were applied. After 24 h, cell and medium extraction were performed. Cell media were taken into falcon tubes and the supernatants were taken after centrifuging 200xg at +4 °C for 10 min. For cell extraction, 100 μ L 140 mM KCI solution was added to the wells, and the bottom of the wells was scraped. The cells were then broken down in the sonicator for a few minutes and centrifuged at 10.000xg for 15 min and supernatants were collected. Samples were kept at -80 °C until studied.

Lowry method

Standards and samples (50 μ L) were pipetted into 96well dishes and left at room temperature for 45 min. The C reagent (150 μ L) was added to the wells, which consists of a 100:1 mixture of A and B reagents. A reagent was 2% Na₂CO₃, 0.4% NaOH, 0.16% Na-tartrate; B reagent was 4% CuSO₄.5H₂O. Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent (3 μ L) was added to all tubes after incubation. The absorbance values of the samples and standards were measured using a spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 660 nm. The protein amount of each sample was obtained using BSA absorbances at the doses of 4, 2, 1, 0.5, 0.25, 0.125, 0.062, 0.031 and 0 mg/mL. The total amount of protein in cell extract and cell medium was calculated using the standard curve. The standard curve was created with bovine serum albumin absorbances and the total amount of protein in the cell extract and medium was calculated (22,23).

Biochemical analysis

TAC in cell and medium extracts was measured by Rel Assay commercial kit (Diagnostics Rel Assay Kit, Turkey). Results were expressed as mmol Trolox equivalent/L. TOC in cell and medium extracts was also measured by Rel Assay commercial kit (Diagnostics Rel Assay Kit, Turkey) and results were expressed as μ mol H₂O₂ equivalent/L. The oxidative stress index (OSI), which is expressed as the percentage of the ratio of TOC levels to TAC levels, was calculated and the results were expressed as "arbitrary unit" (24).

Measurement of TGF-β1 level

The levels of TGF- β 1 in the cell and medium supernatant were measured using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit (Invitrogen Immunoassay Kit/KAC1689, United States). The kit was used in accordance with the protocols specified. The plate was evaluated at 450 nm absorbance with a microplate reader (Molecular Devices Filter Max F5, USA).

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Statistics for Windows software, version 21.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). The results were expressed as mean±standard deviation. The normality of distribution was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Dunnett and Tukey tests were performed as ANOVA post-hoc after ensuring homogeneous distribution. The statistically significant level was <0.05.

Results

Total protein measurement

Measurements of total protein in HUVECs cell and medium supernatant are shown in Table 1.

Effects of Angiotensin II doses on HUVEC proliferation

HUVEC proliferation was expressed as absorbance (Figure 1). We examined the viability of HUVECs at the concentrations of 1000, 100, 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01, and 0.001 μ M of Ang II. Results showed that cell proliferation increased at concentrations of 1 μ M (14%, p=0.008), 0.1 μ M (14%, p=0.006), and 0.01 μ M (25%, p<0.001) compared to the control group.

Effects of Angiotensin II, Olmesartan, and PD123319 on HUVEC proliferation

Ang II 0.1 μ M administration increased cell proliferation by 12% compared to controls (p=0.006) (Figure 2). There was a decreasing trend (15%) in Ang II+Olmesartan group bu the difference was not significant. Compared with the Ang II+Olmesartan treated group, cell proliferation was significantly elevated in Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319 treated group (73%), (p<0.001).

TOC and TAC levels

Concerning the TAC level (mmol Trolox Equiv./L), the following instructions were provided by the manufacturer of the



Figure 1. Angiotensin II dose study in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The data are expressed as mean±standard deviation

*p<0.05 according to the control group. One-way ANOVA post-hoc Dunnett test (n=8-12) $\,$

Table 1. The total protein amount in cell	and medium extract		
Groups	Cell extract (mg/mL)	Cell medium (mg/mL)	
1. Control	1.71	4.90	
2. Ang II	2.71	5.15	
3. Olmesartan	3.56	5.06	
4. Ang II+Olmesartan	1.50	4.49	
5. PD123319	3.46	4.24	
6. Ang II+PD123319	2.37	6.22	
7. Olmesartan+PD123319	1.22	6.81	
8. Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319	1.35	6.17	
Ang II: Angiotensin II			

kit used in the analysis; >2.0 very good, 1.45 to 2.00 normal, 1.20 to 1.45 tolerable, 1.00 to 1.20 low, and <1.20 very low antioxidant level. Concerning the TOC level (μ mol H₂O₂ Equiv./L) the following instructions were provided; <5.00 very good, 8.00-5.00



Figure 2. Angiotensin II, Olmesartan, and PD123319 proliferation study in human umbilical vein endothelial cells culture. Data are expressed as mean±standard deviation

*p<0.05 according to the control group, #p<0.05 compared to Ang II+Olmesartan group. One-way ANOVA post-hoc Tukey test (n=8-16)

Ang II: Angiotensin II

Table 2. TOC, TAC, and OSI in HUVECs extracts

normal, 12.00-8.00 high, and >12.00 very high oxidant level. In our measurements, in the control group TAC (1.75 mmol Trolox Equiv./L) and TOC levels (7.2 µmol H_2O_2 Equiv./L) remained in the normal range in HUVEC extracts. In other HUVEC extracts groups (Ang II+OImesartan, OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319), TAC values were normal and tolerable (1.3-1.7 mmol Trolox Equiv./L) and Ang II, OImesartan, PD123319, and Ang II+PD123319 groups TAC values were higher (2.4-3.6 mmol Trolox Equiv./L). In cell extracts TOC values increased in Ang II, OImesartan, Ang II+OImesartan, PD123319, Ang II+PD123319, OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, and II+OImesartan, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Ang II+OImesartan+PD123319, Incompared to control (9.5-14.2 µmol H₂O₂ Equiv./L).

In the HUVECs medium, TAC levels were higher in the control (4.8 mmol Trolox Equiv./L), Ang II and Ang II+Olmesartan groups (2.8-2.86 mmol Trolox Equiv./L) but normal and tolerable in Olmesartan, PD123319, Ang II+PD123319, Olmesartan+PD123319 and Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319 medium groups (1.41-1.68 mmol Trolox Equiv./L). Whereas, TOC levels increased in control (11.4 µmol H_2O_2 Equiv./L) and other all groups in HUVECs medium groups (10.8-14.4 µmol H_2O_2 Equiv./L). TAC, TOC, and OSI (TOS/TAC) values measured in the samples obtained from HUVEC extract groups are shown in Table 2 and 3.

Table 2. TOC, TAC, and OST IN HOVECS ext	racts		
HUVEC groups (cell extracts)	TAC (mmol Trolox Equiv./L)	TOC (µmol H ₂ O ₂ Equiv./L)	OSI (arbitrary unit)
1. Control	1.75	7.2	4.11
2. Ang II	2.8	9.5	3.39
3. Olmesartan	3.6	10.2	2.83
4. Ang II+Olmesartan	1.7	13.3	7.82
5. PD123319	3.5	11.4	3.25
6. Ang II+PD123319	2.4	14.2	5.91
7. Olmesartan+PD123319	1.3	12.6	9.69
8. Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319	1.4	11.3	8.07

Equiv.: Equivalent, OSI: Oxidative stress index, TAC: Total antioxidant capacity, TOC: Total oxidant capacity, HUVECs: Human umbilical vein endothelial cells, Ang II: Angiotensin II

Table 3. TOC, TAC, and OSI in HUVECs me	dium extracts		
HUVECs groups (medium extract)	TAC (mmol Trolox Equiv./L)	TOC (µmol H ₂ O ₂ Equiv./L)	OSI (arbitrary unit)
1. Control	4.8	11.4	2.37
2. Ang II	2.8	10.8	3.85
3. Olmesartan	1.41	12.1	8.58
4. Ang II+Olmesartan	2.86	13.2	4.61
5. PD123319	1.53	11.9	7.77
6. Ang II+PD123319	1.33	14.4	10.82
7. Olmesartan+PD123319	1.42	12.6	8.87
8. Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319	1.68	11.3	6.72

Equiv.: Equivalent, OSI: Oxidative stress index, TAC: Total antioxidant capacity, TOC: Total oxidant capacity, HUVECs: Human umbilical vein endothelial cells, Ang II: Angiotensin II

Table 4. TGF-β1 level in HUVECs extra	act and medium	
Groups	Cell extract (pg/mg) (mean±SD)	Cell medium (pg/mg) (mean±SD)
1. Control	318±25.06	61.58±4.09
2. Ang II	206±14.88*	40.93±2.83
3. Olmesartan	162±14.35*	41.42±6.00
4. Ang II+Olmesartan	374±19.52 [#]	40.55±6.46
5. PD123319	181±10.36*	42.85±9.57
6. Ang II+PD123319	231±17.66	31.58±6.11
7. Olmesartan+PD123319	396±32.93	28.17±3.92
8. Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319	356±36.10 [#]	24.84±2.65

Data are expressed as mean±SD. *p<0.05 relative to control, #p<0.05 relative to Ang II group. One-way ANOVA post-hoc Tukey test (each group worked 5 replicates). SD: Standard deviation, TGF-β1: Transforming growth factor-beta 1, HUVECs: Human umbilical vein endothelial cells, Ang II: Angiotensin II



Figure 3. TGF-β1 levels in Angiotensin II, Olmesartan, and PD123319 treated groups in human umbilical vein endothelial cells culture. Data are expressed as mean±standard deviation

*p<0.05 compared to the control group, #p<0.05 compared to Ang II group. Oneway ANOVA post-hoc Tukey test (n=5)

TGF- β 1: Transforming growth factor-beta 1, Ang II: Angiotensin II

$TGF\mathchar`-\beta\mbox{1}$ levels in HUVECs extract and medium

TGF- β 1 levels measured in cell extracts and medium in HUVEC groups are shown in Table 4. Compared with all HUVECs medium groups, TGF- β 1 level in all HUVECs extract groups was significantly higher (p<0.001). In HUVECs extracts, compared with the control, TGF- β 1 level was significantly lower in the Ang II group (p=0.030). Compared to the Ang II group, TGF- β 1 level was significantly higher in the Ang II group, TGF- β 1 level was significantly higher in the Ang II+Olmesartan group (p<0.001) and Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319 group (p=0.001) (Figure 3). There was no significant difference in TGF- β 1 levels between medium groups (Figure 4).

Discussion

Hypertension is one of the most important health problems



Figure 4. TGF- β 1 levels in human umbilical vein endothelial cells medium in Angiotensin II, Olmesartan, and PD123319 applied groups. Data are expressed as mean±standard deviation

One-way ANOVA post-hoc Tukey test (n=6) TGF-β1: Transforming growth factor-beta 1, Ang II: Angiotensin II

worldwide (25). While many of the physiological mechanisms and intracellular molecular pathways that regulate blood pressure are known, some of the pathological mechanisms that lead to hypertension are still unknown (7,25). It was indicated that RAS components and receptors may be responsible for the physiopathology of hypertension (26). Drugs that inhibit RAS components and receptors are frequently used for treating this disease (6).

Ang II, the most important potent molecule of RAS, increases proliferation and oxidative stress in endothelial cells (8). 1 μ M, 0.1 μ M, and 0.01 μ M Ang II treatment increased HUVEC proliferation in the current study. As the administration dose of Ang II reduces, cell proliferation appears to decrease in a dose-dependent manner. Therefore, the dose of Ang

II for maximum proliferative effect was chosen as 0.1 µM for combined applications with ATR blockers in our study. This finding is consistent with the studies performed with different cell types (27,28). In our previous study, enhanced proliferation was observed also with the same dose of Ang II in primary culture of vascular smooth muscle cells obtained from rat thoracic aorta (29). Dose-dependent cellular effects of Ang II are complex. Additionally, plasma and tissue levels of Ang II (differences in physiological dose) in humans and different species may differ (8). There is no adequate and comprehensive study on intracellular and extracellular Ang II measurement.

It is already known that Ang II may have some different cellular effects and responses (8). Studies have shown that ATR1 blockers reduce cell proliferation caused by Ang II in some different cell cultures (28,30). However, Olmesartan did not inhibit the proliferation of Ang II in HUVECs in our study. The reason may be the insufficient dose of Olmesartan (1 µM). However, the doses of Olmesartan (1 µM) and PD123319 (1 uM) were determined in accordance with the literature and chosen for co-administration (31,32). PD123319 was found to increase endothelial cell proliferation in this study. Forrester et al. (8) reported that ATR2 blockers increase cell proliferation compared to ATR1 blockers. It was considered that stimulation of ATR2s affects vascular cell physiology and exposes these effects by increasing NO release. Contrary to the current study, while 1 µM PD123319 increased proliferation, 1 µM Olmesartan reduced proliferation in vascular smooth muscle cells in our previous study (29). As a possible explanation, PD123319 and Olmesartan might activate different intracellular proliferative and non-proliferative signaling mechanisms in the endothelial cells.

TAC and TOC levels in the cell extract control group were determined within normal limits. Concerning OSI we observed that the oxidant and antioxidant processes were balanced in the control group, whereas both oxidants and antioxidants were augmented in the cell extract groups (Ang II, Olmesartan, PD123319, and Ang II+PD123319). This finding may indicate a potential cause of vascular diseases. Moreover, there was very high oxidative stress level in Ang II+Olmesartan, Olmesartan+PD123319, and Ang II+Olmesartan+PD123319 cell extract groups. These findings may be considered more serious and many pathologies can be suspected. In the literature, it has been reported that Ang II increases oxidative stress, while ATR1 blockers decrease oxidants on the vascular structure (8).

As Ang II can cause endothelial cell damage, inflammation, and even cell death (33), and ATR1 blockers can reverse these effects (6). However, there was no elevation in TAC levels in the Olmesartan group in our study. The reason for this finding may be the insufficient dose of Olmesartan. we also found that when the medium and cell extract control groups were compared, both the oxidant and antioxidant capacity of the medium were increased. This may be explained by the maintanece of balance by the cells as a physiological process. Except for the Ang II and Ang II+OImesartan groups, higher oxidative stress was found in all treatment groups. Ang II may induce oxidative stress on the cardiovascular system through ATR2s. Nitric oxide is a free radical and plays a potent role in the physiological mechanisms of the cardiovascular system (34). Also, the stimulation of ATR2s increases nitric oxide synthesis (8). In addition, increased nitric oxide levels in cardiac cells may decrease the expression of ATR1. It can be thought that the blockade of ATR2s may reduce oxidative stress.

Cellular TGF-B1 level was higher inside the cell compared to the medium in our study. At the same time, Ang II and ATR1 blocker Olmesartan reduced TGF-B1 synthesis in endothelial cells. However, in an in vivo study, it was reported that Ang II administration to rat cardiovascular endothelial cells has augmented TGF-B1 levels and another ATR1 blocker losartan decreased plasma level of TGF-B1 (35). Although it is known that the TGF-B protein family increases cell proliferation and migration, its effects on some cell types may be the opposite (19). Our results showed that TGF-B1 may have proliferative effects on vascular cells and Ang II administration may reduce TGF-B1 levels. The proliferative effects of Ang II on cardiovascular cells are known and the induced TGF-B1 levels are reported to be related to proliferation (36,37). It has been suggested that TGF-b1 can affect intracellular signaling through cell type-dependent mechanisms (38,39). Therefore, the relationship between Ang II and TGF-B1 is important, which has been postulated in the physiopathology of cardiovascular diseases such as hypertension (19). In this respect, when all cellular mechanisms are evaluated as a whole, the fact that Ang II reduces TGF-B1 levels in our study and this result cannot be associated with proliferation. We expected an increase in TGF-B1 levels in correlation with the proliferation-enhancing effects of Ang II. Our findings suggest that Ang II may affect different TGF-ß subtypes that may be more effective in endothelial cell proliferation, and may activate different proliferation pathways.

Several limitations of the current study should be acknowledged. In contrast to other studies in different cell types, Olmesartan application did not decrease HUVEC proliferation in our study. This might have been caused by the use of only a single and low dose of Olmesartan (1 μ M), as well as by the measurement of cell proliferation with a single method. As another limitation, only TGF- β 1 could be measured as one of the cell proliferation pathways. Oxidative stress could be evaluated by using superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, catalase, and malondialdehyde, which lacked in our analyses.

Conclusion

The present study showed that Ang II and ATR2 blocker PD123319 increased HUVEC proliferation. While, Ang II

demonstrated most of its proliferative effects through ATR1 activation, stimulation of ATR2 seemed to have a more prominent role in oxidative stress processes in endothelial cells.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval and Informed Consent: Ethics committee approval was not obtained from the patient and a consent form was not obtained because it was a cell culture study. The HUVEC cell culture line used in the study was obtained from the Health Sciences University Stem Cell Research Center.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Z.Ç., K.A., A.Ş.İ., Concept: Z.Ç., K.A., A.Ş.İ., Design: Z.Ç., K.A., A.Ş.İ., Data Collection or Processing: Z.Ç., K.A., A.Ş.İ., Analysis or Interpretation: Z.Ç., K.A., A.Ş.İ., Literature Search: Z.Ç., K.A., A.Ş.İ., Writing: Z.Ç., K.A., A.Ş.İ.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Galley HF, Webster NR. Physiology of the endothelium. British Journal of Anaesthesia. 2004;93:105-113.
- Du J, Leng J, Zhang L, Bai G, Yang D, Lin H, et al. Angiotensin II-Induced Apoptosis of Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells was Inhibited by Blueberry Anthocyanin Through Bax- and Caspase 3-Dependent Pathways. Med Sci Monit. 2016;22:3223-3228.
- Bierhansl L, Conradi LC, Treps L, Dewerchin M, Carmeliet P. Central Role of Metabolism in Endothelial Cell Function and Vascular Disease. Physiology. 2017;32:126-140.
- Medina-Leyte DJ, Dominguez-Perez M, Mercado I, Villarreal-Molina MT, Jacobo-Albavera L. Use of Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVEC) as a Model to Study Cardiovascular Disease: A Review. Appl Sci-Basel. 2020;10.
- Xu J, Shi GP. Vascular wall extracellular matrix proteins and vascular diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1842:2106-2119.
- Atlas SA. The renin-angiotensin aldosterone system: pathophysiological role and pharmacologic inhibition. J Manag Care Pharm. 2007;13(8 Suppl B):9-20.
- Mehta PK, Griendling KK. Angiotensin II cell signaling: physiological and pathological effects in the cardiovascular system. Am J Physiol-Cell Ph. 2007;292:C82-C97.
- Forrester SJ, Booz GW, Sigmund CD, Coffman TM, Kawai T, Rizzo V, et al. Angiotensin II Signal Transduction: An Update on Mechanisms of Physiology and Pathophysiology. Physiol Rev. 2018;98:1627-1738.

- Wang M, Liu Y, Liang Y, Naruse K, Takahashi K. Systematic Understanding of Pathophysiological Mechanisms of Oxidative Stress-Related Conditions-Diabetes Mellitus, Cardiovascular Diseases, and Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2021;8:649785.
- Sena CM, Leandro A, Azul L, Seica R, Perry G. Vascular Oxidative Stress: Impact and Therapeutic Approaches. Front Physiol. 2018;9:1668.
- Phaniendra A, Jestadi DB, Periyasamy L. Free Radicals: Properties, Sources, Targets, and Their Implication in Various Diseases. Indian J Clin Bioche. 2015;30:11-26.
- Munzel T, Camici GG, Maack C, Bonetti NR, Fuster V, Kovacic JC. Impact of Oxidative Stress on the Heart and Vasculature Part 2 of a 3-Part Series. J Am Coll Cardiol. 201711;70:212-229.
- Redza-Dutordoir M, Averill-Bates DA. Activation of apoptosis signalling pathways by reactive oxygen species. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016;1863:2977-2992.
- Massague J, Cheifetz S, Laiho M, Ralph DA, Weis FM, Zentella A. Transforming growth factor-beta. Cancer Surveys. 1992;12:81-103.
- 15. Tian M, Schiemann WP. The TGF-beta paradox in human cancer: an update. Future Oncol. 2009;5:259-271.
- Kubiczkova L, Sedlarikova L, Hajek R, Sevcikova S. TGF-beta - an excellent servant but a bad master. Journal of Translational Medicine. 2012;10:183.
- Kim SK, Ohta K, Hamaguchi A, Omura T, Yukimura T, Miura K, et al. Angiotensin-II Type-I Receptor Antagonist Inhibits the Gene-Expression of Transforming Growth-Factor-Beta-1 and Extracellular-Matrix in Cardiac and Vascular Tissues of Hypertensive Rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1995;273:509-515.
- Crawford DC, Chobanian AV, Brecher P. Angiotensin II induces fibronectin expression associated with cardiac fibrosis in the rat. Circ Res. 1994;74:727-739.
- 19. Rosenkranz S. TGF-beta1 and angiotensin networking in cardiac remodeling. Cardiovasc Res. 2004;63:423-432.
- 20. Taniyama Y, Griendling KK. Reactive oxygen species in the vasculature: molecular and cellular mechanisms. Hypertension. 2003;42:1075-1081.
- Riss TL, Moravec RA, Niles AL, Duellman S, Benink HA, Worzella TJ, et al. Cell Viability Assays. In: Markossian S, Grossman A, Brimacombe K, Arkin M, Auld D, Austin CP, et al., editors. Assay Guidance Manual. Bethesda (MD)2004.
- 22. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem. 1951;193:265-275.
- 23. Waterborg JH, Matthews HR. The Lowry method for protein quantitation. Methods Mol Biol. 1994;32:1-4.
- Esen C, Alkan BA, Kirnap M, Akgul O, Isikoglu S, Erel O. The effects of chronic periodontitis and rheumatoid arthritis on serum and gingival crevicular fluid total antioxidant/oxidant status and oxidative stress index. J Periodontol. 2012;83:773-779.

- 25. Oparil S, Acelajado MC, Bakris GL, Berlowitz DR, Cifkova R, Dominiczak AF, et al. Hypertension. Nature reviews Disease primers. 2018;4:18014.
- Van Haaster MC, McDonough AA, Gurley SB. Blood pressure regulation by the angiotensin type 1 receptor in the proximal tubule. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2018;27:1-7.
- Xu XP, He HL, Hu SL, Han JB, Huang LL, Xu JY, et al. Ang II-AT2R increases mesenchymal stem cell migration by signaling through the FAK and RhoA/Cdc42 pathways in vitro. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2017;8:164.
- Tambelline N, Oliveira K, Olchanheski LR, Sordi R, Otuki MF, Favero GM, et al. The Effect of Losartan on Angiotensin II-Induced Cell Proliferation in a Rat Aorta Smooth Muscle Cell Line. Braz Arch Biol Techn. 2012;55:263-268.
- Cicek Z, Yasar ZG, Akillioglu K, Dogan A. Effect of Intracellular Angiotensin II on Diabetic Rat Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation. Acta Physiol. 2018;225:45.
- Hwang YJ, Park JH, Cho DH. Activation of AMPK by Telmisartan Decreases Basal and PDGF-stimulated VSMC Proliferation via Inhibiting the mTOR/p70S6K Signaling Axis. Journal of Korean Medical Science. 2020;35:e289.
- Feng LH, Sun HC, Zhu XD, Zhang SZ, Li XL, Li KS, et al. Irbesartan inhibits metastasis by interrupting the adherence of tumor cell to endothelial cell induced by angiotensin II in hepatocellular carcinoma. Annals of Translational Medicine. 2021;9:207.
- Gong X, Shao L, Fu YM, Zou Y. Effects of Olmesartan on Endothelial Progenitor Cell Mobilization and Function in Carotid Atherosclerosis. Med Sci Monit. 2015; 21:1189-1193.

- Wen H, Gwathmey JK, Xie LH. Oxidative stress-mediated effects of angiotensin II in the cardiovascular system. World J Hypertens. 2012;2:34-44.
- 34. Zhao Y, Vanhoutte PM, Leung SW. Vascular nitric oxide: Beyond eNOS. J Pharmacol Sci. 2015;129:83-94.
- Miguel-Carrasco JL, Beaumont J, San Jose G, Moreno MU, Lopez B, Gonzalez A, et al. Mechanisms underlying the cardiac antifibrotic effects of losartan metabolites. Scientific Reports. 2017;7:41865.
- Wenzel S, Taimor G, Piper HM, Schluter KD. Redox-sensitive intermediates mediate angiotensin II-induced p38 MAP kinase activation, AP-1 binding activity, and TGF-beta expression in adult ventricular cardiomyocytes. FASEB J. 2001;15:2291-2293.
- Moriguchi Y, Matsubara H, Mori Y, Murasawa S, Masaki H, Maruyama K, et al. Angiotensin II-induced transactivation of epidermal growth factor receptor regulates fibronectin and transforming growth factor-beta synthesis via transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms. Circulation Research. 1999;84:1073-1084.
- Robertson IB, Rifkin DB. Regulation of the Bioavailability of TGF-beta and TGF-beta-Related Proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2016;8:a021907.
- 39. Derynck R, Budi EH. Specificity, versatility, and control of TGFbeta family signaling. Sci Signal. 2019;12.



144

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.73745 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:144-51

Clinical findings and molecular diagnosis in children with Bardet-Biedl Syndrome in Turkey: Identification of novel variants

Özlem Akgün Doğan, Nihat Buğra Ağaoğlu

Umraniye Training and Research Hospital, Genomic Laboratory (glab), Istanbul, Türkiye

Date submitted: 24.06.2021

Date accepted: 22.11.2021 Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Özlem Akgün Doğan, M.D., Umraniye Training and Research Hospital, Genomic Laboratory (glab), Istanbul, Türkiye ozlemakgundogan@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-8310-4053

Keywords: Bardet-Biedl syndrome, next-generation sequencing, phenotype-genotype correlation, variants

ABSTRACT

Aims: Bardet-Biedl syndrome (BBS) is a rare autosomal recessive ciliopathy with multisystemic involvement and variable phenotypic features. A diagnosis is usually made through the clinical diagnostic criteria. However, the clinical diagnosis can be difficult due to the absence of clear phenotype-genotype correlation and overlapping findings with other ciliopathies. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) is a rapid and cost-effective diagnostic method for this group of diseases. Besides correct diagnosis, detection of novel variants also contributes to establishing new phenotype-genotype correlations and delineating the pathophysiology of the syndrome. Here, we aimed to present clinical and molecular findings of patients with BBS using NGS panel analysis to contribute to the genotype-phenotype correlation in this rare syndrome.

Methods: We retrospectively reviewed the medical records of patients with a suspicion of BBS admitted to the Pediatric Genetics Department in Umraniye Training and Research Hospital. Patients who met the BBS clinical diagnostic criteria were included in the study. Targeted NGS analysis, including 20 genes associated with BBS, was performed on an Illumina Next-Seq-500 platform.

Results: The final analyses included 6 patients (age, mean±standard deviation: 14.3±6.6 years, female: 50%). Rod cone dystrophy (100%), polydactyly (100%), and intellectual disability (100%) were the most common findings followed respectively by obesity (83%), renal anomalies (83%), liver anomalies (67%), dental problems (67%), metabolic problems (50%), genital anomalies (33%), psychiatric disorders (33%), and sleep apnea (33%). The 5th metatarsal shortness and camptodactyly were anomalies reported for the first time in BBS. Seven variants were detected in the BBS1, BBS7, BBS5, BBS9, and MKKS, two of which were novel. BBS7 was the most common gene.

Conclusions: Our study expanded the genotypic spectrum of the disease with two novel variants reported. Besides, by defining novel/rare clinical features, including camptodactyly, the fifth metatarsal, the 4th-5th metacarpal shortness, and nephrocalcinosis, it formed a source for the phenotype-genotype correlation trying to be established in the literature.

Introduction

Bardet-Biedl syndrome (BBS) is a rare autosomal recessive ciliopathy with multisystemic involvement. Retinal rod-cone dystrophy, obesity, polydactyly, intellectual disability, hypogonadism, and renal disease are the characteristic findings of the syndrome. In addition to these findings, variable other neurological, gastrointestinal, endocrinological, and cardiovascular system involvements have been reported

(1-5). The prevalence of the syndrome differs according to geographical regions, reported as 1/160.000 in Europe and rises to 1/13.500 in regions such as the Middle East, where the consanguinity rate is high (1,3,6).

In BBS, the key element in the pathophysiology is cilia dysfunction. Cilias are organelles that have functions primarily in the determination of cell polarity, regulation of the cell cycle, and mechano-sensation. Also, they take part in the

[®]Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

signaling pathways involved in vertebral development and organ differentiation in the embryological period (7). These widespread functions of the cilia are reflected in the phenotype as multi-systemic involvement, as in BBS. Bi-allelic/tri allelic loss of function mutations in 23 genes (BBS1-21) associated with cilia structure, biogenesis, and function, are reported in approximately 80% of patients with BBS (8).

The clinical diagnosis of the syndrome is made through the clinical diagnostic criteria presented in Table 1 (9,10). According to those criteria, four major features or the coexistence of three major and two minor features are adequate to establish the diagnosis (3,4,6,11,12). However, the diagnostic criteria may be insufficient when evaluating patients in early childhood. where some clinical findings have not yet emerged. Additionally, phenotypic variability is expected in BBS, and some patients may not meet the diagnostic criteria despite a confirmed molecular diagnosis. There is also no clear phenotype-genotype correlation in the syndrome, and an accurate clinical diagnosis can be difficult due to overlapping findings with other ciliopathies (6,13). Considering all these, it is undeniable that a molecular diagnosis is an essential tool for timely and accurate diagnosis. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies, which have become widespread in clinical use recently, are a rapid and cost-effective diagnostic method in this group of diseases with genetic heterogeneity. Novel variants to be detected by this method will also contribute to establishing new phenotypegenotype correlations and delineating the pathophysiology in this rare group of diseases, apart from achieving accurate diagnosis in patients.

Here, we aimed to present the clinical and molecular findings of patients with BBS using NGS panel analysis to contribute to the genotype-phenotype correlation in this rare syndrome.

Methods

We retrospectively reviewed the medical records of patients with a suspicion of BBS admitted to the Pediatric Genetics Department in Umraniye Training and Research Hospital. Patients who met at least four major criteria or three major and two minor criteria according to the BBS clinical diagnostic criteria were included in the study (9,10). Beyond the demographic data, family history, clinical presentation; renal function test, urinalysis, liver function test, thyroid function test, abdominalrenal ultrasonography, echocardiography, and the examination results performed by the eye, eye-nose-throat, and cardiology departments were collected from the medical records of the patients. The local ethics committee approved the protocol of the study with an accession number of BS.GP.0.01/177. The study was conducted following the Declaration of Helsinki. Informed consent was obtained from each patient and their legal guardians for molecular analysis.

Targeted NGS analysis and variant interpretation

After obtaining written informed consent, peripheral blood samples were collected from all individuals. Following the standard protocols of the QIAAmp DNA Mini (Qiagen) kit, automatic DNA isolation was performed in EDTA-anticoagulated blood samples. Targeted NGS analysis was performed on the Illumina Next-Seg 500 platform using SOPHIA Clinical Exome Solution using Illumina V2 chemicals as outlined previously (14,15). The gene panel consisted of 20 genes associated with BBS; ARL6 (NM 001278293), BBS1 (NM 024649), BBS10 (NM 024685), BBS12 (NM 001178007), BBS2 (NM 031885), BBS4 (NM 001252678), BBS5 (NM 152384), BBS7 (NM 176824), BBS9 (NM 001033604), C8ORF37 (NM 177965.4), CCDC28B (NM 001301011), **CEP290** (NM 025114), LZTFL1 (NM 001276378), MKKS (NM 018848), MKS1 (NM 001165927), SDCCAG8 (NM 006642), TMEM67 (NM 001142301), TRIM32 (NM 001099679), TTC8 (NM 001288781), WDPCP (NM 001042692). Sequence analysis covers the coding regions of each gene, including all coding exons, +/- 10 base pairs of adjacent intronic sequences, and each nucleotide is read at a depth of at least 50X. Variants that fall outside these regions and exonic variants with a minor allele frequency of less than 10% were considered false positives and unanalyzed. Copy number variations were not examined.

Table 1. Clinical diagnostic criteria	for Bardet-Biedl syndrome (9,17)
Major features	Minor features
Retinal cone-rod dystrophy	Neurologic abnormalities (ataxia, poor coordination, mild spasticity, speech delay)
Central obesity*	Olfactory dysfunction (anosmia, hyposmia)
Postaxial polydactyly	Oral/dental abnormalities (dental crowding, hypodontia, small roots, high arched palate)
Cognitive impairment	Gastrointestinal abnormalities (liver disease**, inflammatory bowel disease, celiac disease, Hirschsprung disease)
Hypogonadism	Cardiovascular and other thoraco-abdominal abnormalities (congenital heart diseases, situs ambiguous)
Renal disease	Endocrine/metabolic abnormalities (T2DM, DI, hypothyroidism, metabolic syndrome)
*Eastures associated with abasity (including a	e de sine (metale die alle and e se de se alle balls fatte line die see) en defined es miner factures of DDO

*Features associated with obesity (including endocrine/metabolic abnormalities and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease) are defined as minor features of BBS. **Liver disease is considered as abnormalities in liver imaging and/or abnormal transaminase levels. T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus, DI: Diabetes inspidus, BBS: Bardet-Biedl syndrome The DNA sequences were aligned to the NCBI Build37 (hg18) version of the human genome. Alignments were confirmed using the Integrative Genomics Viewer v.2.313. The Sophia-DDM-V5.2 bioinformatics analysis program performed variant calling and data analysis. The interpretation of the variants was performed according to the 2015 American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG) standards and guidelines (16). Iranome and GnomAD data were used as the control population. The variants' effects on protein function were investigated using in silico prediction programs such as SIFT, PolyPhen2, M-CAP, Mutation Taster, and MVP. The Human Gene Mutation Database and ClinVar and PUBMED databases were used to investigate mutations previously associated with BBS. Only variants of unknown significance (VUS), pathogenic (P), and likely-P variants were reported in the results section. Segregation analysis was performed by Sanger sequencing. Primer sequences and reaction conditions are available on request.

Results

Demographic and clinical characteristics

We identified 10 patients who were followed up with a suspicion of BBS. Four patients who did not fulfill the BBS clinical criteria were excluded and the final analyses included 6 patients (age, mean±standard deviation: 14.3±6.6 years, female: 50%). In the study group, while all major criteria were present in four of the patients, two had only four major criteria. Rod cone dystrophy (100%), polydactyly (100%), and intellectual disability (100%) were the most common findings in all patients. These findings were followed respectively by obesity (83%), renal anomalies (83%), gastrointestinal abnormalities anomalies (67%), dental problems (67%), endocrine/metabolic problems (50%), hypogonadism (33%), psychiatric disorders (33%) and sleep apnea (33%). Among the renal abnormalities, renal agenesis/ hypogenesis (40%) and nephrocalcinosis (40%) were the most common abnormalities. All male patients had hypospadias regarding hypogonadism. Hepatosplenomegaly and elevated transaminase levels were the findings detected in all patients



Figure 1. Image of the oral region showing the hypodontia in Patient 2

with liver abnormalities. In the dental anomalies group, malocclusion was the most common dental anomaly (75%); hypodontia was present in only one patient (Figure 1). Anxiety was the most common problem detected in 75% of patients with neuropsychiatric disorders. In the metabolic/endocrine finding group, diabetes mellitus (DM) was present in only one patient; however, hyperlipidemia (75%) stood out as the major metabolic problem. Cardiac abnormalities were present in only one patient with the atrial septal defect. Hearing loss and olfactory problems were not observed in the study group. Clinical features and the details of the anomalies are presented in Table 2.

Molecular analysis

A molecular diagnosis was achieved in all the patients. Seven different variants were detected in the *BBS1*, *BBS7*, *BBS5*, *BBS9*, and *MKKS* genes. There were three frameshift (fs), two splice-site, and two missense variants, two of which were novel variants that were not previously reported in patients with BBS (Figure 2). The details of the variants are presented in Table 2.



Figure 2. Integrative genomics viewer images of the novel variants reported in Patient 1 (BBS7 c.529-2A>G) (a) and Patient 2 (BBS5 c.170T>C) (b)

Table 2. Clinical and r	nolecular findings of the	patients					
Patient ID	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4	Patient 5	Patient 6	Percentage
Gene	BBS7/BBS7	BBS5	BBS7	MKKS	BBS9	BBS1	
NM number	NM_176824	NM_152384	NM_176824	NM_018848	NM_001033604	NM_024649	
Depth	215/213	47	125	726	47	110	
50x	99.11%	98.87%	99.92%	99.98%	86.77%	84.83%	
Mutation type	Frameshift/Splice	Missense	Splice	Missense	Frameshift	Frameshift	
cDNA	c.712_715delAGAG/ c.529-2A>G	c.170T>C	c.849+1G>T	c.541G>A	c.310del	c.1232_1235del	
Protein	p.Arg238Glufs*59/p.(?)	p.lle57Thr	p.(?)	p.Ala181Pro	p.(Cys104Valfs*20)	p.(Gly411Glufs*12)	
Reference	Reported/Novel	Novel	Reported	Reported	Reported	Reported	
Zygosity	Het/Het	Hom	Hom	Hom	Hom	Hom	
ACMG class	P/P	VUS	L	LP	ď	L	
ACMG evidence	PVS1, PP5, PM2/PVS1, PM2	PM2, PP2, PP3	PVS1, PM2, PP3	PM2, PP2, PP3	PVS1, PM2, PP3, PP5	PVS1, PM2, PP3, PP5	
Age (years)	18	17	7	14	14	21	
Gender	Σ	ш	Σ	ш	ш	Σ	
BMI (kg/m ²)*	29.4	30.5	28.1	42.3	34.5	43	
CDC BMI-for-age percentiles	(95 th -97 th)	(95 th -97 th)	(>97 th)	(+)(<)	(>97 th)	(>97 th)	
Rod cone dystrophy	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	100
Limb abnormalities	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	100
Polydactyly	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Syndactyly	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	
Others	No	5 th metatarsal, 4 th -5 th metacarpal shortness	No	oN	No	Camptodactyly Brachydactyly	
Intellectual disability	Moderate	Mild	NA	Moderate	Mild	Mild	83
Developmental delay	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	100
Renal abnormalities	No	Left renal agenesis Right renal cyst	Grade 2 pelvic ectasia Bilateral medullar nephrocalcinosis	Bilateral renal cyst	Nephrocalcinosis Proteinuria	Bilateral renal hypogenesis Renal insufficiency	83
Genital abnormalities	Hypospadias	No	Hypospadias	No	No	Hypospadias	50

.

Table 2. Continued							
Patient ID	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4	Patient 5	Patient 6	Percentage
Liver abnormalities	°Z	N	2 2	Hepatosplenomegaly Hepatosteatosis High transaminase levels	<u>8</u>	Hepatosplenomegaly High transaminase levels	33
Diabetes mellitus	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	17
Dyslipidemia	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	67
Dental abnormalities	Malocclusion	Multiple caries Erosion Hypodontia	Q	Malocclusion	Malocclusion	Q	67
Neuropsychiatric problems	Anxiety	Anxiety	No	OCD/seizures	Anxiety	N	67
Sleep apnea	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	33
Hearing loss	No	No	No	No	No	No	0
Anosmia	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	17
*CDC BMI-for age charts (2 Hom: Homozygous, Het: Hi Obsessive computation disc	2-20 years) were used to determir eterozygous, P: Pathogenic, LP:	ne the weight status (und Likely pathogenic, VUS: ^v	erweight: <5 th percentile, he Variant of insignificance, M:	salthy weight: 5 th -85 th percentile, Male, F: Female, BMI: Body m	, overweight: 85 th -95 th percer ass index, CDC: Centers for	ntile, obesity: >95th percentile disease control and preventi). on, OCD:

One of the novel variants was the *BBS7* c.529-2A>G, a null variant detected in Patient 1. We predicted that this variant would cause exon skipping by affecting the acceptor site of the *BBS7*. This was not previously reported in community databases such as GnomAD and Iranome. The variant was classified as P with the evidence of PVS1 and PM2.

The other novel variant was the homozygous missense c.170T>C variation in *BBS5*. It was not reported in the GnomAD and Iranome databases. Most *in silico* prediction tools (M-CAP, MutationTaster, and SIFT) showed that the variant had a damaging effect on the protein. The variant was classified as VUS with the ACMG evidence of PM2 and PP3.

Discussion

BBS is characterized by both phenotypic and genotypic heterogeneity (2). Thus, identifying new variants and deep phenotyping in patients is vital in elucidating this rare syndrome's pathophysiology and advancing therapeutic research. Our study is the third study conducted for this purpose in patients with BBS in Turkey (1,11). We managed to detect the underlying molecular pathology in all of our patients using the targeted NGS panel. Although the targeted panel analysis yielded a diagnostic rate up to 86% in previous studies, we achieved the molecular diagnosis in all of our patients (1,2). We suggest this finding may be related to the inclusion of patients who only fulfilled the BBS clinical diagnostic criteria in our study.

BBS1 and *BBS10* stand out as the genes with the most common disease-associated variants in the patient cohorts reported so far (5,17). Consistent with these findings, *BBS10* and *BBS1* were reported as the most common genes in the largest series conducted in our country (1). However, in our study, while no variant was detected in *BBS10*, a *BBS1*-related variant was detected in only one patient. Also, with three variants detected, *BBS7* stood out as the most common gene. Variations in *BBS7* are defined as a rare cause of the syndrome, with a frequency of 1.5-3% in multiethnic groups (18-21). This rate was up to 15% in studies conducted in our country (1,11). When evaluated with the data from our research, one can suggest that *BBS7*-associated BBS is more frequent in the Turkish population than in other ethnic groups.

Missense variations were reported as the most common type of variation in BBS-related genes (2,22). Unlike this finding, null variants (fs, splice site) were detected more frequently in our study, as in the other two studies conducted in Turkey (1,11). We can suggest that this finding may be related to Turkish ethnic origin and geographical region; however, studies involving more patients from Turkey are needed to make an accurate assessment.

We contributed to the BBS-related genotypic spectrum with the two novel variants detected. The first of these was the heterozygous *BBS7* c.529-2A>G variant. The fact that it was a

null variant unreported in population databases was important evidence to be considered P associated with BBS. Furthermore. we thought that this variant would explain the clinical findings related to BBS if it was found in a trans with the previously reported BBS7 c.712 715delAGAG, fs variant detected in the same patient. However, although we assumed that these two variants were found to be compound heterozygous based on clinical findings, we could not conduct a segregation analysis in terms of compound heterozygosity because the parents were deceased, and we could not confirm this situation. The other novel variant was the BBS5 c.170T>C variant. It was absent in population databases and determined as damaging according to most of the in silico prediction tools. These findings provide important evidence for associating the variant with the disease phenotype. Additionally, the interspecies conservation score of the genomic position (PhyloP100way score: 6.026, GERP score: 5.5) was also high. The patient's clinical findings had met five of the major and two minor diagnostic criteria of BBS. Therefore, although it was classified as VUS according to ACMG, we thought the variant explained the patient's phenotype. However, it was also kept in mind that functional studies should be conducted, or the same variant should be reported in another patient to prove the pathogenicity of the variant.

In terms of phenotypic findings, rod-cone dystrophy, polydactyly, developmental delay, and intellectual disability, which are the major features of the syndrome, were present in all of our patients. Rod-cone dystrophy has been reported in approximately 80-90% of patients in previous studies and is usually detected after three years of age, at a mean age of 8.5 years (1,2,4). In this study, all but one patient was diagnosed with rod-cone dystrophy in adolescence, in line with these data. The youngest patient with rod-cone dystrophy in our study was a two-year-old girl diagnosed at the age of 1.5 years when examined for nystagmus (Patient 3). She had a homozygous null variant in the BBS7 gene, so we conclude that the retinal pathology observed at such an early age may be related to the null variant. Nystagmus has only been reported in two patients with BBS (1,23). Since they both had variants of BBS7, authors have suggested that there is a relationship between BBS7related variants and nystagmus (1,23). Although the number of reported cases is scant, our patient appears to be a case that supports this correlation.

Polydactyly has been reported in 60-80% of patients with BBS (1,2,6). In addition to polydactyly; syndactyly, brachydactyly, and clinodactyly are among the other extremity anomalies reported in BBS. Among these anomalies, syndactyly and brachydactyly were also detected in two patients in our study group. Moreover, isolated 5th metatarsal, 4th, and 5th metacarpal shortness in the patient with the homozygous missense variant in *BBS5* and camptodactyly in the patient with homozygous fs variant in *BBS1* were the extremity anomalies that we reported for the first time in association with BBS (Patient 2 and Patient 6) (Figure 3).

Developmental delay is reported in approximately 90% of patients with BBS while varying degrees of intellectual disabilities are described in 60% of patients (1,2,24). While there is no clear genotype-phenotype correlation in terms of intellectual disability, milder intellectual disability is reported with *BBS1* and *BBS12* variants (2). Mild intellectual disability was observed in most patients, and moderate intellectual disability was found in only two of the patients with *BBS7* and *MKKS* variants in our study (Patient 1 and Patient 4). However, there is no data in the literature to support this phenotype-genotype correlation considering moderate intellectual disability.

Another major feature, obesity, was found in 67% of the patients in our study group, similar to the rate of 70-90% reported in the literature (1,3,4). DM and liver abnormalities that are reported to be associated with obesity were also present mainly, in obese individuals in the study group (2,8). However, contrary to DM and liver abnormalities, it has been suggested that dyslipidemia can also be detected in patients with BBS without obesity (2). Dyslipidemia observed in 18-year-old and 2-year-old individuals who were not obese but overweight may support this view (Patient 1 and Patient 3). Therefore, it is crucial to follow the patients from an early age in terms of these metabolic problems to minimize the related complications.



Figure 3. Foot and hand X-rays of Patient 2 and hand image of Patient 6. Note the 4^{th} and 5^{th} metacarpal shortness in left, 4^{th} metacarpal shortness in right hand (a), metatarsal shortness in right foot (b), camptodactyly in third and fourth fingers in the left hand (c)

Renal anomalies are reported in 50-80% of individuals with BBS and cause severe morbidity and mortality with advancing age, particularly if not properly managed (1,2,25,26). Renal involvement was present in 67% of patients, and it stood out as the most common organ involvement causing morbidity in this study. The patient with the most severe renal involvement was a 21-year-old male followed up for end-stage renal disease (Patient 6). It is thought that the presence of the homozygous null variant in *BBS1* in this patient may have led to a severe clinical course. Nephrocalcinosis, an infrequent renal finding in individuals with BBS (27), had been observed in two patients with variants of *BBS7* and *BBS9*, respectively in our cohort (Patient 3 and Patient 5). However, more cases are needed to establish a genotype-phenotype correlation for nephrocalcinosis.

Among the non-classical findings, psychiatric problems observed in 66% of the study group were remarkable. These psychiatric disorders, primarily including autism, obsessivecompulsive disorder, and anxiety, have been defined in 30-50% of individuals with BBS and can affect the functionality of a patient's daily lives (1,2,11,24). Especially in patients with severe multisystemic involvement, psychiatric problems may remain in the back and have been ignored by the patient and the family. So it is of great importance that health professionals do not overlook these problems but make appropriate interventions in the early period (2,24).

This study has some limitations. First, the number of patients and the heterogeneity of the detected genes prevents us from establishing any widespread phenotype-genotype correlations in the study. However, in this rare syndrome, the phenotype and genotype information reported in the literature are of great value. Second, since a wide phenotypic heterogeneity is defined in BBS, the use of strict clinical criteria for inclusion in the study group may have resulted in some patients being missed. The enrollment of patients in the study with looser criteria would have allowed broadening of the disease's genotypic/phenotypic spectrum.

Conclusion

Our study expanded the genotypic spectrum of the disease with two novel variants reported. Besides, by defining novel/rare clinical features, it formed a source for the phenotype-genotype correlation trying to be established in the literature.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was obtained at the Health Sciences University, Istanbul Umraniye Training and Research Hospital Local Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: B.10.1.TKH.4.34.H.GP.0.01/177, date: 27.05.2021).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-reviewed: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: Ö.A.D., Design: Ö.A.D., N.B.A, Data Collection, or Processing: Ö.A.D., N.B.A., Analysis, or Interpretation: Ö.A.D., N.B.A., Literature Search: Ö.A.D., N.B.A., Writing: Ö.A.D.

Conflict of interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

- Ece Solmaz A, Onay H, Atik T, et al. Targeted multi-gene panel testing for the diagnosis of Bardet Biedl syndrome: Identification of nine novel mutations across BBS1, BBS2, BBS4, BBS7, BBS9, BBS10 genes. Eur J Med Genet. 2015;58:689-694.
- Deveault C, Billingsley G, Duncan JL, et al. BBS genotypephenotype assessment of a multiethnic patient cohort calls for a revision of the disease definition. Hum Mutat. 2011;32:610-619.
- 3. Forsythe E, Beales PL. Bardet-Biedl syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet. 2013;21:8-13.
- Beales PL, Katsanis N, Lewis RA, et al. Genetic and mutational analyses of a large multiethnic Bardet-Biedl cohort reveal a minor involvement of BBS6 and delineate the critical intervals of other loci. Am J Hum Genet. 2001;68:606-616. Erratum in: Am J Hum Genet. 2001;69:922.
- Beales PL, Badano JL, Ross AJ, et al. Genetic interaction of BBS1 mutations with alleles at other BBS loci can result in non-Mendelian Bardet-Biedl syndrome. Am J Hum Genet. 2003;72:1187-1199.
- Jeziorny K, Antosik K, Jakiel P, Młynarski W, Borowiec M, Zmysłowska A. Next-Generation Sequencing in the Diagnosis of Patients with Bardet-Biedl Syndrome-New Variants and Relationship with Hyperglycemia and Insulin Resistance. Genes (Basel). 2020;11:1283.
- Reiter JF, Leroux MR. Genes and molecular pathways underpinning ciliopathies. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2017;18:533-547.
- Niederlova V, Modrak M, Tsyklauri O, Huranova M, Stepanek O. Meta-analysis of genotype-phenotype associations in Bardet-Biedl syndrome uncovers differences among causative genes. Hum Mutat. 2019;40:2068-2087.
- Forsyth RL, Gunay-Aygun M. Bardet-Biedl Syndrome Overview. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, et al., editors. GeneReviews (R). Seattle (WA); 1993.
- Mujahid S, Hunt KF, Cheah YS, et al. The Endocrine and Metabolic Characteristics of a Large Bardet-Biedl Syndrome Clinic Population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;103:1834-1841.
- Gumus E, Tuncez E, Oz O, Saka Guvenc M. Clinical and exome sequencing findings in seven children with Bardet-Biedl syndrome from Turkey. Ann Hum Genet. 2021;85:27-36.
- 12. Warburg M, Riise R. Bardet-Biedl and Cohen syndromes: differential diagnostic criteria. J Med Genet. 2000;37:E46.

- Zmyslowska A, Borowiec M, Antosik K, et al. Genetic evaluation of patients with Alström syndrome in the Polish population. Clin Genet. 2016;89:448-453.
- Sözeri B, Demir F, Sonmez HE, et al. Comparison of the clinical diagnostic criteria and the results of the next-generation sequence gene panel in patients with monogenic systemic autoinflammatory diseases. Clin Rheumatol. 2021;40:2327-2337.
- Demir F, Dogan ÖA, Demirkol YK, et al. Genetic panel screening in patients with clinically unclassified systemic autoinflammatory diseases. Clin Rheumatol. 2020;39:3733-3745.
- Nykamp K, Anderson M, Powers M, et al. Sherloc: a comprehensive refinement of the ACMG-AMP variant classification criteria. Genet Med. 2017;19:1105-1117.
- Stoetzel C, Laurier V, Davis EE, et al. BBS10 encodes a vertebrate-specific chaperonin-like protein and is a major BBS locus. Nat Genet. 2006;38:521-524.
- M'Hamdi O, Redin C, Stoetzel C, et al. Clinical and genetic characterization of Bardet-Biedl syndrome in Tunisia: defining a strategy for molecular diagnosis. Clin Genet. 2014;85:172-177.
- Chen J, Smaoui N, Hammer MB, et al. Molecular analysis of Bardet-Biedl syndrome families: report of 21 novel mutations in 10 genes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2011;52:5317-5324.
- 20. Smaoui N, Chaabouni M, Sergeev YV, et al. Screening of the eight BBS genes in Tunisian families: no evidence of triallelism. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2006;47:3487-3495.

- Abu Safieh L, Aldahmesh MA, Shamseldin H, et al. Clinical and molecular characterisation of Bardet-Biedl syndrome in consanguineous populations: the power of homozygosity mapping. J Med Genet. 2010;47:236-241.
- 22. Suspitsin EN, Imyanitov EN. Bardet-Biedl Syndrome. Mol Syndromol. 2016;7:62-71.
- Bin J, Madhavan J, Ferrini W, Mok CA, Billingsley G, Héon E. BBS7 and TTC8 (BBS8) mutations play a minor role in the mutational load of Bardet-Biedl syndrome in a multiethnic population. Hum Mutat. 2009;30:E737-E746.
- Moore SJ, Green JS, Fan Y, et al. Clinical and genetic epidemiology of Bardet-Biedl syndrome in Newfoundland: a 22-year prospective, population-based, cohort study. Am J Med Genet A. 2005;132A:352-360.
- 25. O'Dea D, Parfrey PS, Harnett JD, Hefferton D, Cramer BC, Green J. The importance of renal impairment in the natural history of Bardet-Biedl syndrome. Am J Kidney Dis. 1996;27:776-783.
- Imhoff O, Marion V, Stoetzel C, et al. Bardet-Biedl syndrome: a study of the renal and cardiovascular phenotypes in a French cohort. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;6:22-29.
- 27. Forsythe E, Sparks K, Best S, et al. Risk Factors for Severe Renal Disease in Bardet-Biedl Syndrome. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28:963-970.



Evaluation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in obese individuals

Gülşah Kaner¹, Neriman İnanç², Eda Başmısırlı², Kürşad Ünlühizarcı³

¹Izmir Katip Celebi University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Izmir, Türkiye ²Nuh Naci Yazgan University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Kayseri, Türkiye ³Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology, Kayseri, Türkiye

Date submitted: 05.04.2021

Date accepted: 12.06.2021 Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Gülşah Kaner, Ph.D, Assoc. Prof., İzmir Katip Çelebi University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Izmir, Türkiye kanergulsah@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5882-6049

Keywords: Adult obesity, vitamin D deficiency, 25(OH)D, parathyroid hormone, body composition

ABSTRACT

Aims: Although 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] deficiency is common, only a few studies have focused on the 25(OH)D level in obese people in Turkey. Therefore, this study assessed the relationship between 25(OH)D status and obesity in the Kayseri region in Turkey.

Methods: This cross-sectional study included otherwise healthy individuals aged 20 to 49 years. Obesity was defined as body mass index (BMI) \geq 30. A bioelectrical impedance analyzer was used to measure the body composition. The short form of the "International Physical Activity Questionnaire" was used to assess the physical activity level. Blood 25(OH)D and parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels, dietary intake, body composition, and potential factors associated with the 25(OH)D status were determined.

Results: The study included 268 adults (mean age: 31.4 ± 9.5 years, 69.5% were women). The proportion of vitamin D deficiency (<20 ng/mL) was 84.3% and 83.5% in the obese and normal-weight individuals, respectively. Obese individuals had lower 25(OH)D level [11.6 (8.1-17.9) vs. 13.5 (9.7-18.3) ng/mL, p=0.069] and higher PTH level [44 (35.0-63.0) vs. 36 (28.0-47.0) pg/mL, p<0.001] compared with their normal-weight counterparts. Dietary vitamin D and calcium intake were similar, whereas phosphorous intake was higher in the obese subjects [1052.7 (754.9-1118.4) vs. 945.7 (754.9-1118.4) mg/day p=0.015]. 25(OH)D levels correlated with BMI (p<0.001, r=-0.170), body fat mass (p<0.01, r=-0.179), and muscle mass (p<0.001, r=0.251).

Conclusions: 25(OH)D deficiency is common among obese and normal-weight individuals in this large middle Anatolian city of Turkey. This study found a relationship between serum 25(OH)D levels and BMI, body fat, and muscle mass in the study sample.

Introduction

Vitamin D and parathyroid hormone (PTH) are indispensable elements of calcium homeostasis and bone metabolism (1). Cumulative evidence indicates that vitamin D has a critical function in extra-skeletal health and diseases such as diabetes mellitus, cancers, cardiovascular diseases, and autoimmune disorders (2-4). The best indicator of vitamin D status is the serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] levels. Unfortunately, as is known today, most populations worldwide suffer from vitamin D insufficiency (1). Obesity potentially increases the incidence of vitamin D insufficiency since obese people have lower levels of 25(OH)D than the non-obese (5,6). It has been found that throughout one's life, opposite connections exist among body weight, body mass index (BMI), or body fatness measures with vitamin D status (3,5,7).

Age, race, geography, skin color, habitual dressing style, and sun exposure are listed as some factors leading 25(OH)D levels to be different (8). Additionally, there is an inverse relationship between vitamin D status and BMI, body weight, and body fat. Although Turkey is located in a sun-soaked climate zone, sunlight is not exploited enough for several reasons: dietary habits, skin color, cultural factors, and clothing style. Apart from the study by Aypak et al. (9) and Tosunbayraktar et al. (10), most of the studies in Turkey analyze the 25(OH)D levels of postmenopausal women and the elderly.

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

Based on the previous studies (3,5,7), it was hypothesized that higher adiposity would lead to lower vitamin D levels. We particularly aimed to (a) evaluate the correlations of serum 25(OH)D with body composition measurements, (b) determine the link between vitamin D and PTH levels with obesity, and (c) compare serum 25(OH)D and PTH levels related to obesity in Kayseri/Turkey.

Methods

Study design

This cross-sectional study was conducted in the Endocrinology Outpatients Clinic of Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine. Individuals were classified according to their BMI as normal-weight and obese. The assignment was made using several factors: wearing a headscarf, sociodemographic features, and physical activity level. A general questionnaire was administered through face-to-face interviews. Biochemical parameters [25(OH)D, PTH], 24-hour dietary intake for three consecutive days (two weekdays and one weekend day), and physical activity levels (PAL) were identified, anthropometric measurements were taken, and bioelectrical impedance analysis was performed.

Written consent was obtained from all participants at the beginning of the study, which was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Erciyes University, Kayseri, Turkey (approval number: 2013/659, date: 22.11.2013).

Inclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Being between 20 and 49 years of age, (2) applying to the endocrine outpatient clinic at Erciyes University Faculty of Medicine, (3) having a low physical activity level (4) volunteering to give written consent, (4) agreeing to give blood samples.

Exclusion criteria

Individuals with any of the following conditions that could affect vitamin D metabolism were excluded from the study: being under 20 and more than 49 years of age, pregnancy, lactation, postmenopausal status, being underweight (BMI<18.5 kg/m²), taking dietary vitamin D supplements, alcohol consumption above 50 g/day, more than 3% change in body weight or taking drugs, which could affect body weight in the previous three months, and having comorbid diseases.

Anthropometric measurements

A dietitian performed anthropometric measurements according to the criteria suggested by the World Health Organization (WHO) (11). A bioelectrical impedance analyzer (TANITA MC 780 MA, Tanita Corp., Tokyo, Japan) was used to measure body composition. Participants were instructed to avoid food or liquid intake and vigorous exercise 4 h before the measurement and not wear any metallic objects. Height was measured using a stadiometer with subjects standing barefoot, keeping their shoulders relaxed, arms hanging freely, and the head in Frankfort horizontal plane (12).

Waist and hip circumferences were measured while the individuals were standing, arms were open on both sides, and feet were closed. Waist circumference was measured with a tape measure between the iliac crest and the lowest ribs (mid-point crossing circumference) while the individual was exhaling. The tape measure was positioned horizontally, parallel to the floor, and the measurement was carried out, paying attention not to apply pressure on the skin. Hip circumference was determined from the highest point of the side of the hip (12).

Based on participants' BMI values calculated, individuals were classified as normal-weight (BMI=18.5-24.9 kg/m²), and obese (BMI≥30 kg/m²), according to WHO criteria (13).

Assessment of biochemical parameters

After 8-hour fasting overnight, blood samples were collected between 08.30-10.30 am. Then the serum was separated by centrifugation and stored at -80 °C until it was shipped on dry ice to Düzen Laboratory (accredited) in Ankara, where 25(OH) D and PTH analyses were performed. 25(OH)D was measured using Liquid Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS), and PTH (Intact) was measured using a Test Roche Cobas e601 equipment by ECLIA method. Vitamin D status was considered deficient if the serum 25(OH)D level was 20 ng/ mL or lower (≤50 nmol/L); inadequate if it was between 21 and 29 ng/mL (52-72 nmol/L); and adequate if it was 30 ng/mL and higher (≥75 nmol/L) (14).

Dietary assessment

The dietary intake was evaluated based on their food consumption frequencies and 24-hour dietary assessment (filled in three consecutive days, including two weekdays and one weekend). The participants were asked to record all the foods and beverages they consumed before the study. A Nutrient Database (BeBiS, Ebispro for Windows, Germany; Turkish version/BeBiS 7) was used to determine participants' energy and nutrient intakes (15,16). Portion sizes were estimated with 2-dimensional food models and a food atlas, including 3 to 5 portion size images of 120 foods (17).

Determination of physical activity levels

The short form of the "International Physical Activity Questionnaire" was used to determine physical activity levels. This form consisted of seven questions and provided information about the time spent sitting, walking, and moderate to vigorous activities. The total score included the duration (minutes) and frequency (days) of the activities performed. Physical activity levels were classified as physically inactive (<600 MET -min/ week), low physical activity (600-3000 MET -min/week), and
adequate physical activity (with health benefits) (>3000 MET -min/week) (18). Individuals with low activity levels were included in the current study.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics for Windows, version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) was used for statistical analysis. A minimum of 240 samples was evaluated with a 95% confidence interval in NCSS-PASS software, and vitamin D deficiency was estimated to be 32% in obese adults (19). The normality of the data distribution was determined via the histogram, Shapiro-Wilk test, and q-q graphics. Descriptive analysis [mean±standard deviation, median (25 percentile-75 percentile), and frequencies (%)] was performed. Independent Sample t-test and Mann-Whitney U test were used to compare continuous variables, whereas chi-square analysis was used for categorical variables. The Spearman rank correlation test was performed, and scatter plot graphs were drawn to investigate the relationship between quantitative data. p<0.05 was noted to be statistically significant.

Results

Two hundred sixty-eight adults (83 men and 185 women) aged 20-49 years were recruited and classified as normal weight and obese. The measurements of anthropometric and bioelectrical

impedance analysis and daily energy and some nutrient intake, and biochemical findings of participants, classified based on BMI values, are presented in Table 1. According to Table 1, 40.6% (BMI=18.5-24.9 kg/m², n=109) of the individuals were normal-weight, whereas 59.4% of them were obese (BMI ≥30 kg/m² n=159). The mean ages of the normal-weight and obese individuals were 26.2±7.3 and 35.0±9.2 years, respectively (p<0.001). Mean body weight and height for the normal-weight individuals were 63.0±10.6 kg and 166.6±10.2 cm, and 93.7±16.5 kg and 164.4±10.5 cm for the obese individuals. Additionally, the median waist circumference for normal weight and obese subjects was 79.0 cm (71.0-88.0) and 106 cm (99.0-114.0), respectively (p<0.001, Table 1). However, basal metabolic rate, body fat percentage, body fat mass, lean body mass and total body water of the obese participants [1734.0 (1547.0-2071.0) kcal/day, 36.6±6.3%, 56.3±10.6 kg, 55.8 (50.5-68.8) kg, 40.1 (36.1-49.1) kg, respectively] were statistically higher than their normal-weight counterparts [1379.0 (1284.0-1673.0) kcal/day, 23.7±5.4%, 45.7±9.3 kg, 45.2 (41.1-56.4) kg, 32.6 (29.5-40.3) kg, respectively].

Energy intakes of the normal-weight and obese individuals were 1911.7 (1420.3-2233.8) kcal/day and 1639.9 (1320.7-1879.0) kcal/day, respectively (p<0.05). Carbohydrates, protein, and fat percentages were not statistically different between the

Table 1. Body composition, daily energy intake, nutrient i	intake, and biochemical pa	arameters of the participants	
	Obese (n=159, 59.4%)	Normal-weight (n=109, 40.6%)	р
Age (year), mean±SD	35.0±9.2	26.2±7.3	<0.001*
Body weight (kg), mean±SD	93.7±16.5	63.0±10.6	<0.001*
Height (cm), mean±SD	164.4±10.5	166.6±10.2	0.085*
BMI (kg/m ²), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	33.4 (30.8-36.8)	23.0 (20.9-24.1)	<0.001**
WC (cm), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	106 (99.0-114.0)	79 (71.0-88.0)	<0.001**
HC (cm), mean±SD	119.9±10.5	97.3±6.1	<0.001*
BMR (kcal/day), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	1734.0 (1547.0-2071.0)	1379.0 (1284.0-1673.0)	<0.001**
Body fat (%), mean±SD	36.6±6.3	23.7±5.4	<0.001*
Body fat mass (kg), mean±SD	56.3±10.6	45.7±9.3	<0.001*
LBM (kg), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	55.8 (50.5-68.8)	45.2 (41.1-56.4)	<0.001**
TBW (kg), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	40.1 (36.1-49.1)	32.6 (29.5-40.3)	<0.001**
Energy (kcal/day), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	1911.7 (1420.3-2233.8)	1639.9 (1320.7-1879.0)	0.001**
Protein (%), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	15.0 (13.0-16.0)	15.0 (13.0-18.0)	0.120**
Fat (%), mean±SD	35.8±6.3	35.9±5.7	0.868*
Carbohydrate (%), mean±SD	49.3±7.1	48.7±6.6	0.518*
Calcium (mg/day), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	627.7 (467.5-833.8)	603.3 (468.9-777.3)	0.395**
Phosphorus (mg/day), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	1052.7 (754.9-1118.4)	945.7 (754.9-1118.4)	0.015**
Vitamin D (mcg/day), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	1.3 (0.9-2.1)	1.2 (0.7-1.9)	0.179**
25(OH)D (ng/mL), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	11.6 (8.1-17.9)	13.5 (9.7-18.3)	0.069**
PTH (pg/mL), median (25 percentile-75 percentile)	44 (35.0-63.0)	36 (28.0-47.0)	<0.001**

*Student's t-test, **Mann-Whitney U test.

WC: Waist circumference, HC: Hip circumference, BMR: Basal metabolic rate, LBM: Lean body mass, TBW: Total body water, SD: Standard deviation, PTH: Parathyroid hormone, BMI: Body mass index

normal-weight and obese subjects (p>0.05). Moreover, dietary intake of vitamin D and calcium was similar between the normal-weight and obese counterparts (p>0.05). However, the dietary phosphorous intake of the obese participants [1052.7 (754.9-1118.4)] mg/day was higher than that of those with normal-weight participants [945.7 (754.9-1118.4)] mg/day (p<0.05) (Table 1).

Although it was statistically insignificant, 25(OH)D levels of the normal-weight individuals were higher than those of the obese [13.5 (9.7-18.3) ng/mL and 11.6 (8.1-17.9) ng/mL, respectively]. The PTH levels of the obese subjects [44 (35.0-63.0) pg/mL] were statistically higher than those of the normal weight [36 (28.0-47.0) pg/mL, p<0.001] (Table 1).

Vitamin D levels of the participants according to BMI classification and gender are shown in Table 2. Vitamin D deficiency was 84.3% in the obese individuals and 83.5% in their normal-weight subjects (<20 ng/mL). Additionally, vitamin D insufficiency (20-29.9 ng/mL) was detected in 14.4% of the obese participants and 14.7% of the normal-weight participants.

Correlations between 25(OH)D and BMI, body fat mass, and body muscle mass are shown in Figures 1, 2, and 3. A negative, weak, and statistically significant relationship was found between 25(OH)D, BMI (p<0.001, r=-0.170), and body fat mass (p<0.01, r=-0.179). Additionally, a positive, weak, and statistically significant relationship was found between muscle mass (p<0.001, r=0.251) and 25(OH)D (Figures 1, 2, 3).

Discussion

The most notable finding in the current study was that serum 25(OH)D levels appeared to be associated with BMI, body fat, and muscle mass. Although no statistically significant difference was observed, median 25(OH)D levels of the obese were lower than those of the normal-weight in the current study. Accordingly, 84.3% of obese individuals were found to have vitamin D deficiency. Although they had higher levels of vitamin D deficiency than those with normal body weight (83.5%), no statistically significant difference was found between the groups. Previous studies have stated that vitamin D deficiency may be a risk factor for obesity. However, the mechanisms behind lower levels of 25(OH)D and higher PTH have not been fully understood. Several hypotheses have been proposed about this relationship (6,9,20,21). Aypak et al. (9) stated that an increase

in BMI causes 25(OH)D levels to decrease and that obese individuals are at risk of 25(OH)D deficiency. In Parikh et al.'s (20) study, that serum 25(OH)D levels of the obese (23.5 ± 12.2 ng/mL) were significantly lower than that of the normal weight individuals (31 ± 14.4 ng/mL). However, Karlsson et al. (21)



Figure 1. Correlation between 25(OH)D level and BMI. A negative, weak and statistically significant relationship was found between 25(OH)D, and BMI (p<0.001, r=-0.170)

BMI: Body mass index



Figure 2. Correlation between 25(OH)D level and body fat mass. A negative, weak and statistically significant relationship was found between 25(OH)D, and body fat mass (p<0.01, r=-0.179)

Table 2. Vitamin D levels of the participant	s according to	BMI categorie	es and gender			
	Obese (n=1	59, 59.4%)		Normal weigh	nt (n=109, 40.6%))
	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Total
Deficiency (<20 ng/mL), n (%)	38 (70.3)	96 (91.4)	134 (84.3)	17 (58.6)	74 (92.5)	91 (83.5)
Insufficiency (20-29.9 ng/mL), n (%)	15 (27.8)	8 (7.6)	23 (14.4)	12 (41.4)	4 (5.0)	16 (14.7)
Normal (≥30 ng/mL), n (%)	1 (1.9)	1 (1.0)	2 (1.3)	-	2 (2.5)	2 (1.8)
	p=0.001*			p<0.001*		
*Pearson chi-square test; BMI: Body mass index						



Figure 3. Correlation between 25(OH)D level and body muscle mass. A positive, weak and statistically significant relationship was found between 25(OH)D, and body muscle mass (p<0.001, r=0.251)

determined that although obese pregnant women received a greater amount of dietary vitamin D than normal-weight women, the former had lower levels of serum 25(OH)D. Likewise, Mai et al. (6) identified a negative relationship between low serum 25(OH)D levels and BMI in the Trøndelag health study (HUNT) on 26.616 adults between the ages of 19-55. In contrast, Karlsson et al. (21) found similar results on the dietary vitamin D levels of the obese and normal-weight individuals.

In this study, the median serum PTH levels of the obese were significantly higher than that of the individuals with normal body weight, which was in concordance with other studies (22,23). The current explanation for this phenomenon is the increased sequestration of 25(OH)D in excess subcutaneous fat, ultimately decreasing the bioavailability of vitamin D for calcium absorption. The diminished availability of serum 25(OH) D causes a compensatory increase in PTH secretion to maintain serum calcium concentrations (22,23). We think that our results confirm this statement.

Moy and Bulgiba (24) identified that women have lower levels of 25(OH)D and a higher frequency of 25(OH)D deficiency. This study also found, in compliance with the literature, that both obese (91.4%) and normal-weight (92.5%) women had significantly higher vitamin D deficiency (<20 ng/mL) than obese (70.3%) and normal-weight men (58.6%). It is speculated that the intersexual difference in 25(OH)D levels originates from the fact that women are less exposed to exposure sunlight exposure than men because of cultural reasons such as different dressing styles. Previous studies have demonstrated that low 25(OH)D levels of the obese were associated with lifestyle factors such as physical activity, alcohol consumption, and smoking status (25,26). Although individuals were assigned to groups based on several factors (such as wearing a headscarf, sociodemographic features, and physical activity level), there were no differences in vitamin D levels between obese and normal-weight individuals. Moreover, studies have stated that low 25(OH)D levels of the obese were associated with dietary factors such as low dietary vitamin D and calcium (25,26). In contrast to these study results, dietary vitamin D and calcium intake were similar between normal and obese subjects.

The finding of lower serum 25(OH)D concentration in higher fat mass in the current study agrees with several other observational studies (27-29). Prior studies largely support a positive association between higher serum 25(OH)D concentration and better muscle mass (30,31). Similarly, this study generated a positive and significant relationship between 25(OH)D levels and muscle mass.

There are some strengths and limitations of this study. First, only a few studies have investigated the link between vitamin D and PTH levels and obesity in Turkey. Second, the author conducted all the interviews, thus ensuring a consistent technique and interpretation of the answers given. However, bias may arise because of the study design and the type of sampling as the work was designed as a pilot study, and therefore, the sample chosen may not represent the general population, and the conclusions cannot be generalized. Future studies should consider multiple centers. Due to the differences in demographic features, geographic regions, assessment methods of 25(OH)D level, and threshold values, it is not easy to compare vitamin D status found in different studies.

Conclusion

This study showed that 25(OH)D deficiency is widespread in obese and normal-weight people and that the differences are not significant. Further studies are warranted to investigate the potential pathological mechanisms and establish optimal strategies to improve vitamin D status in obese and normalweight populations.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the physicians involved in data collection and the women who participated in the study.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Erciyes University, Kayseri, Turkey (approval number: 2013/659, date: 22.11.2013).

Informed Consent: A consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: K.Ü., Concept: G.K., N.İ., Design: G.K., N.İ., E.B., Data Collection or Processing: G.K., E.B., K.Ü., Analysis or Interpretation: G.K., N.İ., E.B., Literature Search: G.K., N.İ., E.B., K.Ü., Writing: G.K., N.İ.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: This work was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK) 3001 Research & Development Projects Funding Program (approval number: 114S043).

References

- Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, et al. The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what 7 clinicians need to know. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:53-58.
- Pilz S, Kienreich K, Rutters F, et al. Role of vitamin D in the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep. 2013;13:261-270.
- Vimaleswaran KS, Cavadino A, Berry DJ, et al. Association of vitamin D status with arterial blood pressure and hypertension risk: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2014;2:719-729.
- Parker J, Hashmi O, Dutton D, et al. Levels of vitamin D and cardiometabolic disorders: systematic review and metaanalysis. Maturitas. 2010;65:225-236.
- Samuel L, Borrell LN. The effect of body mass index on adequacy of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in US adults: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2001 to 2006. Ann Epidemiol. 2014;24:781-784.
- Mai XM, Chen Y, Camargo CA Jr, Langhammer A. Cross-sectional and prospective cohort study of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level and obesity in adults: the HUNT study. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;175:1029-1036.
- Earthman CP, Beckman LM, Masodkar K, Sibley SD. The link between obesity and low circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations: considerations and implications. Int J Obes (Lond). 2012;36:387-396.
- Mason RS, Sequeira VB, Gordon-Thomson C. Vitamin D: the light side of sunshine. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2011;65:986-993.
- Aypak C, Yıkılkan H, Dicle M, Önder Ö, Görpelioğlu S. The relationship of vitamin D status with body mass index among obese adults. Med Bull Haseki. 2013;51:95-98.
- Tosunbayraktar G, Bas M, Kut A, Buyukkaragoz AH. Low serum 25(OH)D levels are associated to higher BMI and metabolic syndrome parameters in adult subjects in Turkey. Afr Health Sci. 2015;15:1161-1169.
- Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 2000;894:i-xii, 1-253.
- Pekcan G. Beslenme Durumunun Saptanması. In: Baysal A, Aksoy M, Besler T, Bozkurt N, Keçecioğlu S et al. (editors).

Diyet El Kitabı, 4th ed. Ankara, Turkey: Hatiboglu Yayınevi; 2010;65-117.

- 13. WHO Expert Consultation. Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. Lancet. 2004;363:157-163.
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:1911-1930.
- 15. The Ministry of Health of Turkey The General Directorate of Primary Health Care. Recommended Safe Level of Intake of Energy and Nutrients for Turkey. In: The Ministry of Health of Turkey The General Directorate of Primary Health Care and Hacettepe University Department of Nutrition and Dietetics (editors). Dietary Guidelines for Turkey, 5th ed. Ankara, Turkey: Onur Matbaacilik; 2006. pp 58-60.
- Ebispro for Windows, Stuttgart, Germany, BEBİS, Turkish version and Data Bases: Bundeslebenmittelschlüssell, 11.3 and other sources. Nutrition Information Systems, 2004.
- Rakıcıoglu N, Tek Acar N, Ayaz A, Pekcan G. Yemek ve Besin Fotograf Katalogu: Ölçü ve miktarlar. 2 nd edit. Ankara, Turkey: Ata Ofset Matbaacılık; 2009.
- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2003;35:1381-1395.
- Lagunova Z, Porojnicu AC, Lindberg F, Hexeberg S, Moan J. The dependency of vitamin D status on body mass index, gender, age and season. Anticancer Res. 2009;29:3713-3720.
- Parikh SJ, Edelman M, Uwaifo GI, et al. The relationship between obesity and serum 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D concentrations in healthy adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89:1196-1199.
- Karlsson T, Andersson L, Hussain A, et al. Lower vitamin D status in obese compared with normal-weight women despite higher vitamin D intake in early pregnancy. Clin Nutr. 2015; 34:892-898.
- Vishnu K, Indumathi S, Harishkiran NE. The study of association of serum parathyroid hormone level with obesity in subjects admitted to a tertiary care centre. Int J Biomed Res. 2018;9:40-44.
- 23. Shirazi L, Almquist M, Malm J, Wirfält E, Manjer J. Determinants of serum levels of vitamin D: a study of life-style, menopausal status, dietary intake, serum calcium, and PTH. BMC Womens Health. 2013;13:33.
- Moy FM, Bulgiba A. High prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency and its association with obesity and metabolic syndrome among Malay adults in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:735.
- Brock K, Huang WY, Fraser DR, et al. Low vitamin D status is associated with physical inactivity, obesity and low vitamin D intake in a large US sample of healthy middle-aged men and women. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2010;121:462-466.
- Ahern T, Khattak A, O'Malley E, et al. Association between vitamin D status and physical function in the severely obese. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99:E1327-E1331.

- 27. Mathieu SV, Fischer K, Dawson-Hughes B, et al. Association between 25-Hydroxyvitamin D status and components of Body Composition and Glucose Metabolism in Older Men and Women. Nutrients. 2018;10:1826.
- Oliai Araghi S, van Dijk SC, Ham AC, et al. BMI and Body Fat Mass Is Inversely Associated with Vitamin D Levels in Older Individuals. J Nutr Health Aging. 2015;19:980-985.
- 29. Jungert A, Neuhäuser-Berthold M. Sex-specific determinants of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 concentrations in an elderly

German cohort: a cross-sectional study. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2015;12:2.

- Shantavasinkul PC, Phanachet P, Puchaiwattananon O, et al. Vitamin D status is a determinant of skeletal muscle mass in obesity according to body fat percentage. Nutrition. 2015;31:801-806.
- Ko MJ, Yun S, Oh K, Kim K. Relation of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status with skeletal muscle mass by sex and age group among Korean adults. Br J Nutr. 2015;114:1838-1844.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.00719 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:159-63



Geographical prevalence of dens invaginatus in the upper lateral teeth of young adult Turkish men

Elif Aybala Oktay¹, Serpil Karaoğlanoğlu¹, Numan Aydın¹, Akın Alper², Bilge Ersöz¹

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dental Treatment, Ankara, Türkiye ²Izmir Katip Celebi University, Ataturk Training and Research Hospital, Hatay Oral and Dental Health Polyclinic, Izmir, Türkiye

Date submitted: 08.05.2021 Date accepted: 11.08.2021 Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Bilge Ersöz, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dental Treatment, Ankara, Türkiye bilge.ersoz@sbu.edu.tr

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0769-0457

Keywords: Dens invaginatus, dental anomaly, lateral incisors

ABSTRACT

Aims: Dens invaginatus, a malformation of teeth caused by infolding of the dental papilla during development or invagination of layers of the enamel organ in dental papillae. Its aetiology is unclear. The present study was conducted to investigate the characteristics of the patients with dens invaginatus anomaly.

Methods: A single-center, cross-sectional, retrospective study was conducted on male subjects aged 18 to 24 years. Dens invaginatus in maxillary lateral incisors were identified using periapical radiographs. The evaluation was performed on patients with and without abnormalities.

Results: A total of 316 records were evaluated and 296 individuals were eligible for the analysis. No abnormality was detected in 210 (70.9%) individuals, whereas 86 individuals (29.1%) had images of dens invaginatus. The abnormalities were bilateral in 59 (19.9%) and unilateral in 27 (9.1%) individuals. Among the 59 individuals with bilateral dens invaginatus, most subjects were from the Marmara region (27.1%). Unilateral dens invaginatus was most frequently detected in the Marmara, Black Sea, and Eastern Anatolia regions.

Conclusions: This study showed that up to one-third of young adult males had images of dens invaginatus on an untargeted screening. The prevalence of dens invaginatus varied across different geographical regions of Turkey.

Introduction

There have been numerous epidemiological studies worldwide to assess the prevalence of different types of dental anomalies. Dental anomalies occur during the embryological and developmental life of the tooth and usually involve a single tooth germ (1,2). Changes in the number, size, shape, structure, and eruption of teeth are associated with dental anomalies (3). While the disorders observed after the teeth complete their normal formation are called "acquired dental anomalies", the disorders that occur during the formation process of the teeth are defined as "developmental dental anomalies" (3-5). Developmental anomalies are generally linked to genetic factors, mutations, metabolic disorders, and environmental factors including physical, chemical, and biological insults (5).

One of the dental anomalies is dens invaginatus (6). Floquet's anomaly in a whale tooth was first noticed in 1794 (7). While efforts have been made recently to explain the cause of dens invaginatus, the underlying cause of this malformation is not exactly known (6). It is generally considered that abnormal pressure by the surrounding tissues on the tooth germ, infections occurring during tooth development, insufficient local development of enamel, stimulation of the tooth buds, epithelial developing disorders, as well as hereditary factors may play a role in the formation of dens invaginatus (7). It is commonly accepted that various genetic and environmental factors may play a role in the development of dens invaginatus (6,8,9). The interaction between mesenchymal and epithelial tissue cells during tooth development are also among the proposed mechanisms (10-12).

This interaction is regulated by different signalling proteins such as fibroblast growth factors, morphogenic bone proteins, tumour necrosis factors, Wnts and sonic hedgehog (13,14). Variations in the genes involved in these signalling pathways affect tooth formation and tooth morphogenesis (13,15,16). A 7g32.25 chromosomal deletion was also reported in a patient with dens invaginatus and multiple tooth anomalies. Although it has been suggested that dens invaginatus develops with focal excessive cell proliferation of the inner enamel epithelium and abnormal growth of the dental papilla. Affected teeth show a deep fold of enamel and dentin that begins at the foramen coecum and even the tip of the tubercles and may extend deep into the root. The most commonly affected teeth are the maxillary lateral incisors, and bilateral occurrence is not uncommon (6,17), external forces from the adjacent teeth, trauma and infections may also contribute to the cause of dens invaginatus (6,8).

Family members of the patients with dens invaginatus are also affected (18) and these lesions are associated with other genetically inherited anomalies, suggesting the heritability of the anomaly (19-21). Given the potential role of the hereditary factors that play an important role in gingiva development, a higher prevalence was observed in people with Down syndrome (22). The lowest prevalence is known to exist in Caucasians (23). Further supporting such associations, an individual lacking chromosome 7q32 was reported to present with dens invaginatus in addition to other dental anomalies such as hypodontia (24).

Dens invaginatus has been reported at a frequency of 0.04% to 10% in the general population. The variations in the prevalence may be associated with the geographical differences, unstandardized diagnostic criteria, and the methods of investigation (25). It occurs mostly in the maxillary lateral sections (42.2%), followed by the maxillary central incisors, canines, premolars, and molars (6,26). Any tooth in the maxillary and mandibular arch may be affected by dens invaginatus, but the maxillary lateral incisors are most affected (6).

Most reports of dens invaginatus are case based in the literature. Only a few studies have assessed the prevalence of dens invaginatus (27,28). Moreover, dens invaginatus malformations are usually detected accidentally on radiographs ordered for other causes (29). It is generally not discovered unless the clinical signs appear, such as an acute dentoalveolar or sinus tract abscess. Currently, the general characteristics of subjects remain weakly described among Turkish young adults.

The aim of this study was to investigate the prevalence and geographical differences of dens invaginatus among subjects admitted to a tertiary outpatient clinic.

Methods

A cross-sectional retrospective, single-centre study was conducted using the radiographs and patient files. The study

included 316 subjects initially, and the final analysis included 296 patients between the ages of 18 and 24 years admitted to the Gulhane Military Hospital outpatient dental clinic from January through September 2010. The sample size was calculated as a minimum of 191 individuals at medium effect level (0.03), 80% power and 0.05 significance level. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (50687469-1491-144-16\1648-453).

Subjects with incomplete records or low-quality radiographs were excluded. Individuals with carious, restored, and fractured teeth, function apical foramen formation, undetectable furcation, and fused roots were also excluded. The presence of dens invaginatus in the maxillary lateral teeth was investigated on periapical radiographs. Radiographs were examined independently by two experienced dentists in a dark room, using an X-ray viewer. Each radiograph exhibiting dens invaginatus was re-examined carefully by both examiners, and a decision was made by consensus.

For each patient with dens invaginatus, demographic variables including age, sex, birth of place within the seven geographical regions of Turkey were retrieved from the medical records.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to display the prevalence (proportion of subjects) of dens invaginatus in the overall sample and subanalyses.

Results

Of the 296 individuals studied, no abnormalities were detected in 210 (70.9%) individuals, dens invaginatus was found in 86 individuals (29.1%). These included bilateral abnormalities in 59 (19.9%) individuals and unilateral abnormalities in 27 (9.2%) individuals (Table 1).

When the geographical origin of individuals without dens invaginatus were evaluated, most (21.9%) originated from Eastern Anatolia, while the lowest occurrence was 4.3% in the Aegean region (Table 1). Among the 59 individuals with bilateral dens invaginatus, most subjects were from the Marmara region (27.1%), while central Anatolia (8.5%), the Mediterranean region (8.5%), and South-Eastern Anatolia (8.5%) had the lowest frequency of bilateral dens invaginatus (8.5%; Table 1). Unilateral dens invaginatus was most frequently detected in the Marmara (18.5%), Black Sea (18.5%), and Eastern Anatolia (18.5%) regions. The lowest unilateral prevalence was in the South-Eastern Anatolia region, with a ratio of 3.7% (Table 1).

Taken together, dens invaginatus occurred most frequently in the Marmara region, and least prevalence was in South-Eastern Anatolia (Table 1).

Table 1. Prevalence of dens invaginatus anomaly in maxillary lateral teeth according to different regions of Turkey						
Region In upper lateral term Marmara N 38		In upper lateral	In upper lateral teeth dens invaginatus			
		Bilateral DI	Unilateral DI	Total		
Marmara	N	38	16	5	59	
	% within teeth	18.1	27.1	18.5	19.9	
Plack Soo	Ν	35	9	5	49	
DIACK SEA	% within teeth	16.7	15.3	18.5	16.6	
Control Anotolia	Ν	33	5	3	41	
Central Anatolia	% within teeth	15.7	8.5	11.1	13.9	
Accor	Ν	9	9	4	22	
Aegean	% within teeth	4.3	15.3	14.8	7.4	
Maditarrangan	Ν	24	5	4	33	
Mediterrariean	% within teeth	11.4	8.5	14.8	11.1	
Eastern Anatolia	Ν	46	10	5	61	
Eastern Anatolia	% within teeth	21.9	16.9	18.5	20.6	
South Eastern Anatolia	Ν	25	5	1	31	
South-Eastern Anatolia	% within teeth	11.9	8.5	3.7	10.5	
Total	Ν	210	59	27	296	
10(a)	% within teeth	70.9	19.9	9.2	100.0	

DI: Dens invaginatus

Discussion

The cause of dens invaginatus is uncertain, however, it appears that both genetic and environmental factors play a role. Although the findings from previous studies that examined the influence of genetic factors have suggested that primitive races had fewer anomalies than "civilized" humans, and higher prevalence of dens invaginatus was observed in ancient Chinese teeth 2000 years ago than in modern humans (30). Researchers have also identified that dental anomalies varies by race, with a higher prevalence in Mongoloid people, lower prevalence in Negroid people, and a very low frequency in Caucasians (30).

Oehlers has suggested that it dens invaginatus is the result of external forces exerting an effect on the tooth germ during development (23). Such forces could originate from the adjacent tooth infections, for example, the central incisor or canine, which develop at least 6 months before the lateral incisor (31). Other external factors, such as trauma and infection, have also been suggested as potential causes (6,32).

Very few studies have addressed the prevalence of dens invaginatus in different populations, most of which have been case reports. Overall, the prevalence of dens invaginatus varies across different populations. An earlier study has reported worldwide prevalence of dens invaginatus as 7.74% ranging from 0.04% to 10% (33). Cakici et al. (29) and Kirzioğlu and Ceyhan (34) reported a 1.3% and 12% prevalance of dens invaginatus, respectively, among Turkish dental patients. Hamasha and Alomari (27) reported the prevalence of dens invaginatus 0.65% per individual and 43.2% for all teeth among

Jordanian individuals. In our study we observed dens in 29.1% of the participants in the maxillary lateral incisors of 296 Turkish men. The teeth in both the maxillary and mandibular arches may be affected by dens invaginatus, but the permanent maxillary lateral incisors are the most involved teeth (35,36). In the study by Cakici et al. (29) dens invaginatus was observed in 13 (1.3%) of 1012 teeth on anterior teeth and in 16 of 2011 (0.8%) maxillary lateral incisors. Additionally, in the study by Boyne (37), the prevalence of teeth with dens invaginatus was 0.3% in 1000 maxillary lateral incisors (38).

When only the anterior teeth are considered, the prevalence of dens invaginatus has been reported by 0.02% (39). This number was considerably lower than the findings by Cakici et al. (29) (0.8%) and by Kirzioğlu and Ceyhan (34) (0.8%) among the Turkish population. The rate of dental invaginatus of anterior teeth among Iranian subjects was also found higher by 5.8% in a study by Poyton and Morgan (40), whereas much lower prevalence of 0.25% was reported by other authors in the same population (41). These variations in the prevalence of dens invaginatus in different populations may be due to ethnic variations but may also be influenced by differences in the criteria used for interpretation of dens invaginatus, as well as the specific teeth examined, and geographical differences (25,38,42). According to previous studies conducted in the Turkish population, dens invaginatus occurs equally in men and women (29,33).

In the literature, there are numerous studies indicating that the dens invaginatus abnormality is generally observed under a bilateral condition (26). The appearance of symmetric dens invaginatus was considered as a common finding by some authors. However, it has also been reported that bilateral dens invaginatus may be related to other dental anomalies, such as germination, gemination, fusion, and taurodontism (43). Colak et al. (39) found that bilateral dens invaginatus occurred in 25% (3 of 15) of cases, and Çakıcı et al. (29) observed that it was 23.1% among the Turkish population and 24.5% among the Jordanian population (27). In the current study, dens invaginatus was observed bilaterally in 59 of 296 individuals (19.9%). The variation may be explained by marked differences in the sample size, case selection, and the methods used. Thus, further investigations are necessary to clarify this issue.

Our results have shown that there are regional and ethno-racial variations in the prevalence of dens invaginatus anomalies. The highest prevalence among the 59 affected individuals was detected in the Marmara region (27.1%). Central Anatolia, the Mediterranean region, and South-Eastern Anatolia showed a lower frequency of bilateral prevalence (8.5%). When we examined the rate of unilateral dens invaginatus, a higher rate was observed in the Marmara region (18.5%), Black Sea (18.5%), and Eastern Anatolia (18.5%), when compared with the other regions. The lowest rate in unilateral dens invaginatus rate was in the South-Eastern Anatolia (3.7%) region, like the prevalence of bilateral dens invaginatus. Marmara region is a developed and densely populated region of Turkey. On the other hand, the potential causes of higher rates of dens invaginatus in this region need to investigated.

This study was limited by its retrospective design, single center design, small sample size, and poor generalizability of results to a larger population.

Conclusion

This study showed that up to one-third of young adult males had images of dens invaginatus on an untargeted screening. The prevalence of dens invaginatus varied across different geographical regions of Turkey. On the other hand, due to the relatively small sample size of this study, the prevalence of dens invaginatus should be considered with caution, as they may not be representative of the overall Turkish population. Further large-scale multicentre studies are therefore required to assess its prevalence in the general population.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the Academy Research Ethics Committee (50687469-1491-144-16\1648-453).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: E.A.O., A.A., Design: E.A.O., Data Collection or Processing: S.K., N.A., A.A., B.E., Analysis or Interpretation: N.A., Literature Search: E.A.O., A.A., Writing: E.A.O., S.K., N.A., B.E.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Pereira AJ, Fidel RA, Fidel SR. Maxillary lateral incisor with two root canals: fusion, gemination or dens invaginatus? Braz Dent J. 2000;11:141-146.
- Goren S, Tsoizner R, Dinbar A, Levin L, Brezniak N. [Prevalence of congenitally missing teeth in Israeli recruits]. Refuat Hapeh Vehashinayim (1993). 2005;22:49-53.
- 3. White SC, Pharoah MJ. Oral radiology: Principles and interpretation. 5th ed., St Louis; Mosby, 2004;330-365.
- Can Karabulut DC, Er F, Orhan K, Solak H, Karabulut B, Aksoy S, Cengiz E, Basmacı F, Aksoy U. Kuzey Kıbrıs Türk Cumhuriyetindeki yetişkin popülasyonda dişlerde görülen gelişimsel şekil ve boyut anomalilerinin yaygınlığı. S.Ü Dişhek. Fak. Derg. 2011:53:154-161.
- Kazanci F, Celikoglu M, Miloglu O, Ceylan I, Kamak H. Frequency and distribution of developmental anomalies in the permanent teeth of a Turkish orthodontic patient population. J. Dent. Sci. 2011;6:82-89.
- Hülsmann M. Dens invaginatus: aetiology, classification, prevalence, diagnosis, and treatment considerations. Int Endod J. 1997;30:79-90.
- Casamossimo PS, Nowak AJ, Ettinger RL, Schlenker DJ. An unusual triad: mikrodontia, taurodontia, and dens invaginatus. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1978;45:107-112.
- Alani A, Bishop K. Dens invaginatus. Part 1: classification, prevalence and aetiology. Int Endod J. 2008;41:1123-1136.
- Gündüz K, Çelenk P, Canger EM, Zengin Z, Sümer P. A retrospective study of the prevalence and characteristics of dens invaginatus in a sample of the Turkish population. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2013;18:e27-e32.
- Luukko K, Kettunen P. Coordination of tooth morphogenesis and neuronal development through tissue interactions: lessons from mouse models. Exp Cell Res. 2014;325:72-77.
- Thesleff I, Vaahtokari A, Vainio S, Jowett A. Molecular mechanisms of cell and tissue interactions during early tooth development. Anat Rec. 1996;245:151-161.
- 12. Thesleff I, Hurmerinta K. Tissue interactions in tooth development. Differentiation. 1981;18:75-88.
- Miletich I, Sharpe PT. Normal and abnormal dental development. Hum Mol Genet. 2003;12 Spec No 1:R69-R73.
- Brook AH. Multilevel complex interactions between genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors in the aetiology of anomalies of dental development. Arch Oral Biol. 2009;54(Suppl 1):S3-S17.

- Dassule HR, Lewis P, Bei M, Maas R, McMahon AP. Sonic hedgehog regulates growth and morphogenesis of the tooth. Development. 2000;127:4775-4785.
- Kettunen P, Laurikkala J, Itäranta P, Vainio S, Itoh N, Thesleff I. Associations of FGF-3 and FGF-10 with signaling networks regulating tooth morphogenesis. Dev Dyn. 2000;219:322-332.
- Chen YH, Tseng CC, Harn WM. Dens invaginatus. Review of formation and morphology with 2 case reports. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1998;86:347-352.
- Grahnen H, Lindahl B, Omnell K. Dens invaginatus. I. A clinical, roentgenological and genetical study of permanent upper lateral incisors. Odontol Revy. 1959;10:115-137.
- Peck S, Peck L, Kataja M. Prevalence of tooth agenesis and peg-shaped maxillary lateral incisor associated with palatally displaced canine (PDC) anomaly. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 1996;110:441-443.
- Segura JJ, Hattab F, Rios V. Maxillary canine transpositions in two brothers and one sister: associated dental anomalies and genetic basis. ASDC J Dent Child. 2002;69:54-58.
- 21. Kansu O, Avcu N. Mandibular lateral incisor-canine transposition associated with dental anomalies. Clin Anat. 2005;18:446-448.
- Cho SY, Ki Y, Chu V, Chan J. Concomitant developmental dental anomalies in Chinese children with dens evaginatus. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2006;16:247-251.
- Oehlers FA. Dens invaginatus (dilated composite odontome). I. Variations of the invagination process and associated anterior crown forms. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1957;10:1204-1218.
- 24. Pokala P, Acs G. A constellation of dental anomalies in a chromosomal deletion syndrome (7q32): case report. Pediatr Dent. 1994;16:306-309.
- Ridell K, Mejàre I, Matsson L. Dens invaginatus: a retrospective study of prophylactic invagination treatment. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2001;11:92-97.
- Bimstein E, Shteyer A. Dilated type of dens invaginatus in permanent dentition: report of a case and review of literature. ASDC J Dent Child. 1976;43:410-413.
- 27. Hamasha AA, Alomari QD. Prevalence of dens invaginatus in Jordanian adults. Int Endod J. 2004;37:307-310.
- Zhu J, Wang X, Fang Y, Von den Hoff JW, Meng L. An update on the diagnosis and treatment of dens invaginatus. Aust Dent J. 2017;62:261-275.

- Cakici F, Celikoglu M, Arslan H, Topcuoglu HS, Erdogan AS. Assessment of the prevalence and characteristics of dens invaginatus in a sample of Turkish Anatolian population. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2010;15:e855-e858.
- Shi S, Duan X, Shao J, Duan Q, Peng S. Dens invaginatus in ancient Chinese teeth of 2,000 years ago. Anat Rec (Hoboken). 2013;296:1628-1633.
- Segura JJ, Hattab F, Ríos V. Maxillary canine transpositions in two brothers and one sister: associated dental anomalies and genetic basis. ASDC J Dent Child. 2002;69:54-58.
- Rushton MA. Invaginated teeth (dens in dente): contents of the invagination. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1958;11:1378-1387.
- 33. Thomas JG. A study of dens in dente. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1974;38:653-655.
- Kirzioğlu Z, Ceyhan D. The prevalence of anterior teeth with dens invaginatus in the western Mediterranean region of Turkey. Int Endod J. 2009;42:727-734.
- 35. de Sousa SM, Bramante CM. Dens invaginatus: treatment choices. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1998;14:152-158.
- Uysal S, Nazikoglu A, Avcu N, Müftüoglu S. Dens in dente and fusion occuring in two supernumerary teeth: report of an unusual case. The Journal of Hacettepe Faculty of Dentistry. 2006;30:54-59.
- Boyne PJ. Dens in dente: report of three cases. J Am Dent Assoc. 1952;45:208-209.
- Thongudomporn U, Freer TJ. Prevalence of dental anomalies in orthodontic patients. Aust Dent J. 1998;43:395-398.
- Colak H, Tan E, Aylıkçı BU, Uzgur R, Turkal, Hamidi MM. Radiographic study of the prevalence of dens invaginatus in a sample set of Turkish dental patients. J Clin Imaging Sci. 2012;2:34.
- 40. Poyton HG, Morgan GA. Dens in dente. Dent Radiogr Photogr. 1966;39:27-33.
- Ezoddini AF, Sheikhha MH, Ahmadi H. Prevalence of dental developmental anomalies: a radiographic study. Community Dent Health. 2007;24:140-144.
- Ruprecht A, Sastry KA, Batniji S, Lambourne A. The clinical significance of dental invagination. J Pedod. 1987;11:176-181.
- Hovland EJ, Block RM. Nonrecognition and subsequent endodontic treatment of dens invaginatus. J Endod. 1977;3:360-362.

164

Clinical outcomes and feasibility of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in elderly patients

Ahmet Burak Çiftci, Sönmez Ocak, Ahmet Can Sarı

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, Samsun, Türkiye

Date submitted: 14.05.2021 Date accepted: 09.07.2021 Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Ahmet Burak Çiftci, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, Samsun, Türkiye drburakciftci@yahoo.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1814-4008

Keywords: Laparoscopic cholecystectomy, adult patient, elderly patient, feasibility, cholelithiasis

Presented in: This work was orally presented in "International Aegean Symposiums on Natural & Medical Sciences-II" on September 18-20, 2020.

ABSTRACT

Aims: Laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) is considered to be the gold standard treatment of symptomatic cholelithiasis and acute cholecystitis. However, there is still a controversy about this approach in elderly patients. In some cases, surgeons tend to postpone the LC in elderly patients due to a higher risk of complications. This study evaluated the feasibility of LC in elderly patients, in a comparative approach with adult age patients.

Methods: We retrospectively analyzed patients who were operated on with a diagnosis of cholelithiasis or acute cholecystitis at Samsun Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery Unit between December 2015 and December 2019. The patients were divided into two groups: adult age (<65 years of age) and elderly (≥65 years of age). Basic characteristics, American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) scores, preoperative ultrasonography (USG) findings and laboratory results, preoperative history of acute cholecystitis or pancreatitis attack, surgery type, complications, length of hospital stay, intensive care unit (ICU) admissions, operation time and mortality were compared between the groups.

Results: The study included 620 patients (age, mean±standard deviation; 52 ± 14.9 , female 73%), of whom 481 were in the adult group (age, mean±standard deviation; 46 ± 11.5 , female 74.7%) and 139 (age, mean±standard deviation; 71 ± 5.8 , female 67.7%) were in the elderly group. Patients in the elderly group had higher ASA scores compared with the adult age group (ASA 3; 27.3% vs. 5.8%, p<0.001). Preoperative acute cholecystitis findings on USG (3.7% vs. 7.1%, p=0.08) and history of previous cholecystitis/pancreatitis (19.1% vs. 26.6%, p=0.055) were comparable between the groups. Postoperative complication rates (2.5% vs. 5.7%, p=0.055) and severity of complications according to the Clavien-Dindo (CD) classification (CD 1-2; 1.6% vs. 2.8%, p=0.456) were similar in the two groups. The length of hospital stay (2.5 \pm 1.6 days vs. 3.2 \pm 2.2 days, p=0.028) and the rate of ICU admission (2.9% vs. 20.8%) were significantly higher in the elderly group compared with the adult age patients.

Conclusions: LC is overall a safe and feasible treatment strategy with low complication rates in elderly patients. However, the risk of longer hospital stay and ICU admission were found higher than adult age patients in the current study.

Introduction

Laparoscopic cholecystectomy (LC) is one of the most common abdominal surgeries in the world. It is superior to less pain and faster recovery times than primary open surgery. It also offers a safe and cost-effective procedure compared with open cholecystectomy (1). After German surgeon Erich Mühe performed LC for the first time in 1985, French surgeon Philip Mouret performed the first LC in 1987 (2). With the advances in surgical skills and technology, LC has become the gold standard surgery for gallstone diseases and acute cholecystitis (3,4).

The incidence of cholelithiasis and acute cholecystitis increases with age (4,5). The population of the world is aging, necessitating improvements in healthcare services and quality of life. While the global population is still growing, the number of people aged 65 or over is estimated to more than double between 2019 and 2050 (6). It is suggested that due to the comorbidities in the elderly patients, more complications can be

[®]Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

observed especially when performing a laparoscopic operation (7). Age-related comorbidities are considered the most important factors that may increase postoperative morbidity and mortality (8). Also, there is still controversy about the feasibility of LC in elderly patients in the literature (9). This study investigated the feasibility of LC in elderly patients compared with adult age patients.

Methods

This retrospective study enrolled patients aged 18 years or older who underwent cholecystectomy (open, laparoscopic, or converted to open) in University of Health Sciences Türkiye Samsun Training and Research Hospital, General Surgery Unit between December 2015 and December 2019. A total of 661 records were initially identified. Patients who underwent primary open cholecystectomy (n=32) and patients with missing data (n=9) were excluded. The study protocol was approved by the Non-invasive Investigation Ethics Committee of our hospital.

The screened indications for surgery were acute cholecystitis, biliary pancreatitis, symptomatic cholelithiasis, and gallbladder polyposis. The patients who underwent emergency surgery due to gallbladder perforations and gangrenous cholecystitis were also included in the study. The patients who were operated on 72 h after emergency admission were categorized as the emergency surgery group. Patients who underwent percutaneous cholecystostomy were excluded from this study. The diagnosis of acute cholecystitis was made by clinically right upper quadrant pain, Murphy sign, and 38 °C or higher body temperature, leukocytosis, gallbladder wall thickening, gallbladder distention, and pericholecystic fluid collection on ultrasonography (USG) or computed tomography.

The participants were classified into two groups: <65 years of age (adult group) and \geq 65 years of age (elderly group). Age, gender, American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) scores, preoperative USG findings (acute cholecystitis, cholelithiasis, and gallbladder polyposis), preoperative laboratory tests [complete blood counts, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase, albumin, and bilirubin levels], comorbidities, type of surgery (laparoscopic and conversion to open), complications, length of hospital stay, intensive care unit (ICU) admission and mortality were recorded. Clavien-Dindo (CD) classification was used to determine the severity of complications (10). CD score \geq 3 was compared with a CD score <3 in the two groups.

LC technique applied in our surgery clinic in the examined period of the study was the standard North American four ports technique (11). Pneumoperitoneum in this approach is established using a Veress needle or Hasson cannula according to the surgeon's choice and the patient's history of past abdominal surgery. After careful dissection, the cystic duct and artery are clipped and cut. An epigastric port site is used to retrieve the gallbladder. Routine intraoperative cholangiography is not used. The use of drain tubes is chosen by the surgeon on demand. Dense adhesions, evidence of common bile duct injury, and uncontrollable hemorrhage are the main reasons for conversion to open surgery. When conversion to open cholecystectomy is needed a subcostal incision is used. Prophylactic antibiotics are used in all operations.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics for Windows, version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) was used for all statistical analysis. Quantitative variables were presented as means±standard deviation (SD) and medians (1st quartile-3rd quartile). Categorical variables were expressed as percentages. When comparing two groups the chi-square test was used to compare nominal variables. The Student's t-test was used for normally distributed data and the Mann-Whitney U test for nonnormally distributed data. P<0.05 was considered the level of statistical significance.

Results

A total of 620 patients (age, mean±SD; 52 ± 14.9 , female 73%) were eligible for the study. Of these, 481 (77.5%) (age, mean±SD; 46±11.5, female 74.7%) were adult patients and 139 (22.5%) (age, mean±SD; 71±5.8, female 67.7%) were elderly (Table 1). There was no gender difference between the two groups. A significant difference was observed in terms of ASA classification. While the proportion of ASA grade 3 and grade 4 in the elderly patient group was 27.3% and 1.4% respectively, this rate was 5.8% and 0.2% in the adult age group. Similar to this finding, the number of of comorbidities was higher in the elderly group. The most common comorbidity was hypertension in both groups (5.4% vs. 15.1%, respectively).

The proportion of patients with preoperative acute cholecystitis on USG was similar between the groups (p=0.08) (Table 1). Preoperative white blood cell count, hemoglobin, AST, and direct bilirubin levels were also similar (Table 2).

Postoperative complication rate was higher in the elderly patient group, however, the difference was marginally nonsignificant (2.5% vs 5.7%, p=0.055). There was no significant difference in the degree of complications between the groups (Table 3). The list of complications are listed in Table 4. While postoperative bleeding was more frequent in the adult age group, bile leakage, wound infection, and other surgery-related complications were similarly recorded in the two groups.

Most operations were completed laparoscopically in both groups (98.3% versus 95.6%). However, 8 (1.7%) patients in the adult age group and 6 (4.4%) patients in the elderly group required conversion to open cholecystectomy, mainly because of the difficulty in gallbladder exposure with unclear anatomy and safety issues. The conversion rate between the groups was statistically similar (p=0.064). No deaths were recorded in the whole sample.

Table 1. Basic demographic and clinical charact	eristics		
	Age <65 years (n=481)	Age ≥65 years (n=139)	р
Age, years, mean ± SD	46.39±11.57	71.82±5.82	<0.001
Sex			
Female, n (%)	359 (74.7)	94 (67.7)	0.101
ASA classification, n (%)			
ASA1	174 (36.1)	32 (23)	
ASA2	278 (57.7)	67 (48.2)	<0.001
ASA3	28 (5.8)	38 (27.3)	<0.001
ASA4	1 (0.2)	2 (1.4)	
Preoperative USG findings, n (%)			
Acute cholecystitis	18 (3.7)	10 (7.1)	
Cholelithiasis	421 (87.5)	127 (91.3)	0.08
Gallbladder polyps	42 (8.8)	2 (1.4)	
Previous cholecystitis/pancreatitis, n (%)	92 (19.1)	37 (26.6)	0.055
Comorbidities, n (%)			
Hypertension	26 (5.4)	21 (15.1)	<0.001
CAD/CHF	17 (3.5)	19 (13.6)	<0.001
Diabetes mellitus	16 (3.3)	10 (7.1)	0.044
COPD/asthma	22 (4.5)	6 (4.3)	0.898
CD: Standard doviation ASA: American Society of Aposthosia	agista LISC: Liltragonography CAD: Coro	any artarial diagona, CHE: Congrativa	hoart failura CORD:

SD: Standard deviation, ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists, USG: Ultrasonography, CAD: Coronary arterial disease, CHF: Congestive heart failure, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Table 2. Preoperative laboratory res	ults		
	Age <65 years (n=481)	Age ≥65 years (n=139)	р
WBC count (1,000/mL)	7.4 (6.2-8.8)	7.0 (6.0-8.9)	0.971
Hb value (g/dL)	13.3 (12.2-14.4)	13.0 (12.1-14.1)	0.161
Albumin (g/dL)	4.2 (4.0-4.5)	4.0 (3.8-4.3)	<0.001
AST (U/L)	22 (18-27)	22 (19-27)	0.841
ALT (U/L)	20 (15-30)	18 (14-26)	0.049
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	0.5 (0.4-0.7)	0.6 (0.4-0.8)	0.047
Direct bilirubin (mg/dL)	0.1 (0.1-0.1)	0.1 (0.1-0.2)	0.102

Values are presented as median (1st quartile-3rd quartile). WBC: White blood cell, Hb: Hemoglobin, AST: Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase

Table 3. Surgical outcomes			
	Age <65 years (n=481)	Age ≥65 years (n=139)	р
Surgery type, n (%)			
Laparoscopic	473 (98.3)	133 (95.6)	0.064
Conversion to open	8 (1.7)	6 (4.4)	- 0.004
Complication, any, n (%)	12 (2.5)	8 (5.7)	0.055
Clavien-Dindo classification, n (%)			
Grade 1-2	8 (1.6)	4 (2.8)	0.456
Grade 3-5	4 (0.8)	4 (2.8)	- 0.450
Length of hospital stay, days, mean±SD*	2.5±1.6	3.2±2.2	<0.001
Intensive care unit requirement, n (%)	14 (2.9)	29 (20.8)	<0.001
Operation time, minutes, median (1 st quartile-3 rd quartile)	49 (39-59)	49 (39-60)	0.450
Mortality, n (%)	0	0	
SD: Standard deviation			

Table 4. Major complications			
Complications, n (%)	Age <65 years (n=12)	Age ≥65 years (n=8)	
Bile duct injury	2 (16.6)	0	
Bile leak	2 (16.6)	2 (25.0)	
Postoperative bleeding	3 (25.0)	1 (12.5)	
Wound infection	2 (16.6)	2 (25.0)	
Surgery related to other complications (ileus, trocar hernia)	2 (16.6)	2 (25.0)	
Pulmonary complications (atelectasis, pneumonia)	1 (8.3)	1 (12.5)	

Discussion

Although LC is considered the gold standard method for treating gallbladder diseases, it remains a challenge for surgeons in elderly patients. Owing to the high-risk comorbidities and reduced physiological reserves, elderly patients are likely to have more complications after surgery (7,12-15). Recent publications have reported almost 30% of elderly patients who have gallbladder diseases are not operated due to the fear of age-dependent comorbidities (16). However, it is also well known that non-operative treatment options may cause recurrent biliary problems.

In this study, we observed significantly higher ASA scores in the elderly patients who underwent LC. However, preoperative USG findings, sex distribution, and preoperative history of acute cholecystitis or pancreatitis were similar between the adult age and elderly groups. These findings were comparable with the literature (5,7,14,17).

When the adult age and elderly groups were compared for the postoperative outcomes, the length of hospital stay and the rate of ICU admission were higher in the elderly group. However, conversion to open surgery, operation time and the rates of complications were similar in our study. In parallel to our findings, Bhandari et al. (18) found no significant differerences in the mean operation time and complication rates between the age groups. On the other hand, despite the similarities in overall complication rates, elderly patients had slightly more severe complications (grade 3 or higher) than adult patients according to the CD classification. The severity of complications and preoperative comorbid conditions could be linked to longer length of hospital stay and higher ICU admission rates in the elderly group.

In a retrospective study, van Heesewijk et al. (3) found more complication rates in the elderly patients. In our study, we also found more complication rates in elderly patients (2.5% vs 5.7%) but the difference was not statistically significant. According to the CD classification system, low severity complications (grade 1-2) were more common in our total study group. This finding is consistent with the existing literature (13,16).

The reported conversion rates in previous studies varied from 1.5% to 20% in elderly patients (16). We found a 4.4% conversion rate in the older age group, which was not significantly different from the adult age group. In our study, we did not analyze the patients with primary open cholecystectomy mainly to demonstrate the safety of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in elderly patients. On the other hand, Fukami et al. (14) included primary open cholecystectomies in their study and reported a higher rate of primary open cases in the octogenarian group. They stated that in high-risk patients (i.e., severe cardiac disease) their choice was not LC.

Previous studies have reported mortality rates between 0 and 1.6% after LC in elderly patients (8,19). In octogenarian patients, the rate of mortality increases beyond 6% (3,14,18,20). However, no mortality was recorded in our study.

This study has some limitations. First, the design of this study was retrospective. Therefore, a selection bias and missing data may not be neglicable. Second, we excluded patient who were treated with percutaneous cholecystostomy. This treatment method is not commonly used in our surgery department due to the lack of experienced interventional radiologists. And lastly, we did not analyze the long-term effects of complications, as we focused on early complications. Bile duct injury and bile leaks can lead to further operations and interventions like endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) and nasobiliary tube placement. These patients may have benign biliary strictures or past cholangitis events. Therefore, their quality of life may have been impaired.

Conclusion

This study revealed statistically similar rates of postoperative complications and conversion rates between elderly and adult patients who underwent LC. The results overall suggest that LC in elderly patients is safe and feasible with acceptable complication rates.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Samsun Training and Research Hospital of Noninvasive Investigation Ethics Committee (protocol number: GOKA/2019/3/12, date: 25.12.2019).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Medical Surgical and Practices: A.B.Ç., A.C.S., A.B.Ç., Collection Concept: A.B.Ç., Design: Data Processing: A.B.C., S.O., A.B.Ç., Analysis or or Interpretation: A.B.Ç., S.O., A.B.Ç., Literature Search: A.B.Ç., A.B.C., Writing: A.B.C.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Kais H, Hershkovitz Y, Abu-Snina Y, Chikman B, Halevy A. Different setups of laparoscopic cholecystectomy: conversion and complication rates: a retrospective cohort study. Int J Surg. 2014;12:1258-1261.
- W Reynolds Jr. The First Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy. JSLS. 2001;5:89-94.
- van Heesewijk AE, Lammerts RGM, Haveman JW, Meerdink M, van Leeuwen BL, Pol RA. Outcome after cholecystectomy in the elderly. Am J Surg. 2019;218:368-373.
- 4. Yetkin G, Uludag M, Oba S, Citgez B, Paksoy I. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy in elderly patients. JSLS. 2009;13:587-591.
- Agrusa A, Romano G, Frazzetta G, Chianetta D, Sorce V, Di Buono G, et al. Role and outcomes of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the elderly. Int J Surg. 2014;12(Suppl 2):S37-S9.
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. World Population Prospects 2019: Highlights (ST/ESA/SER.A/423). Available from: https:// population.un.org/wpp/publications/files/wpp2019_highlights. pdf
- 7. Shin MS, Park SH. Clinical outcomes of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in elderly patients after preoperative assessment and optimization of comorbidities. Ann Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg. 2018;22:374-379.
- Tagle F, Lavergne J, Barkin J, Unger S. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the elderly. Surg Endosc. 1997;11:636-638.

- 9. Lill S, Rantala A, Vahlberg T, Gronroos JM. Elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy: the effect of age on conversions, complications and long-term results. Dig Surg. 2011;28:205-209.
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg. 2004;240:205-213.
- Kum C, Eypasch E, Aljaziri A, Troidl H. Randomized comparison of pulmonary function after the 'French' and 'American' techniques of laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Br J Surg. 1996;83:938-941.
- Bingener J, Richards M, Schwesinger W, Strodel W, Sirinek K. Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy for Elderly Patients Gold Standard for Golden Years? Arch Surg. 2003;138:531-536.
- Brunt LM, Quasebarth MA, Dunnegan DL, Soper NJ. Outcomes analysis of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the extremely elderly. Surg Endosc. 2001;15:700-705.
- Fukami Y, Kurumiya Y, Mizuno K, Sekoguchi E, Kobayashi S. Cholecystectomy in octogenarians: be careful. Updates Surg. 2014;66:265-268.
- Soper NJ, Stockmann P, Dunnegan DL, Ashley S. Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy The New 'Gold Standard'? Arch Surg. 1992;127:917-923.
- Lord AC, Hicks G, Pearce B, Tanno L, Pucher PH. Safety and outcomes of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the extremely elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Chir Belg. 2019;119:349-356.
- Kim HO, Yun JW, Shin JH, Hwang SI, Cho YK, Son BH, et al. Outcome of laparoscopic cholecystectomy is not influenced by chronological age in the elderly. World J Gastroenterol. 2009;15:722-726.
- Bhandari TR, Shahi S, Bhandari R, Poudel R. Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy in the Elderly: An Experience at a Tertiary Care Hospital in Western Nepal. Surg Res Pract. 2017;2017:8204578.
- Ballesta Lopez C, Cid JA, Poves I, Bettonica C, Villegas L, Memon MA. Laparoscopic surgery in the elderly patient. Surg Endosc. 2003;17:333-337.
- Pessaux P, Tuech J-J, Derouet N, Rouge C, Regenet N, Arnaud J-PJSe. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the elderly: a prospective study. Surg Endosc. 2000;14:1067-1069.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.07379 Gulhane Med J 2022:64:169-77



169

Evaluation of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on pain, stress, sleep and quality of life in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain

🖻 Elzem Bolkan Günaydın, 🖻 Mustafa Çağrı Öcalan, 🕏 Aslıhan Uzunkulaoğlu, 🛡 Saime Ay

Ufuk University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 13.06.2021 Date accepted: 02.12.2021 Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Elzem Bolkan Günaydın M.D., Ufuk University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Ankara, Türkiye elzembolkan@yahoo.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4000-6947

Keywords: COVID-19, chronic pain, anxiety, sleep

ABSTRACT

Aims: The study aimed to evaluate the association between the novel Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic and the level of pain, stress, sleep quality, and quality of life in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain.

Methods: This cross-sectional study included patients aged 18-65 years with chronic musculoskeletal pain. Age, gender, body mass index, systemic diseases, dominant pain area, duration of pain, analgesic use, and exercise habit before and after the pandemic were recorded. Participants were asked to evaluate their pain severity and global assessments in the last month and the pre-pandemic period with a visual analog scale (VAS). The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), and The Nottingham Health Profile (NHP) were administered

Results: The study included 100 participants (age, mean ± SD: 42.8±12.5 years, female: 69%). Compared with the pre-pandemic period, an increase in pain and global assessment scores, and poorer sleep hygiene in the last month were reported by 82%, 67%, and 66%, respectively. Pain severity VAS score (pre-pandemic: 3.9±2 vs. post-pandemic: 5.9±2.1, p<0.001), global assessment VAS score (pre-pandemic: 3.8±2 vs. post-pandemic: 5.6±2.3, p<0.001), the proportion of patients using routine analgesics (pre-pandemic: 44% vs. post-pandemic: 52%, p=0.008), and the number of routine analgesics (pre-pandemic: 10.4±18.6 vs. post-pandemic: 15.3 \pm 24, p<0.001) in the last month was significantly more compared to the pre-pandemic period. There were no significant differences in pain score, patient's global assessment score, the number of routine analgesics, PSS-14, PSQI, NHP-1, and NHP-2 scores between subjects with and without a history of COVID-19.

Conclusions: In patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain, an increase in pain severity, analgesic use, and deterioration in general well-being were observed during the COVID-19 pandemic. The pronounced changes were not found to be dependent on the history of COVID-19.

Introduction

Chronic pain is defined as persistent or recurrent pain that lasts longer than three months or exceeds the normal tissue healing time (1). It is evaluated in 7 categories as primary, posttraumatic/post-surgical, cancer-related, neuropathic, visceral, musculoskeletal, and head/orofacial pain (2). Chronic musculoskeletal pain is one of the most common complaints in routine clinical practice (3). The prevalence of chronic pain in the general population is around 20%, and it is a common worldwide condition that causes limitations in daily living activities, disability, and a decrease in quality of life (4-7). It is a clinical picture with high personal, social, and economic burdens (8,9).

Chronic pain is a biopsychosocial model with biological, cognitive, affective, emotional, and social problems (10,11). Many factors, such as demographic factors (such as age and occupation), lifestyle-related factors (such as alcohol use,

Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

smoking, and physical activity), mental health conditions (such as past pain experiences, and traumatic events), physical factors, and genetic factors are associated with the development of chronic pain (11,12).

The novel Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has had negative impacts on chronic pain conditions in many ways (3,5,11,13-16). One of the first conditions associated with COVID-19 is chronic pain that occurs as a component of the postviral syndrome and has been linked to virus-associated organ damage (11). Although COVID-19 infection mainly affects the lungs and internal organs, musculoskeletal system damage is also prevalent (3,15). Pain, particularly myalgia and low back pain, is among the early symptoms of COVID-19 infections (16). Additionally, since most chronic pain patients are at an advanced age and have comorbidities, the risk of COVID-19 is considered to be increased (13,15,16). Restricting the admission to healthcare services due to fear of infection is another situation that supports chronicity in painful situations (16). Other conditions associated with chronic pain in the COVID-19 pandemic are worsening of pre-existing physical or mental complaints and emerging chronic pain due to pandemicrelated risk factors such as poor sleep, inactivity, fear, anxiety, and depression in people with no previous chronic pain and a history of COVID-19 (11).

Infection control strategies for pandemics around the world support home isolation (16). Many elective patient examinations and surgical procedures have been postponed, and access to non-emergency healthcare services has been restricted (5,13,16,17). It has become more difficult than ever for patients with chronic pain to access appropriate treatment time in a reasonable time (3,5,13,14,16). Disruptions in the follow-up and treatment of the patients can increase pain, decrease functionality, increase analgesic use, and deteriorate the quality of life (18). Difficulties in access to medical care and isolation can not only have a negative impact on pain management and psychological conditions but also increase the burden of patients with chronic pain (5,16,18). However, life-related psychosocial stressors such as decreased interpersonal relationships, isolation, fear of illness, future anxiety, and financial difficulties brought about by the pandemic may cause pain to exacerbate in patients with chronic pain (19). Thus, pain management is considered particularly important in the COVID-19 pandemic (3).

The aim of this study aimed to evaluate the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on pain, stress, sleep, and quality of life in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain and the relationships between them.

Methods

Study design and participants

In this single-center, cross-sectional study, patients aged 18-65 years who presented with chronic (more than three

months) musculoskeletal pain were consecutively enrolled, between January 2021 and March 2021. The exclusion criteria had a history of trauma and surgical intervention in the last three months, inflammatory rheumatic disease, chronic severe systemic or neurological disease, and moderate to severe impairment of cognitive status determined by the Mini-Mental State test (20). Ethics committee approval was obtained from the institutional review board (Ethics Committee of AYBÜ Yenimahalle Training and Research Hospital, Turkey, decision number/date: 2020-3-16/16.12.2020). The participants provided informed consent, and the study conformed to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration principles were followed (ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier: NCT04878900/04.05.2021).

Data collection

The primary outcome measures of the study were; general pain severity and global well-being assessment with the visual analog scale (VAS) (21) in the pre-pandemic period and the last month, the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) (22), the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (23), and the Nottingham Health Profile (NHP) (24) scale scores. Age, gender, body mass index (BMI), and systemic diseases of the participants were recorded as demographic data. Dominant pain area in the musculoskeletal system, duration of pain, routine use of analgesics, and exercise habits before and after the pandemic were recorded. Information about the personal history of COVID-19 or the relatives of the participants was also collected. Then, the participants were asked to evaluate their general pain severity and global wellbeing assessment with the VAS in the pre-pandemic period and the last month. The patients marked their pain severity on a line of 10 centimeters (cm) with the starting point (0) expressing no pain, and the endpoint (10) indicating the most severe pain experienced in life. On the patient's global assessment scale. the patients marked their global assessment on a line of 10 centimeters (cm) with the starting point (0) expressing very good and the endpoint (10) indicating very bad. The distance between the point marked by the patient and the starting point was measured. The higher the measured value meant the greater the severity of pain and the worse the patient's global assessment (21).

The Perceived Stress Scale

The PSS is a scale developed by Cohen et al. (22) to evaluate how stressful some situations in life are perceived by the individual. A Turkish validity and reliability study of the scale was conducted by Eskin et al. (25). The long form of the scale consists of 14 items. The situations given in each item are evaluated with a 5-point Likert-type scale (0=never, 1=almost never, 2= sometimes, 3= fairly often, 4= very often). Seven items with positive statements are scored in the reverse. The scale has two short forms consisting of 10 and 4 items. The total score ranges from 0-56 for PSS-14, 0-40 for PSS-10, and 0-16 for PSS-4. The higher the scores, the greater the person's perception of stress (22,25).

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

The PSQI is a scale developed by Buysse et al. (23) designed to evaluate sleep quality and disorders. A Turkish validity and reliability study of the scale was conducted by Agargun et al. (26). These consisted of 24 questions. Nineteen questions are self-assessment questions, and five questions are assessment guestions made by their spouse or roommate. Questions about the evaluations made by the spouse or roommate are not taken into consideration in the score calculation. Eighteen question items were used for scoring. The scale consists of 7 components: subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbance, use of sleep medication, and daytime dysfunction. While some components consist of a single question item, some are formed by grouping several items. Each component is scored between 0 and 3 points, and the sum of the component scores gives the total score of the scale. The higher the total score which can vary between 0 and 21, the worse the sleep quality. A total score greater than 5 indicates poor sleep quality (23,26).

The Nottingham Health Profile

The NHP is a general health status scale developed by the European Group for Quality of Life and Health Measurement that evaluates perceived problems in physical, emotional, and social areas and how these problems affect daily activities (24). The adaptation study of the scale to Turkish was published by Kücükdeveci et al. (27). The questions in the first part of the scale are about the health status of the people, and the questions in the second part are about the effects of their health status on daily life. The first part consists of 38 items in which each item is marked yes or no. This section has 6 sub-dimensions: pain, emotional reactions, sleep, social isolation, and physical mobility and energy. Each question in the sub-dimensions has a different score weight, and each sub-dimension is scored between 0 and 100. The sum of all sub-scores gives the total score of the first part of the scale. The higher the score, the worse the perception of quality of life regarding health status. The second part consists of 7 items that question whether there are problems in the daily life areas that are most probably affected by the health condition of the person, such as work-life, housework, social life, interpersonal relationships, sexual life, hobbies, and holidays, each item is marked yes or no (24).

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics for Windows, version 20.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). The conformity of the variables to normal distribution was examined by visual (histogram and probability charts) and analytical methods (Kolmogorov-Smirnov/Shapiro-Wilk's) and the homogeneity of variances using the Levene test. In descriptive analyses, continuous variables were expressed as mean and standard deviation, and categorical variables as numbers and percentages. In comparisons between dependent groups, the dependent groups' t-test was used for numerical data that met parametric test conditions, the Wilcoxon test for data that did not, and McNemar's test for categorical data. Mann-Whitney U test was used for numerical data, and the chi-square test was used for categorical data in comparisons between independent groups. To examine the relationships between variables, Pearson correlation analysis (two-tailed) was used for variables that both conformed to the normal distribution, and the Spearman test (two-tailed) was used for variables, at least one of which did not conform to the normal distribution. Possible risk factors for increased pain severity, patients' global assessment, and poor sleep quality were analyzed using logistic regression analysis. The model fit assessment was made using the Hosmer-Lemeshow test. The statistical significance level was accepted as p=0.05.

Results

Basic characteristics

The study included 100 participants (age, mean ± SD: 42.8±12.5 years, female: 69%). In the last month, compared with the pre-pandemic period, 82% of the patients had an increase in their pain scores, 67% of the patients had an increase in the patients' global assessment scores, and 65.9% of the patients who used routine analgesics (29% of all patients) had an increase in the number of analgesics they used routinely. The body areas where the pain was most dominant were low back in 31, neck in 20, lower extremity in 19, upper back in 17, and upper extremity in 13 patients. While 16% of the patients had a personal history of COVID-19 and 13% of their relatives, 71% were free of COVID-19 history. There was a history of systemic disease in 28% of the patients. There was asthma in 5% (n=5), diabetes mellitus in 8% (n=8), hypertension in 13% (n=13), and coronary artery disease in 3% (n=3). The basic characteristics are shown in Table 1.

Outcome analyses

In the last month, compared to the pre-pandemic period, the pain severity VAS score (p<0.001), the patient's global assessment VAS score (p<0.001), the number of patients using routine analgesics (p=0.008), and the number of routine analgesics (p<0.001) were significantly higher. The number of patients who exercised regularly in the pre-pandemic period was significantly higher than the number of patients who exercised regularly in the last month (p=0.02). The comparison results of the variables in the pre-pandemic period and the last month are given in Table 2. In 66% of the patients, the PSQI score was above five, which indicates poor sleep quality. Descriptive results for the scales included in the study are given in Table 1.

There were no statistically significant differences between patients with and without a personal history of COVID-19 or in their relatives in terms of age, gender, BMI, pain duration,

Table 1. Busic characteristics and descriptive results of the seales	
Age-years, mean±SD (range)	42.8±12.5 (23-65)
Gender, n (%)	
Female	69 (69)
Male	31 (31)
BMI-kg/m², mean±SD (range)	26.1±5.3 (18.5-48.8)
Systemic disease history, n (%)	
Yes	28 (28)
No	72 (72)
Pain duration-months, mean±SD (range)	52.6±51.8 (12-240)
COVID-19 history, n (%)	
No	71 (71)
COVID-19 history in the person	16 (16)
COVID-19 history in the person's relatives	13 (13)
Increase in the pain score, n (%)	
Yes	82 (82)
No	18 (18)
Increase in the patient's global assessment score, n (%)	
Yes	67 (67)
No	33 (33)
Increase in the amount of routine analgesics, n (%)	
Yes	29 (29)
No	15 (15)
PSS, mean±SD (range)	
- PSS-14	25.1±7.7 (6-46)
- PSS-14 - PSS-10	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34)
- PSS-14 - PSS-10 - PSS-4	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34) 6.9±2.8 (0-14)
- PSS-14 - PSS-10 - PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range)	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34) 6.9±2.8 (0-14)
- PSS-14 - PSS-10 - PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) - Subjective sleep quality	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34) 6.9±2.8 (0-14) 1.4±0.7 (0-3)
- PSS-14 - PSS-10 - PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) - Subjective sleep quality - Sleep latency	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34) 6.9±2.8 (0-14) 1.4±0.7 (0-3) 1.5±1 (0-3)
- PSS-14 - PSS-10 - PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) - Subjective sleep quality - Sleep latency - Sleep duration	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34) 6.9±2.8 (0-14) 1.4±0.7 (0-3) 1.5±1 (0-3) 1±0.8 (0-3)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency 	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34) 6.9±2.8 (0-14) 1.4±0.7 (0-3) 1.5±1 (0-3) 1±0.8 (0-3) 0.5±0.8 (0-3)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance 	25.1±7.7 (6-46) 18±5.9 (4-34) 6.9±2.8 (0-14) 1.4±0.7 (0-3) 1.5±1 (0-3) 1±0.8 (0-3) 0.5±0.8 (0-3) 1.6±0.6 (0-3)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication 	$25.1\pm7.7 (6-46)$ $18\pm5.9 (4-34)$ $6.9\pm2.8 (0-14)$ $1.4\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.5\pm1 (0-3)$ $1\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $0.5\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $1.6\pm0.6 (0-3)$ $0.2\pm0.7 (0-3)$
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction 	$25.1\pm7.7 (6-46)$ $18\pm5.9 (4-34)$ $6.9\pm2.8 (0-14)$ $1.4\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.5\pm1 (0-3)$ $1\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $0.5\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $1.6\pm0.6 (0-3)$ $0.2\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.1\pm0.9 (0-3)$
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total 	$25.1\pm7.7 (6-46)$ $18\pm5.9 (4-34)$ $6.9\pm2.8 (0-14)$ $1.4\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.5\pm1 (0-3)$ $1\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $0.5\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $1.6\pm0.6 (0-3)$ $0.2\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.1\pm0.9 (0-3)$ $7.4\pm3.3 (1-17)$
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17) 66 (66) 2.1 (0.1)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No 	$25.1\pm7.7 (6-46)$ $18\pm5.9 (4-34)$ $6.9\pm2.8 (0-14)$ $1.4\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.5\pm1 (0-3)$ $1\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $0.5\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $1.6\pm0.6 (0-3)$ $0.2\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.1\pm0.9 (0-3)$ $7.4\pm3.3 (1-17)$ $66 (66)$ $34 (34)$
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17) 66 (66) 34 (34)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) Pain 	$25.1\pm7.7 (6-46)$ $18\pm5.9 (4-34)$ $6.9\pm2.8 (0-14)$ $1.4\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.5\pm1 (0-3)$ $1\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $0.5\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $1.6\pm0.6 (0-3)$ $0.2\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.1\pm0.9 (0-3)$ $7.4\pm3.3 (1-17)$ $66 (66)$ $34 (34)$ $40.6\pm30.9 (0-100)$
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) Pain Emotional reactions 	$25.1\pm7.7 (6-46)$ $18\pm5.9 (4-34)$ $6.9\pm2.8 (0-14)$ $1.4\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.5\pm1 (0-3)$ $1\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $0.5\pm0.8 (0-3)$ $1.6\pm0.6 (0-3)$ $0.2\pm0.7 (0-3)$ $1.1\pm0.9 (0-3)$ $7.4\pm3.3 (1-17)$ $66 (66)$ $34 (34)$ $40.6\pm30.9 (0-100)$ $28.2\pm32.3 (0-100)$
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) Pain Emotional reactions Sleep 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17) 66 (66) 34 (34) 40.6 \pm 30.9 (0-100) 28.2 \pm 32.3 (0-100) 30 \pm 31 (0-100)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) Pain Emotional reactions Sleep Social isolation 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17) 66 (66) 34 (34) 40.6 \pm 30.9 (0-100) 28.2 \pm 32.3 (0-100) 30 \pm 31 (0-100) 15.8 \pm 25.7 (0-100)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) Pain Emotional reactions Sleep Social isolation Physical mobility 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17) 66 (66) 34 (34) 40.6 \pm 30.9 (0-100) 28.2 \pm 32.3 (0-100) 30 \pm 31 (0-100) 15.8 \pm 25.7 (0-100) 20.1 \pm 21 (0-88.5) 24.9 \pm 0.4 (0.400)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) Pain Emotional reactions Sleep Social isolation Physical mobility Energy 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17) 66 (66) 34 (34) 40.6 \pm 30.9 (0-100) 28.2 \pm 32.3 (0-100) 30 \pm 31 (0-100) 15.8 \pm 25.7 (0-100) 20.1 \pm 21 (0-88.5) 34.6 \pm 39.4 (0-100)
 PSS-14 PSS-10 PSS-4 PSQI, mean±SD (range) Subjective sleep quality Sleep latency Sleep duration Habitual sleep efficiency Sleep disturbance Use of sleep medication Daytime dysfunction Total PSQI >5, n (%) Yes No NHP-1, mean±SD (range) Pain Emotional reactions Sleep Social isolation Physical mobility Energy Total 	25.1 \pm 7.7 (6-46) 18 \pm 5.9 (4-34) 6.9 \pm 2.8 (0-14) 1.4 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.5 \pm 1 (0-3) 1 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 0.5 \pm 0.8 (0-3) 1.6 \pm 0.6 (0-3) 0.2 \pm 0.7 (0-3) 1.1 \pm 0.9 (0-3) 7.4 \pm 3.3 (1-17) 66 (66) 34 (34) 40.6 \pm 30.9 (0-100) 28.2 \pm 32.3 (0-100) 30 \pm 31 (0-100) 15.8 \pm 25.7 (0-100) 20.1 \pm 21 (0-88.5) 34.6 \pm 39.4 (0-100) 168.7 \pm 125.3 (0-479.8) 45.54 (0-10)

BMI: Body mass index, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, PSS: Perceived Stress Scale, PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, NHP: Nottingham Health Profile, SD: Standard deviation

last month vs. pre-pandemic differences in pain score, patient's global assessment score, the number of routine analgesics, PSS-14 score, PSQI total score, NHP-1, and NHP-2 scores. Among patients without a personal history of COVID-19 or in their relatives, PSQI-sleep time (p=0.05), PSQI-sleep disorder (p=0.02), NHP-1-sleep duration (p=0.02), and NHP-1-physical (p=0.02) sub-scores were significantly higher compared to the participants any history of COVID-19. There were no statistically significant differences between other sub-scores of the scales between the groups (all p>0.05). The number of participants with a history of systemic disease was statistically significantly higher than the group without a personal history of COVID-19 or in their relatives compared to the participants with any history of

COVID-19 (p=0.02). The results of the comparison of variables between the groups with and without a personal history of COVID-19 or in their relatives are given in Table 3.

There were strong positive correlations between the differences in pain score and patient's global assessment score (r=0.71, p<0.001). A moderate positive correlation between NHP-1 total score and NHP-2 score (r=0.60, p<0.001); age and BMI (r=0.53, p<0.001); PSS-14 score and NHP-1 score (r=0.58, p<0.001) and PSQI total score and NHP-1 total score (r=0.52, p<0.001) were also observed. Other correlations between the evaluated variables were low or insignificant level or statistically insignificant (Table 4).

Table 2. The comparison of variables between the pre-pandemic period and the last month					
	Pre-pandemic period	Last month	р		
Pain severity VAS score, mean±SD (range)	3.9±2 (0-7)	5.9±2.1 (1-10)	<0.001*		
Patient's global assesment VAS score, mean±SD (range)	3.8±2 (0-10)	5.6±2.3 (0-10)	<0.001*		
Presence of using routine analgesics, n (%)					
Yes	44 (44)	52 (52)	0.000*		
No	56 (56)	48 (48)	0.000		
Number of analgesics/month, mean±SD (range)	10.4±18.6 (1-90)	15.3±24 (1-120)	<0.001*		
Regular exercise, n (%)					
Yes	32	22	0.020*		
No	68	78	0.020		
*Statistical significance level p=0.05. VAS: Visual analog scale, SD: Standard deviation					

Table 3. Comparisons of variables between the groups with and without a personal of COVID-19 or in their relatives					
	COVID-19 history (+)	COVID-19 history (+)	р		
Age-years, mean±SD (range)	39.5±12.4 (23-65)	44.1±12.4 (23-65)	0.06		
Gender, n (%)					
Female	18 (62.1)	51 (71.8)	0.34		
Male	11 (37.9)	20 (28.2)	0.54		
BMI-kg/m ² , mean±SD (range)	24.8±3.1 (18.5-31.3)	26.6±5.9 (18.7-48.8)	0.19		
Presence of systemic disease history, n (%)					
Yes	13 (44.8)	15 (21.1)	0.02*		
No	16 (55.2)	56 (78.9)			
Pain duration-months, mean±SD (range)	51.3±56.8 (12-240)	53.1±50 (12-240)	0.88		
Difference in pain scores, mean±SD (range)	1.3±1.9 [(-4.3)-(4.4)]	2.3±2.2 [(-2.7)-(7)]	0.09		
Difference in patient's global assessment scores, mean±SD (range)	1.2±1.9 [(-4.2)-(6)]	1.9±2.3 [(-2)-(8)]	0.22		
Difference in the amount of routine analgesics, mean±SD (range)	9.3±13.6 (0-30)	3.2±5.6 (0-30)	0.89		
PSS-14, mean±SD (range)	25.6±7.7 (10-40)	25±7.7 (6-46)	0.71		
PSQI total, mean±SD (range)	6.8±2.7 (2-13)	7.6±3.5 (1-17)	0.33		
NHP-1, mean±SD (range)	135.9±116.5 (0-382.7)	182.1±127.1 (0-479.8)	0.07		
NHP-2, mean±SD (range)	1.4±2.1 (0-7)	1.5±1.8 (0-7)	0.27		

*Statistical significance level p=0.05.

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019, BMI: Body mass index, PSS: Perceived Stress Scale, PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, NHP: Nottingham Health Profile, SD: Standard deviation

Table 4. Correlation analysis amor	ng the study va	riables							
	Age	BMI	Difference in pain scores	Difference in patient's global assessment scores	Difference in the amount of routine analgesics	PSS-14 score	PSQI total score	NHP-1 total score	NHP-2 total score
Age		r=0.53 p<0.001**	r=0.09 p=0.39	r=0.04 p=0.66	r=0.004 p=0.98	r=-0.09 p=0.35	r=-0.09 p=0.39	r=0.12 p=0.21	r=0.19 p=0.06
BMI	r=0.53 p<0.001**		r=0.14 p=0.16	r=0.06 p=0.56	r=-0.19 p=0.21	r=-0.07 p=0.46	r=0.01 p=0.89	r=0.21 p=0.04*	r=0.13 p=0.19
Difference in pain scores	r=0.09 p=0.39	r=0.14 p=0.16		r=0.71 p<0.001**	r=0.29 p=0.05	r=0.20 p=0.05*	r=0.13 p=0.20	r=0.26 p=0.008*	r=0.22 p=0.03*
Difference in patient's global assesment score	r=0.04 p=0.66	r=0.06 p=0.56	r=0.71 p<0.001**		r=0.32 p=0.03*	r=0.27 p=0.006**	r=0.21 p=0.04*	r=0.29 p=0.003**	r=0.26 p=0.009**
Difference in the amount of routine analgesics	r=0.004 p=0.98	r=-0.19 p=0.21	r=0.29 p=0.05	r=0.32 p=0.03*		r=0.16 p=0.30	r=0.29 p=0.05	r=0.21 p=0.17	r=0.33 p=0.03*
PSS-14 score	r=-0.09 p=0.35	r=-0.07 p=0.46	r=0.20 p=0.05*	r=0.27 p=0.006**	r=0.16 p=0.30		r=0.38 p<0.001**	r=0.58 p<0.001**	r=0.40 p<0.001**
PSQI total score	r=-0.09 p=0.39	r=0.01 p=0.89	r=0.13 p=0.20	r=0.21 p=0.04*	r=0.29 p=0.05	r=0.38 p<0.001**		r=0.52 p<0.001**	r=0.28 p=0.004**
NHP-1 total score	r=0.12 p=0.21	r=0.21 p=0.04*	r=0.26 p=0.008*	r=0.29 p=0.003**	r=0.21 p=0.17	r=0.58 p<0.001**	r=0.52 p<0.001**		r=0.60 p<0.001**
NHP-2 total score	r=0.19 p=0.06	r=0.13 p=0.19	r=0.22 p=0.03*	r=0.26 p=0.009**	r=0.33 p=0.03*	r=0.40 p<0.001**	r=0.28 p=0.004**	r=0.60 p<0.001**	
Statistical significance level of the correlation BMI: Body mass index. PSS: Perceived Stre	n. *p=0.05 (2-tailed) sss Scale. PSOI: Pitt	and **p=0.01 (2- tsburah Sleep Qu	tailed). alitv Index. NHP: No	ottingham Health Profi	le. SD: Standard dev	iation. COVID-19: (Coronavirus disease	e-2019	

Logistic regression analyses indicated that the increase in the patient's global assessment score was a significant risk factor [Odds ratio: (OR): 2.7 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.5-5, p=0.001] for the increase in pain score (in any amount) in the last month compared with the pre-pandemic period (Table 5). Age, gender, BMI, presence of systemic disease, history of COVID-19, duration of pain, decrease in exercise (reported by the patient), PSS-14 score, and PSQI total score were not independently associated with increased pain score in the post-pandemic period. Additionally, the increase in the pain score was a statistically significant risk factor [OR: 2.1 (95% CI): 1.5-3, p<0.001] for the increase in the patient's global assessment score (in any amount) in the last month compared to the pre-pandemic (Table 5). Age, gender, BMI, presence of systemic disease, history of COVID-19, duration of pain, decrease in exercise, PSS-14 score, and total PSQI score were not independently associated with an increased patient's global assessment score in the post-pandemic period. Also, advanced age was a statistically significant risk factor [OR: 0.95 (95% CI): 0.90-1, p=0.04] for poor sleep quality, which was determined by the total PSQI value greater than 5 (Table 5). Gender, BMI, presence of systemic disease. COVID-19 history, pain duration, decrease in exercise, PSS-14 score, increases in the pain severity score, and the patient's global assessment score in the last month was not independently associated with poor sleep quality.

Discussion

In this study, among patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain, we found an increase in pain scores and global assessment scores by 82% and 67%, respectively, in the last month compared to the pre-pandemic period. Moreover, 65.9% of the patients who used routine analgesics showed an increase in the number of analgesics they used routinely. The pain severity VAS scores the patient's global assessment VAS score, and routine analgesics use were significantly higher in the last month compared to the pre-pandemic period. The PSQI score was above 5, which indicated poor sleep quality in 66% of the participants. Several authors have emphasized that the pandemic and

Table 5. Logistic regression analysis						
	Increase in pair	n score	Increase in the global assessm	patient's lent score	Poor sleep qua	lity
Risk factors	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р
Increase in pain score	-	-	2.1 (1.5-3.0)	<0.001	-	-
Increase in the patient's global assessment score	2.7 (1.5-5.0)	0.001	-	-	-	-
Age	-	-	-	-	0.95 (0.90-1.0)	0.04
OR: Odds ratio, CI: Confidence intervals (only the signific	ant associates are sh	iown)				

guarantine measures leading to social isolation have brought an increase in pain, sedentariness, mood disorders, fatigue, and the need for analgesics in patients with chronic pain (28-32). Among patients with rheumatic pain, 37.4% had worsening disease activity assessed by pain, stiffness, and fatigue, and 75.7% had emotional disturbances during the COVID-19 pandemic. Similar to our study, when only non-inflammatory conditions are considered, worsening in pain was reported in 50% and mood disturbances in 74% in cases of osteoarthritis/ osteoporosis, whereas worsening in pain was reported in 63.6%, mood worsening in 87.7% in cases of fibromyalgia (33). In another study, Nieto et al. (34) reported that 70.8% of chronic pain patients had an increase in general pain severity, 79.1% experienced deterioration in sleep, and 79.9% had deterioration in physical activity during the pandemic period. Lacasse et al. (30) evaluated the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on pharmacological, physical, and psychological pain treatments in patients with chronic pain and demonstrated that 38.3% of the patients made some changes in their pharmacological treatments, and in 40.5% of these individuals, the underlying cause was reported as COVID-related conditions. The most common reported cause (in 11.5%) was worsening of pain. We observed that there was an increase in routine analgesic use during the pandemic period compared with the pre-pandemic period. Similarly, in a study by López-Medina et al. (33), nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use was significantly higher in the group with worsening rheumatic disease activity. In summary, when the results of our study and the sample studies mentioned are evaluated together, it can be said that the pandemic process has negative effects on the chronic pain picture.

Lacasse et al. (30) reported that restricting access to exercise opportunities in patients with chronic pain was the most common reason for the change in physical therapy components of patients with chronic pain (30). Similarly, in our study, the proportion of patients who exercised regularly in the pre-pandemic period was significantly higher than the proportion of patients who exercised regularly in the last month. In other words, it can be said that the pandemic process affects exercise habits negatively.

We observed that the only statistically significant risk factor for the pain score increase in the last month compared to the pre-pandemic period was the patient's global assessment score increase, for the patient's global assessment score increase in the last month compared to the pre-pandemic period was the pain score increase, for the poor sleep quality was advanced age. Age, gender, BMI, presence of systemic disease, history of COVID-19, duration of pain, decrease in exercise, PSS-14 score, and PSQI total score were not found to be significant risk factors for the pain score increase, the patient's global assessment score increase, and the poor sleep quality. Different results have been reported in the literature regarding the relationships between factors associated with chronic pain. In the study of Nieto et al. (34), it was reported that there were relationships between sleep problems and physical activity change, general well-being, mood, changes in pain, and disability; but there were no significant relationships between sleep problems and age, pain duration. López-Medina et al. (33) stated that, when examined, the factors related to disease activity in rheumatic pain, lack of exercise, anxiety, or feeling sad were statistically significant risk factors, while age and gender were not significant risk factors. In the study by Lacasse et al. (30), they reported that the change in pain severity during the pandemic period, the presence of psychological stress symptoms, and the change in physical treatment modalities including exercise practices were related to the change in pharmacological pain treatments, while pain duration, COVID-19 history, age, and gender were not found to be significant risk factors.

In our study, we observed that high perceived stress and low sleep quality were not significant risk factors for an increase in chronic pain. Similarly, in the study of Nieto et al. (34), it was reported that while stress and sleep disorders were reported more frequently as pain triggers in the pre-pandemic period, future anxiety, feeling of insecurity, negative thoughts, sadness, loneliness, sedentariness, and fear of infecting COVID-19 were reported more frequently as pain triggers during the pandemic period. In contrast, Shevlin et al. (35) reported that COVID-19related anxiety was positively correlated with general anxiety and the severity of somatic symptoms, including pain and fatigue. The reason why we observed that they did not have significant effects on pain increases during the pandemic process may be that sleep and stress disorders are already common in chronic painful conditions. A review by Clauw et al. (11) emphasized that the COVID-19 pandemic would inevitably increase chronic pain because it is a stressful life event. Life-related psychosocial stressors such as reduction in interpersonal relationships, isolation, fear of illness, anxiety for the future, and financial difficulties, which are the consequences of the pandemic, may cause exacerbation of pain in patients with chronic pain (19). In our study, we observed that there were no significant differences between the participants with or without a personal history of COVID-19 or in their relatives in terms of the pain score difference, patient's global assessment score, and the number of routine analgesics differences between the last month and the pre-pandemic period. This suggests that psychosocial stressors that come with the pandemic process, rather than the COVID-19 disease history, are the main factors affecting chronic painful conditions.

Our study has some limitations. First, the retrospective evaluation of the pain severity and global assessment of the participants for the pre-pandemic period may have reduced the reliability of the relevant data. Second, among the problems related to the mood that may affect chronic pain, only anxiety was evaluated. Finally, the evaluation of general anxiety, not COVID-19-specific anxiety, is another limitation of the study. There is a need for studies that will more comprehensively evaluate the psychological and socio-economic problems brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic. These studies will be able to provide clearer information about the points to be considered in pain management in patients with chronic pain during the pandemic period.

Conclusion

In patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain, there was an increase in pain severity and analgesic use and deterioration in general well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. These effects were independent of the history of COVID-19 in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was obtained from the Institutional Review Board (Ethics Committee of AYBÜ Yenimahalle Training and Research Hospital, Turkey, decision number/date: 2020-3-16/16.12.2020).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: E.B.G., M.Ç.Ö., A.U., S.A., Concept: E.B.G., M.Ç.Ö., A.U., S.A., Design: E.B.G., M.Ç.Ö., A.U., S.A., Data Collection or Processing: E.B.G., M.Ç.Ö., A.U., S.A., Analysis or Interpretation: E.B.G., M.Ç.Ö., A.U., S.A., Literature Search: E.B.G., M.Ç.Ö., A.U., S.A., Writing: E.B.G., M.Ç.Ö., A.U., S.A. **Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Harvey AM. Classification of Chronic Pain-Descriptions of Chronic Pain Syndromes and Definitions of Pain Terms. Merskey H, ed. Clin J Pain. 1995;11:163.
- 2. Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, et al. A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. Pain. 2015;156:1003-1007.
- Wang CC, Chao JK, Chang YH, Chou CL, Kao CL. Care for patients with musculoskeletal pain during the COVID-19 pandemic: Physical therapy and rehabilitation suggestions for pain management. J Chin Med Assoc. 2020;83:822-824.
- Parker L, Moran GM, Roberts LM, Calvert M, McCahon D. The burden of common chronic disease on health-related quality of life in an elderly community-dwelling population in the UK. Fam Pract. 2014;31:557-563.
- de Moraes ÉB, Santos Garcia JB, de Macedo Antunes J, Daher DV, Seixas FL, Muniz Ferrari MF. Chronic Pain Management during the Covid-19 Pandemic: A Scoping Review. Pain Manag Nurs. 2021;22:103-110.
- Latina R, De Marinis MG, Giordano F, et al. Epidemiology of Chronic Pain in the Latium Region, Italy: A Cross-Sectional Study on the Clinical Characteristics of Patients Attending Pain Clinics. Pain Manag Nurs. 2019;20:373-381.
- Fayaz A, Croft P, Langford RM, Donaldson LJ, Jones GT. Prevalence of chronic pain in the UK: a systematic review and meta-analysis of population studies. BMJ Open. 2016;6:e010364.
- Langley P, Müller-Schwefe G, Nicolaou A, Liedgens H, Pergolizzi J, Varrassi G. The societal impact of pain in the European Union: health-related quality of life and healthcare resource utilization. J Med Econ. 2010;13:571-581.
- 9. Gaskin DJ, Richard P. The economic costs of pain in the United States. J Pain. 2012;13:715-724.
- Stein C. Opioids, sensory systems and chronic pain. Eur J Pharmacol. 2013;716:179-187.
- Clauw DJ, Häuser W, Cohen SP, Fitzcharles MA. Considering the potential for an increase in chronic pain after the COVID-19 pandemic. Pain. 2020;161:1694-1697.
- Mills SEE, Nicolson KP, Smith BH. Chronic pain: a review of its epidemiology and associated factors in population-based studies. Br J Anaesth. 2019;123:e273-e283.
- Shanthanna H, Strand NH, Provenzano DA, et al. Caring for patients with pain during the COVID-19 pandemic: consensus recommendations from an international expert panel. Anaesthesia. 2020;75:935-944.
- Cohen SP, Baber ZB, Buvanendran A, et al. Pain management Best Practices from Multispecialty Organizations During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Public Health Crises. Pain Med. 2020;21:1331-1346.
- Ragni E, Mangiavini L, Viganò M, et al. Management of Osteoarthritis During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2020;108:719-729.

- Puntillo F, Giglio M, Brienza N, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on chronic pain management: Looking for the best way to deliver care. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. 2020;34:529-537.
- Murphy MT, Latif U. Pain During COVID-19: A Comprehensive Review and Guide for the Interventionalist. Pain Pract. 2021;21:132-143.
- Deer TR, Sayed D, Pope JE, et al. Emergence from the COVID-19 Pandemic and the Care of Chronic Pain: Guidance for the Interventionalist. Anesth Analg. 2020;131:387-394.
- Karos K, McParland JL, Bunzli S, et al. The social threats of COVID-19 for people with chronic pain. Pain. 2020;161:2229-2235.
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res. 1975;12:189-198.
- Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska T, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ), Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2011;63 Suppl 11:S240-S252.
- 22. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav. 1983;24:385-396.
- 23. Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. Psychiatry Res. 1989;28:193-213.
- Hunt SM, McEwen J, McKenna SP. Measuring health status: a new tool for clinicians and epidemiologists. J R Coll Gen Pract. 1985;35:185-188.
- Eskin M, Harlak H, Demirkiran F, Dereboy Ç. The adaptation of the perceived stress scale into Turkish: A reliability and validity analysis. New/Yeni Symposium Journal. 2013;51:132-140.
- Agargun MY, Kara H, Anlar O. The validity and reliability of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Turkish Journal of Psychiatry. 1996;7:107-115.

- Kücükdeveci AA, McKenna SP, Kutlay S, Gürsel Y, Whalley D, Arasil T. The development and psychometric assessment of the Turkish version of the Nottingham Health Profile. Int J Rehabil Res. 2000;23:31-38.
- Carrillo-de-la-Peña MT, González-Villar A, Triñanes Y. Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on chronic pain in Spain: a scoping review. Pain Rep. 2021;6:e899.
- Meyer-Frießem CH, Gierthmühlen J, Baron R, Sommer C, Üçeyler N, Enax-Krumova EK. Pain during and after COVID-19 in Germany and worldwide: a narrative review of current knowledge. Pain Rep. 2021;6:e893.
- Lacasse A, Pagé MG, Dassieu L, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the pharmacological, physical, and psychological treatments of pain: findings from the Chronic Pain & COVID-19 Pan-Canadian Study. Pain Rep. 2021;6:e891.
- Saccomanno S, Bernabei M, Scoppa F, Pirino A, Mastrapasqua R, Visco MA. Coronavirus Lockdown as a major life stressor: Does it affect tmd symptoms? Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17:8907.
- 32. Asquini G, Bianchi AE, Borromeo G, Locatelli M, Falla D. The impact of Covid-19-related distress on general health, oral behaviour, psychosocial features, disability and pain intensity in a cohort of Italian patients with temporomandibular disorders. PLoS One. 2021;16:e0245999.
- López-Medina C, Ladehesa-Pineda L, Gómez-García I, et al. Treatment adherence during the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of confinement on disease activity and emotional status: A survey in 644 rheumatic patients. Joint Bone Spine. 2021;88:105085.
- Nieto R, Pardo R, Sora B, Feliu-Soler A, Luciano JV. Impact of COVID-19 Lockdown Measures on Spanish People with Chronic Pain: An Online Study Survey. J Clin Med. 2020;9:3558.
- Shevlin M, Nolan E, Owczarek M, et al. COVID-19-related anxiety predicts somatic symptoms in the UK population. Br J Health Psychol. 2020;25:875-882.



Factors associated with treatment outcome of tuberculosis in Bale Robe General Hospital, Southeastern Ethiopia: A retrospective study

Ø Addisu Assefa Tadesse¹, Ø Yeshumnesh Belete Gebrewold¹, Ø Helmut Kloos²

¹Madda Walabu University, College of Natural and Computational Science, Department of Biology, Ethiopia, Africa ²University of California, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, San Francisco, USA

Date submitted: 04.08.2021 Date accepted: 11.11.2021 Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Addisu Assefa Tadesse, Ph.D., Madda Walabu University, College of Natural and Computational Science, Department of Biology, Ethiopia, Africa assefaaddisu@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7700-6297

Keywords: Tuberculosis, treatment outcome, treatment success rate, Ethiopia

ABSTRACT

Aims: This study investigated the treatment success rate and the associated factors in patients with different forms of tuberculosis (TB) at Bale Robe General Hospital (BRGH), southeastern Ethiopia from 2012 to 2016.

Methods: An institution-based retrospective study was conducted. The study population was patients with TB registered at BRGH. The inclusion criteria were TB diagnosis with Ziehl-Neelsen staining for acid-fast bacillus and/or radiography and having treatment initiated from 2012 through 2016. Subjects with incomplete information were excluded.

Results: Among 807 patients with TB, 665 (82.4%) had successful treatment outcome (cure: 25.5%, treatment completion: 56.9%) and 142 (17.6%) patients had unsuccessful treatment outcome. In multivariate logistic regression analysis, age 65 years or older, being unemployed, having treatment after a previous failure, and receiving treatment during 2014 were associated with a reduced probability of treatment success. TB patients who were HIV-negative and treated during 2015 had higher treatment success. In multinomial logistic regression analysis, patients younger than 65 years of age showed a lower risk of death, whereas HIV-positive patients and patients treated during 2012 were more likely to experience death. New patients with TB were less likely to have treatment failure, but patients with TB who had treatment after failure were more likely to be transferred.

Conclusions: This study showed that TB out treatment success rate was satisfactory but below the minimum target set by the World Health Organization (85%). Age 65 and over, being unemployed, having treatment after failure and HIV co-infection were associated with unsatisfactory treatment outcomes.

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) is the tenth leading cause of death worldwide and the leading cause of death from a single infectious agent, ranking above HIV/AIDS (1). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) Global TB Report, TB caused an estimated 1.3 million deaths among HIV-negative people and 300,000 deaths in HIV-positive people (1). The highest TB morbidity and mortality rates occur in Africa (2). The fatality rate exceeds 50% in some African countries with high HIV infection rates (3).

Ethiopia is listed among the top 30 countries with a high TB burden, TB-HIV co-infection (TB/HIV), and multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB). Together, TB, TB/HIV, and MDR-TB accounted for 84% and 90% of the global burden during 2015 and 2016, respectively (4,5). Ethiopia is also a country achieving treatment success rates (TSRs) above 70% (6).

In 1992, WHO promoted the Directly Observed Treatment, Short-Course (DOTS), a treatment scheme where the physicians observe patients while the patients take prescribed TB medications. This strategy was subsequently adopted by nearly

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

all the countries (6). In Thailand, for instance, DOTS provided by health care workers has improved the treatment success of TB compared to self-administered therapy (SAT), consolidating the relevance of DOTS over SAT (7). Using the DOTS strategy, the highest treatment success of 95% was attained in Anqing, China (8). DOTS remains a core element of its successor, the Stop TB strategy (9), for which the WHO set targets of 84% case detection rate and 87% TSR by 2015.

In Ethiopia, DOTS was started in 1992 as pilots in the Arsi and Bale zones (10). The DOTS strategy was scaled up and implemented at the national level in 1997, and almost in all public. private, and non-governmental health facilities (11). However, the treatment success for patients with TB treated with DOTS varies from one country to another, and TSRs below the WHO target of 85% for cases of drug-susceptible TB are regularly reported by WHO's 194 member states, including Ethiopia (12-15). The DOTS program could not be optimized in Ethiopia due to poor treatment-seeking behavior; incomplete treatment or poor compliance; and treatment interruption or default, a phenomenon that contributes to prolonged infectiousness and increasing risk of drug resistance, relapsed TB, and death (16). Additionally, low literacy levels, discriminatory behavior of healthcare professionals, self-denial due to stigma, long treatment duration, inaccessibility of public health facilities, and shortage of drugs jeopardize successful treatment outcomes (17,18).

Previous studies conducted in different parts of Ethiopia revealed socio-demographic and clinical factors affecting the treatment outcomes of TB (19-21). Except for a single cohort study of TB treatment outcomes between 2007 and 2012 in Bale Robe town (14), information on treatment outcomes is lacking. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine the treatment outcome of all forms of TB cases and to identify associated factors for all types of TB cases involved in the DOTS program reported from 2012 to 2016 at Bale General Regional Hospital (BRGH).

Methods

Patients

The study was conducted at BRGH located in Robe Town in Bale Zone from January 2012 to December 2016. The town is located 430 km Southeastern of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Currently, the BRGH delivers clinical services to more than half a million urban and rural people. The hospital also serves as a training center for Madda Walabu University and provides clinical services to students, prisoners, and students of private and public colleges in the town. The Hospital's DOTS clinic operates within the National TB and Leprosy Control Program (NTBLCP) of Ethiopia (10,11,14). The DOTS clinic provides basic treatment and diagnostic services for all forms of TB through clinical diagnosis using the Ziehl-Nielsen staining method for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) and chest radiographs.

Study design, period, and data collection

An Institutional-based retrospective design was used for studying the TSR of TB and associated factors. The research participants were drawn from all patients with TB registered at the BRGH DOTS clinic in Bale Robe. The inclusion criteria were all TB cases diagnosed with Ziehl-Neelsen Staining for AFB and/or radiography and initiated TB treatment at the BRGH DOTS clinic from January 2012 through December 2016; cases with incomplete information were excluded. Data on various variables, including socio-demographic data (patient's gender, age, residence, and occupation), HIV serology status, TB types, TB patient category, outcomes of each study participant's NTBLCP-recommended treatment (10,11), and year of treatment, were recorded by trained nurses.

TB types, patient category, and treatment outcome definitions

Type of TB, patient category and treatment outcomes were defined according to the NTBLCP guideline (10) and Guidelines for Clinical and Programmatic Management of TB, TB/HIV, and Leprosy (11) adapted from the WHO. Types of TB were defined as the site of the lesions as either smearpositive pulmonary TB (PTB+) or smear-negative pulmonary TB (PTB-) or extra-pulmonary (EPTB). Patients were defined as having PTB+ if they had one of the following 3 conditions: (i) at least 2 initial sputum smears positive for AFB by direct microscopy, (ii) one initial smear positive for AFB by direct microscopy and positive culture, or (iii) one initial smear positive for AFB by direct microscope and radiographic abnormalities consistent with active TB. Patients were defined as having PTBif they met one of the following 3 conditions: (i) had symptoms suggestive of TB with at least 3 initial smears negative for AFB by direct microscopy and no response to a course of broadspectrum antibiotics; (ii) had 3 negative smears by direct microscopy, radiological abnormalities consistent with PTB, and a decision by a clinician to treat with a full course of anti-TB therapy; or (iii) had a diagnosis based on culture positive for M. tuberculosis but 3 initial smears negative by direct microscopy. EPTB is TB in organs other than the lungs, diagnosed by one culture-positive specimen from an extra-pulmonary site, histopathological evidence from a biopsy, or strong clinical evidence consistent with active EPTB and the decision by a physician to treat with a full course of anti-TB therapy.

Patients with TB fell into the following six case categories. New case: A patient who never had treatment for TB, or has been on anti-TB treatment for less than four weeks in the past; Relapse: A patient declared cured or treatment completed of any form of TB in the past, but who reports back to the health service and is now found to be AFB smear-positive or culture-positive; Treatment after failure: A patient who, while on treatment, is smear-positive at the end of the fifth month or later, after starting. Treatment after failure includes patients who were initially sputum smear-negative, but who became smearpositive during treatment at 2 months or later; Default: A patient previously recorded as default from treatment and returns to the health facility with smear-positive sputum. Transfer-in: A patient who is transferred from a particular treatment unit with continued treatment after starting treatment in another treatment unit for at least four weeks; Other: A patient who does not fit into any above categories.

Treatment outcomes are defined as the following. Cured: A patient whose sputum smear or culture was positive at the beginning of the treatment but who was smear- or culturenegative in the last month of treatment and on at least one previous occasion; Treatment completed: A patient who completed treatment but who does not have a negative sputum smear or culture result in the last month of treatment and on at least one previous occasion; Treatment failure: A patient whose sputum smear or culture is positive at 5 months or later during treatment or patients found to harbor a MDR strain at any point of time during the treatment, whether they are smear-negative or -positive; Defaulter: A patient who has been on treatment for at least four weeks and whose treatment was interrupted for eight or more consecutive weeks; Died: A patient died from any cause during the course of treatment; Transferred out: A patient who started treatment and has been transferred to another reporting unit and for whom the treatment outcome is not known at the time of evaluation of treatment results. Treatment success is the sum of cured patients and patients who complete treatment. The TSR is defined as the ratio, expressed as a percentage, of the sum of cured patients and patients who completed treatment to the total number of patients studied.

Data quality assurance

Data were collected after training was provided to data collectors (trained nurses in the DOTS clinic of BRGH). This pretest was conducted at BRGH. The completed data were supervised by the principal investigator for completeness, and 5% of the samples were randomly selected and validated against the registration book. Data entry was done to the Epi-Info version to check data consistency.

All procedures were accomplished following the Declaration of Helsinki. Approval was received from the Institutional Research Ethics Committee of the College of Natural and Computational Science of Madda Walabu University (ref. no. CNCS/234/2017; September 26, 2017). Permission to conduct the research was obtained from the Robe Hospital administration before data collection. Because of the retrospective nature of the study, informed consent from the study participants was not needed not requested. Patient records were identified before analysis and kept confidential to ensure the confidentiality of patient information.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS for Windows, version 21.0, IBM, Corp., Armonk, NY, 2012). Univariate analysis and multivariate logistic regression analyses were used to analyze factors associated with TSR in patients with TB. The independent variables were checked for the presence of multicollinearity using the variance inflation factor. The goodness of fit of the employed model was evaluated using the Hosmer-Lemeshow test, which compares observed with expected frequencies of the outcome and computes a test statistic that is distributed according to the chi-squared distribution. A p-value >0.05 implies there is no evidence that the observed and expected frequencies differ and the model fits well to run the multivariate logistic regression analysis. Marginal variables with p≤0.2 in univariate analysis were exported into a multivariate logistic regression model to detect independent predictors associated with TSR of patients with TB. In multivariate logistic regression analysis, the independent variables with a 95% confidence interval (CI) excluding one were significantly associated with TSR of TB (p<0.05). Multinomial logistic regression analysis was performed to evaluate independent predictor factors associated with treatment outcomes (dependent variables). In unadjusted multinomial logistic regression "crude relative risk ratio (CRRR)", independent variables with p-value <0.05 and the 95% CIs, excluding one were exported to adjusted multinomial logistic regression "adjusted relative risk ratio (ARRR)". Six outcome variables were used; the cure was used as the reference category and the remaining five variables (completed, failure, default, death, and transferred out) as separate variables. In ARRR, independent factors whose 95% CIs excluding one were significantly associated with the treatment outcome and the strength was significant at a p-value <0.05.

Results

Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the study participants are shown in Table 1. A total of 807 patients with TB were registered at the DOTS clinic of BRGH from January 2012 to December 2016. Most were males (57.4%) and lived in urban areas (80.8%). More than three-fourths (75.8%) of the patients were 15-44 years old, mean age was 31.8 years (standard deviation ± 10.7 years). The study participants were students, self-employed, employed, unemployed, prisoners, and farmers. The majority were new cases (79.6%). Of the study subjects treated for TB, 79.2% were HIV-negative and 20.8% were HIV-positive. The patients with TB were PTB- (43.5%), PTB+ (28.0%) and EPTB (28.5%) cases. New patients with TB had the highest percentage of all TB forms (Table 1).

Treatment outcome of the patients

The treatment outcomes for patients who were registered in the DOTS program at the BRGH from January 2012 through December 2016 are shown in Table 2. Among the patients, 25.5% were cured and 56.9% completed their treatment. However, 2.1%, 3.3%, 6.2%, and 5.9% of the patients with TB had treatment failure, defaulted, died, or were transferred, respectively. The highest and lowest percentages of cured patients were recorded in pairs of patients with TB in the age groups 15-24 years and 54-64 years, in PTB+ and EPTB patients, and during 2015 (29.8%) and 2014 (21.1%).

Treatment failure was considerably higher in treatment after failure (28.6%) compared to the other TB patient categories. Treatment failure (3.9%), defaulters (10.6%), and transferredout (13.3%) cases had generally higher rates in 2014. More deaths were recorded for patients with TB \geq 65 years (21.2%), PTB- patients (8.3%), relapsed cases (8.3%), and HIV-positive patients with TB (10.8%) and in 2012 (12.1%) compared to their corresponding counterparts (Table 2).

Treatment success rate

The TSR of the TB patients treated during the study period was 82.4% (Table 3). The TSRs of males (82.5%) and females (82.3%), and of PTB+ (84.1%) and EPTB patients (83.9%) were similar. The TSR of TB was higher in HIV-negative patients with TB (83.7%) than in HIV-positive patients with TB (77.8%). TSR increased or decreased inconsistently over the years of study; the lowest was in 2014 (66.7%) and the highest in 2015 (90.1%) (Table 3).

Factors associated with TSR in TB

Results of the univariate analysis and multivariate logistic regression are summarized in Table 3. In univariate analysis, variables significantly associated with TSR were age group, occupation, HIV status, and year of treatment of patients with TB (all at p<0.05), and patient residence and TB patient category (at p≤0.2). These variables were fitted to the multivariate logistic regression analysis. In multivariate logistic regression, age ≥65 years [Odds ratio (OR): 0.17 (95% CI: 0.06-0.45)], being unemployed [OR: 0.86 (95% CI: 0.44-0.97)], having treatment after failure [OR: 0.37 (95% CI: 0.15-0.91)], and receiving treatment during 2014 [OR: 0.47 (95% CI: 0.23-0.96)] were associated with reduced probability of treatment success. However, HIV-negative patients with TB [OR: 1.62 (95% CI: 1.13-2.34)] and patients treated during 2015 [OR: 2.29 (95% CI: 1.32-3.98)] had a higher odds of treatment success than their counterparts (Table 3). Sex and residence of the patients and TB type had no significant association with treatment success (p>0.05) (Table 3).

Factors associated with treatment outcome of TB

Independent variables that were significantly associated with the treatment outcome in CRRR analysis were fitted to the

ARRR model to determine the treatment outcome of TB. In the ARRR analysis, patients below 65 years of age had a significantly lower relative risk of death than the reference category (Table 4). However, HIV- positive patients with TB [ARRR: 2.18 (95% CI: 1.18-4.04)] and patients treated during 2012 [ARRR: 2.70 (95% CI: 1.14-6.39) had a higher relative risk ratio of death to HIV-negative patients with TB and patients treated during 2016, respectively. Patients with TB with PTB+ had a significantly lower relative risk ratio of completion, and transferring-out than those in the reference category (EPTB patients, p<0.05). New patients with TB also had a significantly lower relative risk of failure than patients in the reference category [ARRR: 0.10 (95% CI: 0.015-0.72)]. Patients with TB who were treated in 2014 had a significantly higher relative risk of default [ARRR: 11.46 (95% CI: 4.16-31.54)], and being transferred out [ARRR: 3.01 (95%) CI: 1.35-6.72)] than those treated in 2016 (the reference year). Unemployed patients with TB had a significantly higher relative risk of failure [ARRR: 7.97 (95% CI: 1.13-55.8)] and being transferred out [ARRR: 4.27 (95% CI: 1.25-14.61)] than patients with TB who were farmers (the reference occupation) (Table 4).

Discussion

This study found satisfactory TSR of TB (82.4%) in BRGH. Patients with TB aged 65 and above, unemployed, having treatment after failure, TB-HIV co-infection, and receiving treatment during 2014 significantly reduced the probability of successful treatment of TB. Death from TB was considerably higher in patients with TB aged 65 and above, TB-HIV coinfection, and those having treatment during 2012. The treatment failure was significantly lower in new patients with TB, but transfer out was higher in patients having treatment after failure and treated during 2014.

The percentage of male patients with TB was higher than that of females (Tables 1). The underuse of the health facility by female patients due to socio-economic and cultural factors or gender-based biological differences accounted for differences in susceptibility to active disease (22,23). Most patients with TB were in the productive age group (15-44 years), in agreement with patients with TB attending other health facilities in Ethiopia (78%) (12) and Dilla University Referral Hospital (79.4%) (24). TB-associated morbidity and mortality occur mainly in the economically productive age (25). This may be due to the high mobility and interaction of the study population of the productive age group and thereby exposing them to TB infection.

Among patients with TB, PTB- was higher than PTB+ and EPTB (Table 1). A previous study in the BRGH (14) also reported higher percentages of PTB- (40.7%) than PTB+ (33.3%) and EPTB (26%). The higher percentage of PTB- than other TB types might be related to a diagnosis failure in the hospital where the clinicians rush to designate TB cases, as PTB- cases are also

Table 1. Characteristics of tuberculosis patients at Bale

more common in patients with HIV (4,5,26). A higher prevalence of PTB- (44.8%) and PTB+ (37.0%) was also reported from surrounding communities in Gambella Regional State (27).

We found a significantly higher prevalence of all forms of TB in urban areas than in rural areas (Table 1), contrasting with findings from a study in southern Ethiopia that reported more patients with TB in rural (66%) than in urban areas (44%) (12). This discrepancy might be due to high-density housing and associated exposure risk in urban areas. The rate of TB-HIV co-infection (Table 1) was higher than in a study in Debre Tabor (12.7%) (28) but slightly lower than that reported by BRGH (22.2%) (14).

The results of our analysis revealed that the percentage of cured patients (Table 2) was higher than the rate in the BRGH (19.7%) (14) but lower than the result in a recent systematic review and meta-analysis for Ethiopia (33.9%) (29). Most of the patients with TB in BRGH had completed the treatment outcome in agreement with similar studies in Ethiopia (12,15,20). The rate of treatment failure was slightly higher than the results in BRGH for 2007-2011 (1%) (14) and Asella Teaching Hospital (0.2%) (30). The rate of defaulters in our study was lower than the previous results in BRGH (6%) (14) and South Africa (9.8%) (22). The percentage of dead patients was similar at Asella Hospital (6%) (30) but higher than that at Dilla University Referral Hospital (3.4%) (24) and lower than at BRGH (9%) (14). This indicates a considerable improvement in the rate of dead patients with TB in our study compared to a previous study in the same hospital (14), which might be related to the improvements in DOTS service in the BRGH. The lower percentage of failure and defaulted patients might be due to the deployment of health extension workers who provide treatment and prevention services to the public in all zones in Ethiopia, including BRGH (31).

The TSR in our study (Table 3) was similar to that reported in a study of global TSRs (83%) in a 2015 cohort) (4) but slightly higher than the TSR in the BRGH (78.2%) (14). The TSR of PTB-, PTB+ and EPTB patients in our study was slightly higher than the rate in BRGH (PTB-, 79.5%; PTB+, 76.1% and EPTB, 79.3%) (14). The TSR of new cases in our study was higher than the rate in 2007-2012 in BRGH (78.9%) (14) but lower than the national TSR in new patients registered during 2016 (90%) (5). The TSR of patients with TB among HIV-negative and HIVpositive patients was similar to the TSRs at Asella Teaching Hospital (83.4% in HIV-negative and 79.8% in HIV-positive) (30), but higher than the TSRs in the BRGH (80.8% in HIV-negative patients with TB and 67.1% among HIV-positive patients) (14). Variation in DOTS performance in various study areas, socioeconomic characteristics of the patients, geographic setting, sample size, study period, and the TB clinic management may have contributed to differences in TSR for patients with TB (20).

Robe General Hospital, Ethiopia (n=807)				
Age, mean±SD	31.8±1.07			
Age groups, n (%)				
0-14	56 (6.9)			
15-24	300 (37.2)			
25-34	204 (25.3)			
35-44	108 (13.4)			
45-54	60 (7.4)			
55-64	27 (3.3)			
≥65	52 (6.4)			
Sex, n (%)				
Male	463 (57.4)			
Female	344 (42.6)			
Residence, n (%)				
Urban	652 (80.8)			
Rural	155 (19.2)			
Job status, n (%)				
Student	246 (30.5)			
Self-employee	258 (32)			
Employed	91 (11.3)			
Unemployed	104 (12.9)			
Prisoner	30 (3.7)			
Farmer	78 (9.7)			
TB type, n (%)				
PTB-	351 (43.5)			
PTB+	226 (28.0)			
ЕРТВ	230 (28.5)			
TB patient category, n (%)				
New	642 (79.6)			
Relapse	36 (4.5)			
Defaulted	14 (1.7)			
Failure	7 (0.9)			
Transfer-in	89 (11.0)			
Others	19 (2.4)			
HIV status, n (%)				
Positive	168 (20.8)			
Negative	639 (79.2)			
Treatment year, n (%)				
2012	140 (17.3)			
2013	149 (18.5)			
2014	180 (22.3)			
2015	151 (18.7)			
2016	187 (23.2)			

TB: Tuberculosis, PTB: Pulmonary tuberculosis, PTB-: Smear negative pulmonary tuberculosis, PTB+: Smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis, EPTB: Extra-pulmonary tuberculosis; SD: Standard deviation

	Cured	Completed	Failure	Defaulted	Death	Transferred out	Total
Age groups, n (%)							
0-14	7 (12.5)	45 (80.4)	0 (0)	2 (3.6)	0 (0)	2 (3.6)	56
15-24	99 (33.0)	157 (52.3)	7 (2.3)	14 (4.7)	8 (2.7)	15 (5.0)	300
25-34	51 (25.0)	111 (54.4)	4 (2.0)	6 (2.9)	16 (7.8)	16 (7.8)	204
35-44	24 (22.2)	67 (62.0)	3 (2.8)	0 (0)	7 (6.5)	7 (6.5)	108
45-54	15 (25.0)	28 (46.7)	2 (3.3)	3 (5.0)	7 (11.7)	5 (8.3)	60
55-64	3 (11.1)	19 (70.4)	0 (0)	1 (3.7)	1 (3.7)	3 (11.1)	27
≥65	7 (13.5)	32 (61.5)	1(1.9)	1 (1.9)	11 (21.2)	0 (0)	52
Sex, n (%)							
Male	107 (23.1)	275 (59.4)	8 (1.7)	14(3.0)	33 (7.1)	26 (5.6)	463
Female	99 (28.8)	184 (53.5)	9 (2.6)	13 (3.8)	17 (4.9)	22 (6.4)	344
Residence, n (%)							
Urban	168 (25.8)	365 (56.0)	16 (2.5)	22 (3.4)	43 (6.6)	38 (5.8)	652
Rural	38 (24.5)	94 (60.6)	1 (0.6)	5 (3.2)	7 (4.5)	10 (6.5)	155
Job status, n (%)							
Student	88 (35.8)	130 (52.8)	4 (1.6)	9 (3.7)	2 (0.8)	13 (5.3)	246
Self-employee	59 (22.9)	150 (58.1)	5 (1.9)	7 (2.7)	22 (8.5)	15 (5.8)	258
Employed	21 (23.1)	49 (53.8)	2 (2.2)	5 (5.5)	8 (8.8)	6 (6.6)	91
Unemployed	13 (12.5)	65 (62.5)	4 (3.8)	5 (4.8)	7 (6.7)	10 (9.6)	104
Prisoner	8 (26.7)	19 (63.3)	1 (3.3)	0 (0)	2 (6.7)	0 (0)	30
Farmer	17 (21.8)	46 (59.0)	1 (1.3)	1 (1.3)	9 (11.5)	4 (5.1)	78
TB type, n (%)							
PTB-	43 (12.3)	239 (68.1)	8 (2.3)	13 (3.7)	29 (8.3)	19 (5.4)	351
PTB+	148 (65.5)	42 (18.6)	5 (2.2)	8 (3.5)	11 (4.9)	12 (5.3)	226
ЕРТВ	15 (6.5)	178 (77.4)	4 (1.7)	6 (2.6)	10 (4.3)	17 (7.4)	230
TB patient category, n (%)							
New	159 (24.8)	373 (58.1)	10 (1.6)	23 (3.6)	44 (6.9)	33 (5.1)	642
Relapse	18 (50.0)	11 (30.6)	1 (2.8)	0 (0)	3 (8.3)	3 (8.3)	36
Defaulted	5 (35.7)	8 (57.1)	0 (0)	1 (7.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)	14
Treatment after failure	2 (28.6)	2 (28.6)	2 (28.6)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (14.3)	7
Transfer-in	20 (22.5)	53 (59.6)	3 (3.4)	2 (2.2)	2 (2.2)	9 (10.1)	89
Others	2 (10.5)	12 (63.2)	1 (5.3)	1 (5.3)	1 (5.3)	2 (10.5)	19
HIV status, n (%)							
Positive	43 (25.7)	87 (52.1)	2(1.20)	2 (1.2)	18 (10.8)	16 (9.6)	168
Negative	163 (25.5)	372 (58.2)	15 (2.3)	25 (3.9)	32 (5.0)	32 (5.0)	639
Treatment year, n (%)							
2012	38 (27.1)	76 (54.3)	2 (1.4)	1 (0.7)	17 (12.1)	6 (4.3)	140
2013	36 (24.2)	91 (61.1)	2 (1.3)	3 (2.0)	10 (6.7)	7 (4.7)	149
2014	38 (21.1)	82 (45.6)	7 (3.9)	19 (10.6)	10 (5.6)	24 (13.3)	180
2015	45 (29.8)	91 (60.3)	1(0.7)	2 (1.3)	9 (6.0)	3 (2.0)	151
2016	49 (26.2)	119 (63.6)	5 (2.7)	2 (1.1)	4 (2.1)	8 (4.3)	187
Total	206 (25.5)	459 (56.9)	17 (2.1)	27 (3.3)	50 (6.2)	48 (5.9)	807
TB: Tuberculosis, PTB: Pulmonary tuberculosis, PTB-: Smear negative pulmonary tuberculosis, PTB+: Smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis, EPTB: Extra pulmonary tuberculosis							

Table 3. Univariate and multivariate analysis of treatment success rate					
Variables	Treatment success n (%)	Univariate analysis OR (95% CI)	р	Multivariate analysis OR (95% Cl)	р
Age in groups					
0-14	52 (92.9)	1		1	
15-24	256 (85.3)	0.68 (0.27-1.67)	0.403	0.53 (0.20-1.43)	0.214
25-34	162 (79.4)	0.56 (0.29-1.05)	0.073	0.48 (0.22-1.01)	0.055
35-44	91 (84.3)	0.77 (0.44-1.36)	0.381	0.71 (0.36-1.40)	0.326
45-54	43 (71.7)	0.51 (0.29-0.89)	0.019	0.54 (0.27-1.09)	0.087
55-64	22 (81.5)	1.18 (0.60-2.31)	0.618	0.99 (0.47-2.08)	0.990
≥65	39 (75.0)	0.23 (0.94-0.56)	0.001	0.17 (0.06-0.45)	0.001
Gender					
Male	382 (82.5)	1		-	-
Female	283 (82.3)	0.984 (0.74-1.30)	0.909	-	-
Residence					
Urban	533 (81.7)	1	1		
Rural	132 (85.2)	1.28 (0.88-1.85)	0.188	1.16 (0.7 -1.74)	0.460
Occupation					
Student	218 (88.6)	1		1	
Self-employed	209 (81.0)	0.26 (0.70-2.24)	0.430	0.94 (0.99-3.81)	0.052
Gov. employed	70 (76.9)	0.98 (0.60-1.62)	0.950	1.17 (0.65-2.10)	0.590
Unemployed	78 (75)	0.54 (0.32-0.91)	0.021	0.86 (0.44-0.97)	0.036
Prisoner	27 (90.0)	1.40 (0.80-2.44)	0.240	1.89 (0.99-3.61)	0.051
Farmer	63 (80.8)	0.46 (0.17-1.25)	0.130	0.74 (0.25-2.20)	0.593
TB type					
PTB-	282 (80.3)	1		-	-
PTB+	190 (84.1)	1.27 (0.91-1.78)	0.155	-	-
EPTB	193 (83.9)	0.98 (0.67-1.44)	0.950	-	-
TB patient category					
New	532 (82.9)	1		1	
Relapse	29 (80.6)	0.21 (0.04-1.17)	0.076	0.20 (0.36-1.17)	0.075
Defaulted	13 (92.9)	0.67 (0.24-1.89)	0.457	0.56 (0.18-1.66)	0.297
Treatment after failure	4 (57.1)	0.58 (0.25-1.32)	0.195	0.37 (0.15-0.91)	0.030
Transfer-in	73 (82.0)	2.10 (0.46-9.44)	0.330	2.35 (0.44-12.61)	0.318
Others	14 (73.7)	0.61 (0.24-1.52)	0.294	0.48 (0.18-1.28)	0.145
HIV status					
Positive	130 (77.8)	1		1	
Negative	535 (83.7)	1.50 (1.08-2.08)	0.014	1.62 (1.13-2.34)	0.009
Year of treatment					
2012	114 (81.4)	1		1	
2013	127 (85.2)	2.01 (1.24-3.26)	0.350	1.52 (0.96-3.03)	0.200
2014	120 (66.7)	0.93 (0.53-2.50)	0.046	0.47 (0.23-0.96)	0.038
2015	136 (90.1)	4.42 (2.86-6.82)	0.001	2.29 (1.32-3.98)	0.003
2016	168 (89.8)	0.97 (0.57-1.65)	0.920	1.73 (0.88-4.40)	0.445
TB: Tuberculosis, PTB-: Smear negative pulmonary tuberculosis, PTB+: Smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis. EPTB: Extra pulmonary tuberculosis. HIV: Human					

TB: Tuberculosis, PTB-: Smear negative pulmonary tuberculosis, PTB+: Smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis, EPTB: Extra pulmonary tuberculosis, HIV: Human immune deficiency virus, OR: Odds ratio, CI: Confidence interval

In multivariate logistic regression, TSR was significantly lower in patients with TB \geq 65 years of age (Table 3), in concordance with similar studies in Ethiopia (21,27,30). Individuals at a higher age experience increased co-infections with other diseases and develop immune-compromised situations that might contribute to poorer treatment outcomes (18,30). Unemployed patients with TB exhibited a significantly lower TSR than the students (the reference category) (Table 3), in agreement with studies in the Tigray Region (20) and Anqing, China (8). Unemployed patients with TB may interrupt the DOTS treatment for socioeconomic reasons and thereby reducing the TSR of TB. Patients with TB with treatment after failure exhibited lower TSR than new patients (Table 3). Other studies linked a previously treated TB with MDR (6,32) and unsuccessful treatment outcomes (18). HIV-negative patients with TB had significantly higher TSR than HIV-positive counterparts (Table 3), in agreement with related studies in Ethiopia (29,33). HIV co-infection increases the risk of latent TB reactivation 20-fold (33). Patients with TB treated

Table 4. Multinomial logistic regression analysis of factors associated with treatment outcomes					
Variable	Completed	Failure	Default	Death	Transferred out
Age (years)					
0-14	1.32 (0.34-5.06)	0.28 (0.01-6.01)	1.16 (0.15-8.97)	0.042 (0.006-0.269)	1.20 (0.13-10.54)
15-24	0.83 (0.26-2.62)	1.20 (0.14-9.86)	1.38 (0.23-8.28)	0.078 (0.020-0.275)	1.79 (0.26-12.25)
25-34	0.98 (0.31-3.14)	1.44 (0.17-11.79)	1.17 (0.19-7.18)	0.097 (0.028-0.330)	4.23 (0.63-28.39)
35-44	0.88 (0.26-2.97)	2.02 (0.23-17.84)	0.41 (0.054-3.19)	0.065 (0.017-0.240)	2.92 (0.40-21.28)
45-54	0.71 (0.20-2.51)	1.91 (0.21-17.20)	1.73 (0.26-11.1)	0.13 (0.035-0.480)	2.97 (0.40-22.0)
55-64	1.21 (0.25-5.88)	0.34 (0.008-14.18)	1.57 (0.15-16.10)	0.80 (0.011-0.628)	4.73 (0.50-44.88)
>65 (Ref.)	1	1	1	1	1
Occupation					
Student	0.76 (0.32-1.82)	0.96 (0.12-7.45)	1.48 (0.32-6.7)	0.33 (0.10-1.08)	1.21 (0.36-4.00)
Self-employee	1.23 (0.56-2.73)	1.71 (0.26-11.08)	1.89 (0.045-7.95)	1.33 (0.52-3.34)	1.08 (0.36-3.22)
Gov. employee	1.02 (0.40-2.61)	2.19 (0.27-17.54)	4.33 (0.92-20.45)	1.40 (0.46-4.22)	1.57 (0.43-5.68)
Unemployed	1.55 (0.57-4.22)	7.97 (1.13-55.8)	2.55 (0.57-11.41)	1.02 (0.32-3.23)	4.27 (1.25-14.61)
Prisoners	0.76 (0.21-2.65)	1.85 (0.17-19.9)	0.50 (0.02-5.92)	0.84 (0.16-4.20)	0.39 (0.04-3.74)
Farmers (Ref.)	1	1	1	1	1
TB type					
PTB-	0.62 (0.35-1.08)	1.06 (0.37-3.03)	1.10 (0.49-2.45)	1.28 (0.62-2.64)	0.59 (0.29-1.20)
PTB+	0.34 (0.02-0.61)	1.29 (0.54-4.36)	1.75 (0.76-5.24)	1.14 (0.86-1.27)	0.069 (0.032-0.14)
EPTB (Ref.)	1	1	1	1	1
TB patient category					
New	0.71 (0.15-3.23)	0.10 (0.015-0.72)	0.33 (0.047-2.41)	0.69 (0.09-5.28)	0.23 (0.04-1.31)
Relapse	0.28 (0.05-1.67)	0.12 (0.01-1.51)	0.10 (0.05-1.82)	0.49 (0.05-4.89)	0.28 (0.038-2.204)
Default	0.29 (0.036-2.30)	0.21 (0.06-6.76)	0.67 (0.05-8.97)	0.12 (0.04-4.18)	0.54 (0.01-2.22)
Treatment after failure	0.17 (0.08-1.06)	0.1 (0.08-1.34)	0.05 (0.01-1.07)	0.4 (0.03-1.07)	2.91 (1.25-13.63)
Transfer in	1.16 (0.23-5.84)	0.40 (0.05-3.31)	0.28 (0.033-2.54)	0.71 (0.07-6.61)	0.78 (0.12-4.91)
Others (Ref.)	1	1	1	1	1
HIV Status					
HIV(+)	0.79 (0.47-1.31)	0.41 (0.62-0.199)	0.49 (0.20-1.18)	2.18 (1.18-4.04)	1.77 (0.94-3.32)
HIV (-) (Ref.)	1	1	1	1	1
Year of treatment					
2012	0.58 (0.30-1.10)	0.46 (0.11-1.8)	0.71 (0.17-2.97)	2.70 (1.14-6.39)	0.73 (0.28-1.90)
2013	0.88 (0.47-1.65)	0.49 (0.12-1.95)	1.21 (0.35-4.19)	1.54 (0.61-3.84)	0.92 (0.37-2.27)
2014	0.58 (0.308-1.09)	1.23 (0.40-3.71)	11.46 (4.16-31.54)	1.48 (0.58-3.72)	3.01 (1.35-6.72)
2015	0.61 (0.33-1.14)	0.24 (0.05-1.06)	0.70 (0.18-2.65)	1.40 (0.50-3.52)	0.33 (0.11-1.93)
2016 (Ref.)	1	1	1	1	1

TB: Tuberculosis, CI: Confidence interval, ARRR: Adjusted relative risk ratio in multinomial logistic regression analysis. NB. Ref.: Reference category for each independent factor used in multinomial logistic regression analysis. Values indicated in bold are significantly associated with treatment outcome at p<0.05

during 2014 had lower TSRs, but those who were treated during 2015 had higher TSRs than the reference year (Table 3). The Federal Ministry of Health assessment in 2013/2014 showed that the coverage of the DOTS program reached 79% in health centers and 98.4% in hospitals nationwide (34), indicating a large gap in the TSR among health institutions in Ethiopia. A global TB report showed that the TSR for TB in Ethiopia during 2014 was 89% (1) and lower than that during 2012 (91%) (2). Therefore, the national TSR of TB was impeded by some unexplained factors that might have affected the TSR in BRGH during 2014.

The ARRR analysis revealed that death from TB was lower in patients with TB in the <65 years of the age group (Table 4). Higher death rates from TB have also been reported in people of older age groups (18-21,35). Age-related co-infections and physiological deterioration may lead to poor treatment adherence, which, with less access of older people to health facilities, may lead to poor outcomes (30,36). We also found more deaths among PTB- patients than among PTB+ and EPTB patients. Diagnosis and treatment delays and HIV infection among PTB- cases were suggestive of higher death in PTB- TB cases than in PTB+ and EPTB (21,26). The relative risk ratio of treatment failure was lower in new patients with TB than in their counterparts (Table 4). Drug resistance due to the prevalence of MDR-TB in Ethiopia was low (1.6%) among new cases and relatively higher (12%) among retreatment cases (10,11). The relative risk of death in patients with TB was significantly higher in HIV-positive than in HIV-negative patients with TB. This finding was in concordance with other studies in Ethiopia (30) and South Africa (37), which found strong associations between HIV infection and TB mortality. The reduction in death and improvement of the success rate of TB has been in connection to antiretroviral treatment in TB-HIV co-infected individuals (38). In the adjusted multinomial logistic regression analysis, patients with TB who were treated during 2012 had a higher relative risk of death. At the global level, an estimated 8.6 million people developed TB and 1.3 million died of the disease in 2012 (9). A higher death rate was also reported for patients with TB who were treated during September 2012-May to 2013 in southern Ethiopia than in other years (24). A similar study in Ethiopia reported a higher rate of transfer for patients with treatment failure (12).

This study has several limitations. Because of its retrospective design, several socio-demographic characteristics such as educational status, income, family size, and distance from the treatment center were not available. Additionally, data on clinical characteristics were missing, including the presence of co-morbidities, complications related to the treatment, drug resistance, and patients' awareness levels. Therefore, the interpretation of the results should cautiously be made. Despite these limitations, the large sample size and follow-up

of internationally accepted ethical guidelines were the strengths.

Conclusion

This study showed that the rate of cure in patients with TB was 25.5%, and the rate of treatment completion was 56.9%. The rate of patients who died of TB was 6.2%, transferred was 5.9%, treatment failure was 2.1%, and defaulted was 3.3%. The TSR in all forms of TB in BRGH (82.4%) was satisfactory but below the minimum target (85.0%) established by the WHO. Age, occupation, treatment category, HIV status, and year of treatment were independently associated with treatment success of TB. Age and HIV status were independently associated with the risk of death, whereas occupation of the patients with TB was significantly associated with the risk of treatment failure and transfer. TB type was associated with the risk of treatment completion and transfer: and the year of treatment was associated with the risk of treatment outcomes such as default, death, and transfer. Based on the findings of this study, continuous monitoring of patients with unsuccessful treatment outcomes and TB-HIV co-infection, supervision of the implementation of the DOTS program, and targeted interventions may be recommended.

Acknowledgments

Madda Walabu University and the Oromia Education Office are highly acknowledged for facilitating the master's study of YB. Health professionals working in the DOTS clinic of BRGH are highly acknowledged for their genuine organization and provision of retrospectively registered data related to treatment outcomes of patients with TB. We also thank Ann Byers for reading the manuscript.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: An approval was received from the Institutional Research Ethics Committee of the College of Natural and Computational Science of Madda Walabu University (ref. no. CNCS/234/2017; date: 26.09.2017).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: A.A.T., Y.B.G., Design: A.A.T., Y.B.G., H.K., Data Collection or Processing: A.A.T., Y.B.G., Analysis or Interpretation: A.A.T., Y.B.G., H.K., Literature Search: A.A.T., Y.B.G., Writing: A.A.T., Y.B.G., H.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received small financial support from Madda Walabu University (MWU/SGS/2016/17).

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2016. Last Accessed Date: July 19, 2017. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/250441/9789241565394eng.pdf?
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2014. Last Accessed Date: July 25, 2017. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/137094/9789241564809_ eng.pdf?
- De Cock KM, Soro B, Coulibaly IM, Lucas SB. Tuberculosis and HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa. JAMA. 1992;268:1581-1587.
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2017. LastAccessedDate:March25,2019.Availablefrom:https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259366/9789241565516eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2018. LastAccessed Date: April 25, 2019. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274453/9789241565646eng.pdf?
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Report 2012. Last Accessed Date: January 05, 2015. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/75938/978 9241564502_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Anuwatnonthakate A, Limsomboon P, Nateniyom S, et al. Directly observed therapy and improved tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Thailand. PLoS One. 2008;3:e3089.
- Wen Y, Zhang Z, Li X, et al. Treatment outcomes and factors affecting unsuccessful outcome among new pulmonary smear positive and negative tuberculosis patients in Anqing, China: a retrospective study. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18:104.
- World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2013. LastAccessed Date: May 10, 2017. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/91355/9789241564656_ eng.pdf?
- Federal Ministry of Health of Ethiopia. Tuberculosis, Leprosy and TB/HIV Prevention and Control Programme Manual. 4th ed. Addis Ababa: FMOH; 2008.
- Federal Ministry of Health of Ethiopia. Guidelines for Clinical and Programmatic Management of TB, TB/HIV and Leprosy. 5th ed. Addis Ababa: FMOH; 2012.
- Getahun B, Ameni G, Medhin G, Biadgilign S. Treatment outcome of tuberculosis patients under directly observed treatment in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Braz J Infect Dis. 2013;17:521-528.
- Biruk M, Yimam B, Abrha H, Biruk S, Amdie FZ. Treatment Outcomes of Tuberculosis and Associated Factors in an Ethiopian University Hospital. Advances in Public Health. 2016;2016:8504629.
- Tachbele E, Taye B, Tulu B, Ameni G. Treatment Outcomes of Tuberculosis Patients at Bale Robe Hospital Oromia Regional State, Ethiopia: A Five Year Retrospective Study. J Nurs Care. 2017;6:386.
- Kassa JI, Dedefo MG, Korsa AT, Dibessa TT. Factors Affecting Treatment Outcome of Tuberculosis among Tuberculosis Patients in West Ethiopia. J Bioanal Biomed. 2018;10:24-29.

- Daniel OJ, Oladapo OT, Alausa OK. Default from a tuberculosis treatment program in Sagamu, Nigeria. Niger J Med. 2006;15:63-67.
- Mesfin MM, Newell JN, Walley JD, et al. Quality of tuberculosis care and its association with patient adherence to treatment in eight Ethiopian districts. Health Policy Plan. 2009; 24:457-466.
- Muñoz-Sellart M, Cuevas LE, Tumato M, Merid Y, Yassin MA. Factors associated with poor tuberculosis treatment outcome in the Southern Region of Ethiopia. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2010;14:973-979.
- Biadglegne F, Anagaw B, Debebe T, et al. A retrospective study on the outcomes of tuberculosis treatment in Felege Hiwot Referral Hospital, Northwest Ethiopia. Int J Med Med Sci. 2013;5:85-91.
- Berhe G, Enquselassie F, Aseffa A. Treatment outcome of smear-positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients in Tigray Region, Northern Ethiopia. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:537.
- 21. PLOS ONE Staff. Correction: Trends of tuberculosis case notification and treatment outcomes in the Sidama Zone, Southern Ethiopia: Ten-year retrospective trend analysis in urban-rural settings. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0125135.
- 22. Gafar MM, Nyazema NZ, Dambisya YM. Factors influencing treatment outcomes in tuberculosis patients in Limpopo Province, South Africa, from 2006 to 2010: A retrospective study. Curationis. 2014;37:e1-e7.
- 23. Neyrolles O, Quintana-Murci L. Sexual inequality in tuberculosis. PLoS Med. 2009;6:e1000199.
- 24. Gebrezgabiher G, Romha G, Ejeta E, Asebe G, Zemene E, Ameni G. Treatment Outcome of Tuberculosis Patients under Directly Observed Treatment Short Course and Factors Affecting Outcome in Southern Ethiopia: A Five-Year Retrospective Study. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0150560.
- 25. Ahlburg DA. Stop TB Initiative and Ministerial Conference on Tuberculosis and Sustainable Development (2000: Amsterdam, Netherlands). The Economic impacts of tuberculosis. World Health Organization. Last Accessed Date: January 20, 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/66238
- Tadesse S, Tadesse T. Treatment success rate of tuberculosis patients in Dabat, northwest Ethiopia. Health. 2014;6:306-310.
- 27. Ejeta E, Beyene G, Balay G, Bonsa Z, Abebe G. Factors associated with unsuccessful treatment outcome in tuberculosis patients among refugees and their surrounding communities in Gambella Regional State, Ethiopia. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0205468.
- Melese A, Zeleke B, Ewnete B. Treatment Outcome and Associated Factors among Tuberculosis Patients in Debre Tabor, Northwestern Ethiopia: A Retrospective Study. Tuberc Res Treat. 2016;2016:1354356.
- 29. Eshetie S, Gizachew M, Alebel A, van Soolingen D. Tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Ethiopia from 2003 to 2016, and impact of HIV co-infection and prior drug exposure: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0194675.
- Tafess K, Beyen TK, Abera A, et al. Treatment Outcomes of Tuberculosis at Asella Teaching Hospital, Ethiopia: Ten Years'

Retrospective Aggregated Data. Front Med (Lausanne). 2018;5:38.

- Sebhatu A. The Implementation of Ethiopia's Health Extension Program: An Overview. Last Accessed Date: January 12, 2020. Available from: https://www.phe-ethiopia.org/pdf/Health Extension Program in Ethiopia.pdf
- Assefa D, Seyoum B, Oljira L. Determinants of multidrugresistant tuberculosis in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Infect Drug Resist. 2017;10:209-213.
- Ahmed A, Rakshit S, Vyakarnam A. HIV–TB co-infection: mechanisms that drive reactivation of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in HIV infection. Oral Dis. 2016;22(Suppl 1):53-60.
- Federal Ministry of Health of Ethiopia. An Extract of Five Year's TB, TB/HIV AND Leprosy Control Program Analysis (EFY 2000 – 2005). Addis Ababa: FMOH; 2013.

- 35. Ramos JM, Reyes F, Facin R, Tesfamariam A. Surgical lymph node biopsies in a rural Ethiopian hospital: histopathologic diagnoses and clinical characteristics. Ethiop Med J. 2008;46:173-178.
- 36. Wang CS, Chen HC, Yang CJ, et al. The impact of age on the demographic, clinical, radiographic characteristics and treatment outcomes of pulmonary tuberculosis patients in Taiwan. Infection. 2008;36:335-340.
- Mabunda TE, Ramalivhana NJ, Dambisya YM. Mortality associated with tuberculosis/HIV co-infection among patients on TB treatment in the Limpopo province, South Africa. Afr Health Sci. 2014;14:849-854.
- Girardi E, Palmieri F, Angeletti C, et al. Impact of previous ART and of ART initiation on outcome of HIV-associated tuberculosis. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:931325.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.80299 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:189-96



Low serum zinc and total antioxidant capacity levels in individuals with premenstrual syndrome

© Tuğba Küçükkasap Cömert¹ **®** Duygu Ağagündüz² **®** Özlem Muşlu³ **®** Aylin Güçlü⁴ **®** Hülya Zengin⁴ **®** Bediye Öztaş⁵ **®** Süleyman Akarsu⁶

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye

²Gazi University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye
³Yuksek Intisas University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye
⁴Yuksek Intisas University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Ankara, Türkiye
⁵Medipol University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Ankara, Türkiye
⁶Medicana International Hospital Ankara, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 04.09.2021 **Date accepted:** 16.11.2021

Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Tuğba Küçükkasap Cömert, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Ankara, Türkiye tugbaccomert@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8925-2586

Keywords: PMS, antioxidant capacity, serum zinc level

ABSTRACT

Aims: The aim of this study was to evaluate serum zinc (Zn) level, total antioxidant capacity (TAC) level, and nutritional status in premenstrual syndrome (PMS).

Methods: This cross-sectional, single-center study and case-control study enrolled university students 18 to 28 years old. Serum TAC analysis was performed via the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Serum Zn level was measured using atomic absorption spectrometry. Nutritional status was assessed using the 24-hour dietary recall.

Results: The study population consisted of 110 individuals (mean±Sstandart deviation age: 20.3±1.9 years), 48 subjects with PMS, and 62 subjects without PMS. Individuals with PMS had lower serum Zn levels ($28.04\pm31.40 \mu mol/L vs. 11.67\pm6.42 \mu mol/L$, respectively), TAC levels ($1.60\pm0.42 \mu mol/L vs. 1.47\pm0.10 \mu mol/L$), and higher body mass index ($22.30\pm02.71 kg/m^2 vs. 23.73\pm3.44 kg/m^2$) than individuals without PMS. Individuals with PMS had lower fiber, polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA), vitamins E, vitamin B1, vitamin B2, vitamin B6, vitamin C, folate, and magnesium, and higher carbohydrate and sodium intake than those without PMS but the differences did not reach statistical significance. Serum TAC level, dietary antioxidant, and PUFA intake level were positively correlated (p<0.05), whereas serum TAC level was negatively correlated with dietary intake of protein, lipid, and carbohydrate intake (p<0.05).

Conclusions: This study showed that serum Zn and TAC levels were lower in PMS, and serum TAC levels were correlated with dietary antioxidant intake.

Introduction

Premenstrual syndrome (PMS) is a common condition that causes physical, emotional, and behavioral symptoms in women of reproductive age (1,2). It starts in the late luteal phase of the menstrual cycle, and the symptoms subside shortly after the onset of menstruation (3). The quality of life and reproductive health are significantly affected in affected individuals (2,4).

The Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists has reported that 40.0% of women have premenstrual symptoms (5). The lowest incidence was reported in France (12.0%). The highest incidence was reported in Iran (98.0%) (6). In Turkey, the incidence has been reported by 66.0 to 91.8%, more commonly in young individuals (7,8).

The symptoms of PMS have been explained through reduced levels of progesterone and the progesterone metabolite
allopregnanolone, which act as agonists to the gammaaminobutyric acid-A (GABA-A) receptor in the luteal phase (9). Progesterone and allopregnanolone exert antioxidant and sedative actions via the GABA-A receptor and do not cause mood changes in healthy individuals (10). However, they may cause hormonal imbalance, increased pro-oxidant activity, oxidative stress, and the disrupted GABAergic system, leading to PMS symptoms (11).

The oxidant/antioxidant balance is disrupted in PMS, associated with the symptom occurrence (12). Psychiatric problems, usually major depression and anxiety, are among the symptoms that frequently occur in individuals with PMS (13), and increased levels of serum superoxide dismutase and malondialdehyde, as well as decreased levels of ascorbic acid, levels have been noted in major depression (14). Additionally, impaired immune functions and decreased cytokine levels have been reported in individuals with anxiety, associated with increased cortisol secretion and increased oxidative stress (15).

Sleep disturbance and poor sleep quality are also frequently observed in individuals with PMS, particularly at the end of the luteal phase (16). Additionally, PMS has been associated with high levels of malondialdehyde, which is considered an indicator of oxidative stress, and low glutathione and glutathione peroxidase levels (11). However, it has been reported that oxidative stress markers are not altered in healthy individuals with sleep disorders (17).

It has been emphasized that zinc (Zn) metabolism should be taken into account in PMS because of its antioxidant properties and roles in progesterone binding, prolactin secretion, opiate effect, gonadal secretion, and menstrual cycle regulation (18). Long-term insufficient Zn intake decreases Zn levels in the body and results in impaired glucocorticoid production. This is often associated with neurological symptoms such as irritability, emotional instability, and depression, common in PMS (11).

PMS or premenstrual symptoms have been associated with the inflammatory response (19). In women of childbearing age, the levels of inflammatory mediators increase after ovulation and reach the highest levels during menstruation (20). Elevated C-reactive protein levels lead to more severe PMS symptoms, particularly mood and pain symptoms (21). Zn is also defined as an anti-inflammatory agent, and it has been suggested to relieve PMS symptoms by regulating the levels of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (22). It has also been reported to exhibit antidepressant activity by upregulating the gene expression of neurotrophic factors (23). In a previous study, 30 mg/day Zn supplementation for 12 weeks had favorable effects on physical and psychological symptoms and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) in individuals with PMS (22).

The relationship between Zn levels/deficiency and TAC levels has not been evaluated sufficiently in individuals with

PMS. Only one study reported favorable effects of 30 mg/day Zn supplementation for 12 weeks on symptoms and TAC in PMS (22). Therefore, more research on serum Zn and TAC in PMS are necessary to find relationships between these and symptoms.

This study aimed to determine the serum TAC levels, Zn levels, and their relationship with nutritional intake in PMS.

Methods

This case-control study was conducted between May and July 2019 on university students aged between 18 and 28 years. The exclusion criteria included the use of antidepressants, receiving hormone support therapy, and oral contraceptives, receiving nutritional support, and a diagnosis of menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome.

The study was approved by the Zekai Tahir Burak Clinical Research Ethics Committee (38/2019 - 14/05/2019). All procedures were performed in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration. Additionally, all patients were informed about the study, and written consent was obtained.

Data collection

Survey form

Menstrual cycle characteristics (e.g., first menstrual age, length of the menstrual cycle, and menstrual pattern), eating habits (number of meals, increased/decreased food consumption) related to the menstrual period, and preference of any food/drink for relaxation of the symptoms were evaluated by face-to-face interviews using a survey form.

Anthropometric measurements

The body weight was measured on an empty stomach, without shoes, and in light clothes. Height was measured using a stadiometer with the individual standing feet closed, head in the Frankfurt plane (eye triangle and top of auricle aligned, parallel to the ground). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by the square of height (meter). Individuals with a BMI of 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m² were classified as normal weight, 25.0 to 29.9 kg/m² as overweight, 30.00-34.99 kg/m² as type 1 obese, and 35.00-39.99 kg/m² as type 2 obese (24).

Premenstrual syndrome scale

The PMS status was evaluated using a PMS scale developed and validated by Gençdoğan (25) in Turkey according to The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-III (DSM) and DSM-IV-R criteria. It is a five-point Likert-type scale that consisted of 44 items. Items are scored 1 for a response of "not any/never", 2 for "very little", 3 for "sometimes", 4 for "frequently" and 5 for "most times". The highest score is 220 and scores of 111 or higher indicate PMS.

International physical activity questionnaire (short form)

The international physical activity questionnaire-short form (IPAQ-SF) is a validated tool to evaluate physical activity levels in our study (26).

IPAQ-SF quantifies physical activity during the last 7 days in four categories: Vigorous intensity, moderate intensity, walking, and sitting. In addition to intensity, frequency and duration of physical activity are assessed. The sum of duration (minutes) and frequency (days) of walking, moderate-intensity, and vigorous activity is used to calculate the total score. A standard metabolic equivalent (MET) value is calculated and the required energy is calculated using the MET-minute scores. The following MET values were considered in the current study: Walking=3.3 METs, moderate physical activity=4.0 METs, vigorous physical activity=8.0 METs, and sitting=1.5 METs. Daily and weekly physical activity levels are evaluated using these values.

Biochemical analyses

Blood samples were taken on the 21^{st} day of the menstrual cycle. Serum Zn level was measured using a commercial test kit (Relassay, Turkey) with atomic absorption spectrometry. The Zn in the sample changes color from the red-orange color of 5-Br-PAPS to light pink under alkaline conditions. The change in absorbance at 548 nm is proportional to the total Zn level in the sample. The calibration was performed with Zn sulfate dissolved in deionized water. A serum Zn level <10.7 µmol/L was considered Zn deficiency (27).

Serum TAC level was measured using a commercial kit (Relassay, Turkey). The antioxidants in the sample convert the dark blue-green ABTS radical solution to the colorless ABTS form. Thus, the change in absorbance at 660 nm is proportional to the total number of antioxidants. The kit was calibrated using a stable antioxidant standard called Trolox equivalent, similar to vitamin E. The results were expressed in mmol/L Trolox equivalents (28).

Evaluation of nutritional status

Twenty-four-hour dietary recall was used to determine the daily nutrient intake. Food consumption records were evaluated using the Nutritional Information System Package Software (Bebispro for Windows, Stuttgart, Germany; Turkish version, 2010), and the mean daily dietary intake of energy and macroand micronutrients were determined (29).

Determination of total dietary antioxidant capacity

A food consumption frequency form was used to determine the amounts of dietary antioxidant intake calculated using the antioxidant database of foods created by the ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay method by Carlsen et al. (30). The FRAP method is simple, fast, and inexpensive. Moreover, it ensures the optimization of the extracts in the determination of both lipophilic and hydrophilic antioxidants (30).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Statistics for Mac, version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) was used for the statistical analysis. The normality distribution was evaluated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Descriptive statistics were presented as number (n), percentage, and mean±standard deviation (SD). Student's t-test was used to evaluate differences between age, BMI, menarche age, duration/length of menstruation, serum TAC and Zn levels, and physical activity MET values of individuals with and without PMS. Pearson's chisquare test was used to compare the difference in the incidence of Zn deficiency between the two groups. The effect of nutrient intake on serum TAC and Zn levels was evaluated using multiple linear regression analysis. The level of significance was determined to be p<0.05.

Results

The study population consisted of 110 individuals (mean \pm SD age: 20.3 \pm 1.9 years), 48 subjects with PMS, and 62 subjects without PMS. Mean BMI was 21.8 \pm 3.1 kg/m², age at menarche was 13.3 \pm 1.1 years and the duration of menstruation was 5.7 \pm 1.4 days in the whole sample. Of the study sample, 8.4% were underweight, 74.8% were normal weight, 15.0% were overweight, and 1.8% were obese. Mean serum TAC and Zn levels were 1.5 \pm 0.3 mmol/L vs. 20.9 \pm 25.2 µmol/L, respectively.

Compared with the group without PMS, individuals with PMS had higher BMI (23.7 ± 2.7 vs. 21.3 ± 3.4 kg/m², p<0.05) and lower serum TAC level (1.4 ± 0.1 vs. 1.6 ± 0.4 mmol/L, p<0.05), Zn level (11.6 ± 6.4 vs. 28.0 ± 31.4 µmol/L, p<0.05) and physical activity MET values (1051.5 ± 931.3 vs. 1315.5 ± 825.1 min, p<0.05). There was no difference between the two groups in terms of age, age at menarche, and duration of menstruation (Table 1).

Most individuals in both groups (92.3% with PMS vs. 91.8% without PMS) consumed two meals and two snacks a day. However, when changes in eating habits (food consumption increased or decreased) during the menstrual period were evaluated, 42.7% of them stated a change in eating habits, and it was more common in individuals with PMS than without PMS (54.2% vs. 33.9%, p<0.05) (Table 2).

As was also shown in Table 2, 52.1% of the individuals with PMS and 33.8% of those without PMS preferred consuming a particular food during their menstrual period for symptom relief, and 67.4% of them reported chocolate intake. Also, 25.0% of the individuals with PMS and 17.7% of the individuals without PMS consumed a particular drink during the menstrual period for symptom relief, and 56.5% of them preferred herbal tea. Additionally, the percentage of individuals with PMS taking a nutritional supplement during the menstrual period was higher than without PMS (40.3% vs. 29.2%, p<0.05) (Table 2).

Individuals with PMS had a lower intake of energy, protein, fat, fiber, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), vitamin E, vitaminB₄,

vitamin B₂, vitamin B₆ and vitamin C, folate, magnesium (Mg), and higher intake of carbohydrate (CHO) and sodium than individuals without PMS, but the differences were not significant (Table 3).

In individuals with PMS, serum TAC level was correlated with dietary antioxidant and PUFA intakes and negatively correlated with the percentages of dietary energy from CHO, protein, and fat (Table 4).

No significant relationship was found between serum TAC level and nutrient intake in individuals without PMS.

Zn deficiency was observed in 34.5% of the individuals, which was higher in individuals with PMS than without PMS (47.9% vs. 24.2%, respectively, p<0.05). Additionally, serum Zn levels were negatively correlated with the percentages of dietary energy from CHO, protein, and fat in individuals with PMS (Table 5).

Table 1 General characteristics of the individuals based on PMS

Discussion

The exact pathophysiology of PMS remains unknown. It has been suggested that micronutrients improve PMS symptoms through neurotransmitters and hormones, but only a few studies have been performed in this field (31,32). Therefore, we hypothesized that individuals with PMS could have lower serum Zn and TAC.

Conditions such as sleep disorders, increased anxiety, and depression that are commonly reported in obese individuals, are among the symptoms observed in individuals with PMS, and that obesity is a potential risk factor for PMS (33). Furthermore, studies have shown that the prevalence of PMS in obese individuals is twice as high as in non-obese and the importance of appropriate body weight for treating PMS has been demonstrated (33-35). In this study, a significant difference in BMI was observed based on the PMS status and the BMI values of individuals with PMS were higher, which is consistent with the literature.

Variables		n	X	Levene's F-test	Levene's P-test	p value (two-tailed)	
	PMS (+)	48	20.6441	6.835	0.010	0.245	
Age (years)	PMS (-)	62	20.1823				
Dedu mess index (kg/m ²)	PMS (+)	48	23.7317	0.207	0.650	0.036	
body mass index (kg/m ⁻)	PMS (-)	62	21.3073				
	PMS (+)	48	13.4029	1.989	0.161	0.345	
Age at menarche (years)	PMS (-)	62	13.2378				
	PMS (+)	48	5.6678	4.413	0.038	0.701	
Duration of menstruation (days)	PMS (-)	62	5.7574				
	PMS (+)	48	1.4671	7.469	0.007	0.019	
Serum TAC (mmoi/L)	PMS (-)	62	1.6021				
	PMS (+)	48	11.6792	14.766	<0.001	<0.001	
Serum Zn level (µmol/L)	PMS (-)	62	28.0435				
	PMS (+)	48	1051.51	1.450	<0.001	0.020	
Physical activity MET value (min)	PMS (-)	62	1315.56				
MET: Metabolic equivalent TAC: Total antioxidant capacity. Zn: Zinc. PMS: Premenstrual syndrome							

Table 2. Eating habits of individuals									
Variables		PMS (+)				PMS (-)			
			No		Yes		No		р
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Do your eating habits change during your menstrual period?	26	54.2	22	45.8	21	33.9	41	66.1	0.033
Is there a particular food you prefer to consume during your menstrual period for relaxing symptoms?	25	52.1	23	47.9	21	33.8	41	66.2	0.453
Is there a particular drink you prefer to consume during your menstrual period for relaxing symptoms?	12	25.0	36	75.0	11	17.7	51	82.3	0.444
Is there any nutritional support you take during your menstrual period?	25	40.3	37	59.7	14	29.2	34	70.8	0.017
PMS: Premenstrual syndrome									

We observed that changes in eating habits during the menstrual period were more common in individuals with PMS than those without PMS. In the PMS group, 80.1% indicated that their food intake increased during the premenstrual period. Our finding that CHO consumption was higher in this group also confirms this data. Accordingly, increased BMI was previously proposed as a risk factor for PMS (36), and our findings showed that food intake might also increase in individuals with PMS, which may also contribute to this risk. Most individuals (86.0%) stated that chocolate was a particular food they preferred during the menstrual period. The increased desire to consume chocolate may be due to the increased need for substances such as Mg and serotonin due to the physiological changes during this period or its effect like creating a sense of pleasure through the endocannabinoid system (37). It has also been suggested that food intake increases depending on the change in serum steroid level and basal metabolic rate during this period (38). In PMS, nutritional consultation seems to be a crucial component of maintaining appropriate body weight and improvement of symptoms.

One of the most critical findings of individuals with PMS is the change in oxidative balance. Many hypotheses have been proposed regarding the underlying mechanism. Although there are contradictory studies, it has been confirmed that estrogen, which has pro-oxidant properties, causes serum TAC levels to decrease and oxidant levels to increase in individuals with PMS (39-41). In a previous study, the levels of oxidant F2-isoprostane were higher in PMS which were linked to symptom severity (42).

We observed lower serum TAC levels in individuals with PMS, and serum TAC levels were correlated with dietary antioxidants and PUFA intake. Individuals with PMS should pay attention

Table 3. Mean nutrient intak	e of individuals based	on PMS			
Variable		n	X	SD	p value
Energy (kcal/day)	PMS (+)	48	949.4	434.01	0.752
	PMS (-)	62	972.9	311.61	
Dratain (aldau)	PMS (+)	48	43.8	15.31	0.028
(g/day)	PMS (-)	62	44.0	9.78	0.320
	PMS (+)	48	118.5	42.64	0.421
CHO (g/uay)	PMS (-)	62	112.5	34.87	0.421
Fat (a/day)	PMS (+)	48	47.5	14.98	0.067
ral (g/uay)	PMS (-)	62	58.5	38.94	0.007
	PMS (+)	48	14.4	6.26	0.040
FIDre (g/day)	PMS (-)	62	24.1	66.65	0.316
	PMS (+)	48	13.0	20.01	0.400
PUFA (g/day)	PMS (-)	62	18.4	48.27	0.466
\mathcal{M} (see (dee)	PMS (+)	48	6.6	2.85	0.070
Vitamin E (mg/day)	PMS (-)	62	8.0	4.89	0.076
	PMS (+)	48	1.5	1.26	0.004
Vitamin B ₁ (mg/day)	PMS (-)	62	4.3	20.03	0.331
	PMS (+)	48	0.8	0.48	0.606
(ing/day)	PMS (-)	62	0.9	1.01	0.000
Vitamin B (ma/day)	PMS (+)	48	17.1	21.29	0.321
vitanin D ₆ (ing/day)	PMS (-)	62	57.9	282.58	0.521
Vitamin C (ma/day)	PMS (+)	48	97.1	185.93	0.616
vitamin C (mg/day)	PMS (-)	62	118.6	245.44	0.010
	PMS (+)	48	183.3	81.28	0.517
rolate (mcg/uay)	PMS (-)	62	205.6	226.60	0.517
Magnesium (mg/day)	PMS (+)	48	244.0	308.88	
magnesium (mg/uay)	PMS (-)	62	264.5	403.01	0.771
Sodium (mg/day)	PMS (+)	48	2059.2	798.45	0.312
(ing/udy)	PMS (-)	62	1921.5	623.75	0.012
	at satisfield with DMO Day	and a set of the set o	OD OLA HAND IN TABLE		

CHO: Carbohydrate, PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acid, PMS: Premenstrual syndrome, SD: Standard deviation

to taking fresh vegetables and fruits with higher antioxidant content in their diet. In addition, the importance of the adequacy of vegetable oils, oil seeds, and oilseeds should be emphasized as they can increase the endogenous antioxidant enzyme activity. Moreover, serum TAC levels are associated with the dietary pattern, and serum antioxidant capacity decreases as the percentages of dietary energy from CHO, protein, and fat increase in individuals with PMS. These findings should be considered in the food patterns of individuals with PMS.

It has been shown that as the percentage of energy derived from CHOs increases, adverse mood and behavioral changes occur more often in healthy women with a regular menstrual cycle (22).

Some micronutrient deficiencies may also be associated with PMS (43). Moreover, it has been indicated that serum Zn

levels change during the menstrual cycle and are significantly lower in individuals with PMS than in individuals without PMS (22). This may lead to irregular glucocorticoid production and some neuropsychological symptoms (44).

In the current study, 34.5% of the individuals had Zn deficiency, which was significantly more common in individuals with PMS than in those without PMS. Furthermore, it was found that serum Zn levels were negatively correlated with the dietary percentage of carbohydrate. This finding may be explined thorough the lower zinc content of foods with high carbohydrate content.

In our findings, individuals with PMS also had lower MET values and lower levels of physical activity than individuals without PMS. A study found that 8-week aerobic exercise effectively reduces PMS symptoms (45). The incidence of PMS

Table 4. Multiple linear regression analysis of the effect of nutrient consumption on serum TAC level based on PMS status								
Variable	PMS status	Beta	t	р	95% confidence	e interval		
Energy (keel/dey)	PMS (+)	-2.683E-005	-0.462	0.647	0.000	0.000		
Energy (Kcal/day)	PMS (-)	-2.991E-005	-0.105	p 93 0.647 0. 0.917 0.013 0.766 0.805 0.825 0.802 0.802 0.017 0 1.000	-0.001	0.001		
	PMS (+)	-0.029	-2.625	0.013	-0.052	-0.007		
	PMS (-)	0.004	.299	0.766	-0.023	0.032		
Protein (%)	PMS (+)	-0.029	-3.008	0.005	-0.049	-0.010		
	PMS (-)	-0.011	-0.222	0.825	-0.110	0.088		
	PMS (+)	-0.029	-2.047	0.048	-0.057	0.000		
Fal (%)	PMS (-)	0.004	0.253	0.802	-0.026	0.033		
PUFA (g/day) -	PMS (+)	0.010	2.488	0.017	0.002	0.019		
	PMS (-)	-4.620	0.000	1.000	-0.004	0.004		
Dietary antioxidant	PMS (+)	0.011	2.060	0.046	0.000	0.021		
amount (mmol/day)	PMS (-)	0.037	1.750	0.086	-0.005	0.079		

CHO: Carbohydrate, PUFA: Polyunsaturated fatty acid, PMS: Premenstrual syndrome, TAC: Total antioxidant capacity

Table 5. Multiple linear regression analysis of the effect of nutrient consumption on serum Zn levels based on PMS status							
Variable	PMS status	Beta	t	р	95% confidence	interval	
	PMS (+)	0.004	1.103	0.277	-0.003	0.010	
Energy (Kcal/day)	PMS (-)	-0.41	-3.250	0.002	-0.003 -0.066 -1.487 -0.646 -0.972 -6.387 -1.413	-0.016	
	PMS (+)	-0.861	-1.255	0.008	-1.487	-0.235	
CHO (%) -	PMS (-)	1.324	1.349	0.183	-0.646	3.295	
	PMS (+)	-0.205	-0.540	0.592	-0.972	0.562	
	PMS (-)	-2.032	-0.936	$\begin{array}{c ccccc} 0.183 & -0.646 \\ \hline \\ 0 & 0.592 & -0.972 \\ \hline \\ 6 & 0.353 & -6.387 \\ \hline \\ 6 & 0.059 & -1.413 \end{array}$	-6.387	2.322	
	PMS (+)	-0.693	-1.946	0.059	-1.413	0.028	
Fal (70)	PMS (-)	-0.616	-0.836	0.183 -0.646 3.2 0.592 -0.972 0.5 0.353 -6.387 2.3 0.059 -1.413 0.0 0.407 -2.094 0.8	0.862		
Dietary Zn intake (mg/day)	PMS (+)	-0.421	-0.459	0.649	-2.276	1.434	
	PMS (-)	-5.972	-2.779	0.008	-10.286	-1.659	

CHO: Carbohydrate, Zn: Zinc, CHO: Carbohydrate, PMS: Premenstrual syndrome

also increases in individuals who engage in low physical activity levels, suggesting exercise as a potential treatment option (46).

Study Limitations

The limitations of this study include the use of a single daily record of 24-h food consumption on the 21st day of menstruation to evaluate the overall effect of diet on PMS. A longer record of food consumption (3-5 days) could provide more accurate information. Additionally, although ovarian hormones play a crucial role in the pathogenesis of PMS and reduced TAC levels (41), blood hormone measurement was not available in the current study.

Conclusion

This study found lower serum Zn and TAC levels and higher BMI in subjects with PMS. Serum TAC levels were related to dietary antioxidant intake and dietary protein, lipid, and CHO intake. The results suggest that nutritional counseling can be a part of PMS management.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Zekai Tahir Burak Clinical Research Ethics Committee (numbered: 38/2019, dated: 14/05/2019).

Informed Consent: A consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: T.K.C., Ö.M., A.G., H.Z., B.Ö., S.A., Concept: T.K.C., Design: T.K.C., Data Collection or Processing: T.K.C., D.A., Ö.M., A.G., H.Z., B.Ö., Analysis or Interpretation: T.K.C., D.A., Literature Search: T.K.C., D.A., Writing: T.K.C., D.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Freeman EW. Premenstrual syndrome and premenstrual dysphoric disorder: definitions and diagnosis. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2003;28(Suppl 3):25-37.
- Halbreich U. The diagnosis of premenstrual syndromes and premenstrual dysphoric disorder--clinical procedures and research perspectives. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2004;19:320-334.
- Steiner M, Pearlstein T, Cohen LS, et al. Expert guidelines for the treatment of severe PMS, PMDD, and comorbidities: the role of SSRIs. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2006;15:57-69.
- Alpay FB, Turhan NO. Intermittent versus continuous sertraline therapy in the treatment of premenstrual dysphoric disorders. Int J Fertil Womens Med. 2001;46:228-231.

- Jarvis CI, Lynch AM, Morin AK. Management Strategies for Premenstrual syndrome/premenstrual dysphoric disorder. Ann Pharmacother. 2008;42:967-978.
- A DM, K S, A D, Sattar K. Epidemiology of Premenstrual Syndrome (PMS)-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Study. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014;8:106-109. Erratum in: J Clin Diagn Res. 2015;9:ZZ05.
- Kahyaoglu Sut H, Mestogullari E. Effect of Premanstrual Syndrome on Work-Related Quality of Life in Turkish Nurses. Saf Health Work. 2016;7:78-82.
- Goker A, Artunc-Ulkumen B, Aktenk F, Ikiz N. Premenstrual syndrome in Turkish medical students and their quality of life. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;35:275-278.
- Hantsoo L, Epperson CN. Allopregnanolone in premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD): Evidence for dysregulated sensitivity to GABA-A receptor modulating neuroactive steroids across the menstrual cycle. Neurobiol Stress. 2020;12:100213.
- Szmidt MK, Granda D, Sicinska E, et al. Primary Dysmenorrhea in Relation to Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Status: A Systematic Review of Case-Control Studies. Antioxidants (Basel). 2020;15:9:994.
- Granda D, Szmidt MK, Kaluza J. Is Premenstrual Syndrome Associated with Inflammation, Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Status? A Systematic Review of Case-Control and Cross-Sectional Studies. Antioxidants (Basel). 2021;10:604.
- Duvan CI, Cumaoglu A, Turhan NO, Karasu C, Kafali H. Oxidant/antioxidant status in premenstrual syndrome. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;283:299-304.
- Hofmeister S, Bodden S. Premenstrual Syndrome and Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder. Am Fam Physician. 2016;94:236-240.
- Khanzode SD, Dakhale GN, Khanzode SS, Saoji A, Palasodkar R. Oxidative damage and major depression: the potential antioxidant action of selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors. Redox Rep. 2003;8:365-370.
- Arranz L, Guayerbas N, De la Fuente M. Impairment of several immune functions in anxious women. J Psychosom Res. 2007;62:1-8.
- 16. Jehan S, Auguste E, Hussain M, et al. Sleep and Premenstrual Syndrome. J Sleep Med Disord. 2016;3:1061.
- Ozcan H, Oral E, Gulec M, et al. Total oxidant–antioxidant and paraoxonase-1 levels in premenstrual dysphoric disorder: a follow-up study. Psychiatry and Clinical Psychopharmacology. 2017;27:116-124.
- Teimoori B, Ghasemi M, Hoseini ZS, Razavi M. The Efficacy of Zinc Administration in the Treatment of Primary Dysmenorrhea. Oman Med J. 2016;31:107-111.
- Gold EB, Wells C, Rasor MO. The Association of Inflammation with Premenstrual Symptoms. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2016;25:865-874.
- Barcikowska Z, Rajkowska-Labon E, Grzybowska ME, et al. Inflammatory Markers in Dysmenorrhea and Therapeutic Options. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17:1191.
- 21. Bertone-Johnson ER, Ronnenberg AG, Houghton SC, et al. Association of inflammation markers with menstrual symptom

severity and premenstrual syndrome in young women. Hum Reprod. 2014;29:1987-1994.

- 22. Jafari F, Amani R, Tarrahi MJ. Effect of Zinc Supplementation on Physical and Psychological Symptoms, Biomarkers of Inflammation, Oxidative Stress, and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Young Women with Premenstrual Syndrome: a Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2020;194:89–95.
- 23. Petrilli MA, Kranz TM, Kleinhaus K, et al. The Emerging Role for Zinc in Depression and Psychosis. Front Pharmacol. 2017;30:8:414.
- 24. Pekcan G. Beslenme Durumunun Saptanması. Ankara: Klasmat Matbaacılık, 2008.
- 25. Gençdoğan B. Premenstrual Sendrom İçin Yeni Bir Ölçek. Türkiye'de Psikiyatri Derg. 2006;8:81-87.
- Karaca A, Turnagöl HH. Çalışan bireylerde üç farklı fiziksel aktivite anketinin güvenirliği ve geçerliliği. Spor Bilimleri Dergisi. 2007;18:68-84.
- Grønli O, Kvamme JM, Friborg O, Wynn R. Zinc deficiency is common in several psychiatric disorders. PLoS One. 2013;8:e82793.
- Erel O. A novel automated direct measurement method for total antioxidant capacity using a new generation, more stable ABTS radical cation. Clin Biochem. 2004;37:277-285.
- 29. Bebis, Nutrition Data Base Software. Data Base: The German Food Code and Nutrient Data Base (BLS II.3, 1999) with additions from USDA-sr and other sources, Istanbul, 2004.
- Carlsen MH, Halvorsen BL, Holte K, et al. The total antioxidant content of more than 3100 foods, beverages, spices, herbs and supplements used worldwide. Nutr J. 2010;9:3.
- Houghton SC, Manson JE, Whitcomb BW, et al. Carbohydrate and fiber intake and the risk of premenstrual syndrome. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2018;72:861-870.
- Bertone-Johnson ER, Hankinson SE, Forger NG, et al. Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D and risk of premenstrual syndrome in a prospective cohort study. BMC Womens Health. 2014;14:56.
- Masho SW, Adera T, South Paul J. Obesity as a risk factor for premenstrual syndrome. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol. 2005;26:33-39.
- 34. Haghighi ES, Jahromi MK, Daryano Osh F. Relationship between cardiorespiratory fitness, habitual physical activity,

body mass index and premenstrual symptoms in collegiate students. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2015;55:663-667.

- Bertone-Johnson ER, Hankinson SE, Willett WC, Johnson SR, Manson JE. Adiposity and the development of premenstrual syndrome. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2010;19:1955-1962.
- Costanian C, Akiki Z, Rabah Z, Daou S, Assaad S. Factors associated with premenstrual syndrome and its different symptom domains among university students in Lebanon. Int J Womens Health Wellness. 2018;4:068.
- 37. Zellner DA, Garriga-Trillo A, Centeno S, Wadsworth E. Chocolate craving and the menstrual cycle. Appetite. 2004;42:119-121.
- Işgın K, Büyüktuncer Z. Premenstrual sendromda beslenme yaklaşımı. Turk Hij Den Biyol Derg. 2017;74:249-260.
- Balat O, Dikensoy E, Ugur MG, Atmaca R, Cekmen M, Yurekli M. Malon dialdehyde, nitrite and adrenomedullin levels in patients with premenstrual syndrome. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2007;275:361-365.
- 40. Tuladhar ET, Rao A. Plasma protein oxidation and total antioxidant power in premenstrual syndrome. Asian Pac J Trop Med. 2010;3:237-240.
- 41. Rosenfeld R, Livne D, Nevo O, et al. Hormonal and volume dysregulation in women with premenstrual syndrome. Hypertension. 2008;51:1225-1230.
- 42. Frankel RA, Michels KA, Kim K, et al. Serum antioxidant vitamin concentrations and oxidative stress markers associated with symptoms and severity of premenstrual syndrome: a prospective cohort study. BMC Womens Health. 2021;21:49.
- Abdi F, Ozgoli G, Rahnemaie FS. A systematic review of the role of vitamin D and calcium in premenstrual syndrome. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2019;62:73-86.
- 44. Szewczyk B. Zinc homeostasis and neurodegenerative disorders. Front Aging Neurosci. 2013;19:33.
- 45. Mohebbi Dehnavi Z, Jafarnejad F, Sadeghi Goghary S. The effect of 8 weeks aerobic exercise on severity of physical symptoms of premenstrual syndrome: a clinical trial study. BMC Womens Health. 2018;31:80.
- 46. Morino S, Egawa M, Hirata H, Nishimura F, Aoyama T. Association between premenstrual syndrome and daily physical activity level. J Womens Health. 2016;5:1-4.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.1531 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:197-200



Multiple rare neoplasms arising from the nevus sebaceous of the scalp: A case report

Deepthi Shetty¹, Anilkumar Desai¹, Niranjan Kumar², Dinesh U.S.², Aditya Agnihotri², Saurav Bhaduri¹

¹SDM College of Dental Sciences and Hospital, A Constituent Unit of Shri Dharmasthala Manjunatheswara University, Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Dharwad, India

²SDM College of Medical Sciences and Hospital, A Constituent Unit of Shri Dharmasthala Manjunatheswara University, Plastic and Reconstructive surgery and Pathology, Dharwad, India

Date submitted: 03.12.2020

Date accepted: 22.02.2021

Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Deepthi Shetty, MDS, SDM College of Dental Sciences and Hospital, A Constituent Unit of Shri Dharmasthala Manjunatheswara University, Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Dharwad, India kdeepthishetty@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5999-2479

Keywords: Nevus

sebaceous Jadassohn, scalp, syringocystadenoma papilliferum

Introduction

Nevus sebaceous of Jadassohn (NSJ), first described by Joseph Jadassohn in 1895, is an organoid nevus of pilosyringosebaceous and adnexal origin that combines sebaceous gland abnormalities with anomalies of the epidermal, follicular, and apocrine glands (1,2).

NSJ typically presents at birth as linear/ovoid plaque most commonly on the face and scalp and progresses through selfdifferentiation into multiple neoplasms in late adulthood (3-5). However, reports of more than three simultaneous tumors

ABSTRACT

Nevus sebaceous of Jadassohn (NSJ) is a cutaneous hamartoma of pilosebaceous origin that differentiates into multiple neoplasms, most commonly trichoblastoma/basal cell carcinoma and syringocystadenoma papilliferum (SCAP). Malignant transformation of NSJ is rare and usually observed in the elderly. However, a diagnosis of more than three separate tumors concurrent to multiple malignancies developing from a single NSJ is extremely rare. We here report a case of a 72-year-old male patient with five distinct tumors arising from NSJ of the scalp, including SCAP, tubular apocrine adenoma, eccrine poroma, apocrine cystadenoma, and cutaneous apocrine carcinoma.

from a single nevus and their malignant transformation are extremely rare (6,7). Here, we describe the features of multiple synchronous benign and malignant neoplasms arising from a long-standing nevus sebaceous of the scalp.

Case Presentation

A 70-year-old male patient was admitted with a complaint of a painful slow-growing ulcer in the right buccal mucosa and swelling in the scalp, which had grown slowly over years to its current size with occasional itching. The patient had a history of chronic tobacco use and betel quid chewing. On physical

©Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

examination, a lesion that was irregularly surfaced, ulcerated, and proliferating onto the mandibular alveolar process was detected along with asymptomatic solitary dome-shaped nodular growth measuring approximately 7.5x4.5 cm over the left parietooccipital region of the scalp (Figure 1). The lesion was hyperpigmented and soft to firm. An incisional biopsy of the oral lesion was performed and the histopathological evaluation was consistent with a well-differentiated squamous cell carcinoma (stage IVa). The intra-oral lesion was treated by wide excision with hemimandibulectomy; nerve and vein sparing type of neck dissection and reconstruction of the defect were carried out with pectoralis major myocutaneous flap.

Fine-needle aspiration of the lesion on the scalp was reported as syringocystadenoma papilliferum (SCAP). The lesion on the scalp was surgically excised and the defect was covered with a split-thickness skin graft.

Histopathological examination of the lesion revealed multiple lesions in the primary NSJ, namely SCAP, tubular apocrine adenoma (TAA), eccrine poroma (EP), apocrine cystadenoma (ACA), cutaneous apocrine carcinoma (CAC) and cutaneous apocrine carcinoma, with invasive areas (Figure 2A-G). Immunohistochemical studies ruled out basal cell carcinoma and malignant melanoma. S100 for nerve sheath tumors and



Figure 1. Preoperative lesion on the scalp

malignant melanoma, CK 17 and cytokeratin screening for epithelial origin tumors, and CD 99 for mesenchymal tumors/ soft tissue sarcomas were studied during histopathological evaluations.

Discussion

NSJ follows three phases of its natural history designated by Mehregan and Pinkus (8) as infancy, pubertal stimulation, and post-pubertal histological degeneration; usually appears at birth (0.1-0.3% among newborns) or early childhood as a wellcircumscribed, smooth, slightly raised, yellowish-brown alopecic patch that progresses through puberty, assuming a more verrucous texture, possibly due to the expression of various hormonal receptors (4). There have been only a few reported cases in the literature describing the simultaneous development of 5 or more neoplasms in a solitary lesion (2).

SCAPs are the most common hamartoma tumors associated with nevus sebaceous, which originate from the apocrine sweat glands (4). Stavrianeas report an incidence of 5 to 19% of the nevi complicated with SCAP (1). Section from our patient's slides revealed a stratified squamous epithelium with immature sebaceous glands and areas of basaloid hyperplasia along with immature hair structures and dilated ductal infundibulum in the dermis (Figure 2B).

TAA is a minor variant of SCAP consisting of a benign appendage tumor of apocrine origin. TAA and SCAP rarely develop together in the nevus sebaceous, and only a few such cases had been reported in 2004 (9). Sections of our slides showed a well-circumscribed dermal neoplasm comprising lobules of dilated tubules lined by two rows of cuboidal to columnar epithelial cells with eosinophilic cytoplasm and round bland nuclei (Figure 2C).

EP is a benign tumor originating from the epidermal sweat glands and occurs in middle-aged individuals on the sole and hands. However, on the scalp is extremely rare, with 18 cases reported until the year 2012 (10). Sections of our slides showed a downward proliferation of basaloid cells from the epidermis with delicate fibrovascular stroma in the form of anastomosing cords and nests with pigmentation (Figure 2D).

ACA is a rare, benign, solitary adenomatous cystic tumor of the skin. Sections of our slide revealed cystic areas in the dermis lined by columnar cells with small round basal nuclei and abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm arranged in a papillary pattern with a fibrovascular core (Figure 2E).

CAC is a rare malignancy with unknown etiology and only eight cases are reported in 2012 (6). We found many layers of pleomorphic cells with irregular hyperchromatic nuclei, prominent nucleoli, and abundant granular eosinophilic cytoplasm (Figure 2F). There was the presence of atypical mitoses, decapitation secretion, and tumor tissue invasion into the papillary and reticular dermis (Figure 2G).



Figure 2. Multiple neoplasms arising from nevus sebaceous of Jadassohn. A: Nevus sebaceous of Jadassohn: [Haematoxylin and eosin (H&E)stained photomicrograph 30x magnification] of nevus sebaceous of Jadassohn showing immature sebaceous glands, multiple heterotopic apocrine glands, defective hair follicles, and epithelial papillomatosis with hyperkeratosis. B: Syringocystadenoma papilliferum (SCAP): (H&E-stained photomicrograph 100x magnification) of SCAP showing connective tissue composed of glandular and ductal papillary proliferation and dense plasma cell infiltration. C: Tubular apocrine adenoma (TAA): (H&E-stained photomicrograph 100x magnification) of TAA comprised of variably sized intradermal nodules with tubular structures lined by 1-2 layers of cuboidal cells with eosinophilic cytoplasm and round bland nuclei. D: Eccrine poroma: (H&E-stained photomicrograph 30x magnification) of eccrine poroma showing dense basaloid proliferation into the dermis and connective tissue with reactive vessels and chronic inflammatory exudates. Islands of ductal structures were also noted. E: Apocrine cystadenoma (ACA): (H&E-stained photomicrograph 30x magnification) of ACA showing abundant intradermal cystic areas and papillary apocrine metaplasia. The immature glandular structures appear to be lined by a layer of columnar cells with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm with decapitation secretion noted in multiple areas. F: Cutaneous apocrine carcinoma (CAC): (H&E-stained photomicrograph 100x magnification) of CAC: showing irregular layers of pleomorphic cells with an irregular hyperchromatic nucleus and abundantly granular cytoplasm. Atypical mitoses also were noted. G: CAC: (H&E-stained photomicrograph 100x magnification) with invasive areas and invasion into deeper layers of the dermis

Conclusion

The current case is in agreement with most authors who have suggested that NSJ should be surgically excised, histologically examined, and should be kept on a close follow-up to prevent malignant transformation.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed written consent has been obtained from the patient for publication.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: D.S., A.D., N.K., D.U.S., A.A., Concept: D.S., A.D., N.K., D.U.S., Design: D.S., A.D., Data Collection or Processing: D.S., A.A., S.B., Analysis or Interpretation: D.S., A.D., N.K., D.U.S., A.A., Literature Search: D.S., S.B., Writing: D.S., S.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Stavrianeas NG, Katoulis AC, Stratigeas NP, Karagianni IN, Paterou-Stavrianea M, Vareltzidis AG. Development of multiple tumors in a sebaceous nevus of Jadassohn. Dermatology. 1997;195:155-158.
- Gozel S, Donmez M, Akdur NC, Yikilkan H. Development of six tumors in a sebaceus nevus of jadassohn: report of a case. Korean J Pathol. 2013;47:569-574.
- Manonukul J, Omeapinyan P, Vongjirad A. Mucoepidermoid (adenosquamous) carcinoma, trichoblastoma, trichilemmoma, sebaceous adenoma, tumor of follicular infundibulum and syringocystadenoma papilliferum arising within 2 persistent lesions of nevus sebaceous: report of a case. Am J Dermatopathol. 2009;31:658-663.
- Idriss MH, Elston DM. Secondary neoplasms associated with nevus sebaceous of Jadassohn: a study of 707 cases. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;70:332337.
- Kantrow SM, Ivan D, Williams MD, Prieto VG, Lazar AJ. Metastasizing adenocarcinoma and multiple neoplastic

proliferations arising in a nevus sebaceus. Am J Dermatopathol. 2007;29:462-466.

- Paudel U, Jha A, Pokhrel DB, Gurung D, Parajuli S, Pant A. Apocrine carcinoma developing in a naevus sebaceous of scalp. Kathmandu Univ Med J (KUMJ). 2012;10:103-105.
- Namiki T, Miura K, Ueno M, Arima Y, Nishizawa A, Yokozeki H. Four Different Tumors Arising in a Nevus Sebaceous. Case Rep Dermatol. 2016;8:75-79.
- Mehregan AH, Pinkus H. Life history of organoid nevi. Special reference to nevus sebaceus of Jadassohn. Arch Dermatol. 1965;91:574-588.
- Ahn BK, Park YK, Kim YC. A case of tubular apocrine adenoma with Syringocystadenoma papilliferum arising in nevus sebaceus. J Dermatol. 2004;31:508-510.
- Park E, Lee DS, Eom KS. Eccrine poroma on the scalp: a case report with MR findings. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2015;1:53-54.

DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.02996 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:201-3



Treatment of pediatric patients with Down syndrome, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, and hepatitis C infection by directacting antivirals

Ayberk Selek¹,
Melike Arslan²,
Orhan Gürsel³,
Necati Balamtekin²

¹University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Child Health and Diseases, Ankara, Türkiye

²University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Child Health and Diseases, Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Ankara, Türkiye

³University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Child Health and Diseases, Division of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 22.02.2021

Date accepted: 29.07.2021 Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Melike Arslan, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Child Health and Diseases, Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Ankara, Türkiye melikearslan190@gmail.com

ORCID: orcid.org/0000-0002-0107-4699

Keywords: Direct-acting antiviral, Down syndrome, hepatitis C infection, children

Introduction

Hepatitis C virus (HCV), a small, enveloped, single-stranded positive-sense RNA virus from the Flaviviridae family, is one of the chronic viral hepatitis agents in humans (1). Severe complications, such as portal hypertension, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular cancer, may occur over time in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection (2).

Down syndrome is the most common chromosomal disease characterized by three copies of chromosome 21 and the frequency of leukemia in patients with Down syndrome is higher compared to the general population (3). The risk of HCV infection is increased in patients with leukemia due to the frequent need for blood transfusion and immunosuppressive treatments (3).

According to the classical guidelines, the first-line treatment of hepatitis C in children is the combination of pegylated

ABSTRACT

Millions of people worldwide suffer from hepatitis C, which can lead to hepatitis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. The risk of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is increased in patients with leukemia due to the frequent need for blood transfusion. Owing to their proven effectiveness in treating HCV infection, direct-acting antivirals (DAAs) have become a new treatment approach in children older than 12 years. The patient present in this article is a 9-year-old boy who had acute lymphoblastic leukemia and Down syndrome, who was diagnosed with hepatitis C infection and was successfully treated with a combination of DAA glecaprevir (250 mg/day) and pibrentasvir (100 mg/day) over 8 weeks.

interferon and ribavirin (4). Since these drugs have dreadful side effects, such as aggravated cytopenia causing deep immune dysfunction, bone marrow suppression, hepatotoxicity, and the treatment response rates are relatively low, nowadays direct-acting antivirals (DAAs) have started to be administered for treating adult patients with hepatitis C infection. Recently, the possible side effects of DAAs have been minimized and cure rates have reached 90-97% (5). The Food and Drug Administration approved the use of the combination of ledipasvir/sofosbuvir and the combination of sofosbuvir and ribavirin for the treatment of adolescents with chronic HCV infections (12-17 years). Although trials with DAAs are ongoing for younger children, the only available treatment in the US and Europe for those <12 years is still the dual therapy of pegylated interferon and ribavirin. The next generation, ribavirin-free, DAA combinations (i.e. sofosbuvir/velpatasvir and glecaprevir/ pibrentasvir) demonstrate high efficacy with a shorter duration of treatment (6).

In this article, we present a 9-year-old boy who had Down syndrome, leukemia, and HCV infection and whose HCV infection was successfully treated with DAAs including a combination of glecaprevir and pibrentasvir.

Case Presentation

A 9-year-old boy with had Down syndrome and ALL was on maintenance therapy with methotrexate and 6-mercaptopurine and his treatment was interrupted for 2 weeks due to the detection of high transaminase levels at a routine examination. However, despite the interruptions of treatment, transaminase elevations continued in the examinations. There was no known history of heart, liver disease, and hypothyroidism. There was a history of multiple blood product transfusions because of leukemia-related problems.

The patient was referred to the pediatric gastroenterology department for the evaluation and treatment of hypertransaminasemia. After detailed investigations, he was diagnosed with hepatitis C infection. Anti-HCV antibody was positive and HCV RNA was 20.790.000 IU/mL. Abdominal ultrasound revealed enlarged liver and grade 2 hepatosteatosis. Liver biopsy was performed for assessing the stage and degree of activity in hepatitis C. Liver biopsy showed prominent secondary hemochromatosis, moderate lymphocyte infiltrates scattered to sinusoids, and reactive changes in hepatocytes, apart from partial degeneration and diffuse apoptosis. Genotype analysis showed genotype 3a. Other tests used for detecting causes of transaminase elevation yielded negative results.

The patient received glecaprevir (250 mg/day) and pibrentasvir (100 mg/day) combination for 8 weeks in October-November 2019 to treat HCV infection. Serum transaminase levels decreased to normal values two weeks after the onset of treatment, and the virus became undetectable in the blood after 8 weeks.

Selek et al. Treatment of a pediatric patient with HCV by DAA

At the last follow-up visit, 10 months after completion of DAA treatment, the patient continued to show negative HCV RNA. An off-label prescription was approved for the use of DAAs and an informed consent form was obtained from the patient's family.

Discussion

There are currently approximately 11 million children under the age of 15 with HCV infection worldwide (7). Approximately 20% of infected people have self-limited acute hepatitis, but in the remaining 80%, the virus is not cleared, which leads to a chronic HCV infection (8).

Until recently, the treatment of pediatric patients with HCV infections was controversial because pegylated interferon and ribavirin used in the treatment of HCV cause major side effects such as severe neutropenia, immune system dysfunction, growth impairment, hepatotoxicity, and poor tolerability (7,9). Both the side effects and the low success rates of the treatment have led to the development of new-generation drugs. Currently, DAAs show a success rate of over 95% in the treatment of hepatitis C. DAAs target specific nonstructural proteins of the virus, resulting in the disruption of viral replication and thereby infection (8).

Although DAAs have been routinely used in adult patients, data on the use of these drugs is very limited in children, especially among those younger than 12 years of age. The investigation of the efficacy of DAAs for treating pediatric patients older than 12 years with HCV infection yielded similar results with adult patients (6). DAA therapy has several advantages over pegylated interferon therapy and it is used orally for up to 8 weeks (8).

There are no definitive guidelines for treating children 3-11 years of age with HCV infections. In children younger than 12 years of age, the decision to start treatment should be individualized to patients based on the HCV genotype, the severity of liver disease, the potential for side effects, the possibility of response, and the presence of co-morbidities. The possible off-label use of DAAs may be considered for treating children younger than 12 years with chronic HCV infection (6). We treated our patient successfully with a DDA over 8 weeks, which is a fixed-dose combination of an HCV NS3/4A protease inhibitor (glecaprevir) and an HCV NS5A inhibitor (pibrentasvir).

Conclusion

Our experience shows that treatment with DAAs may be used off-label in HCV-infected children under the age of 12 years. The advantages of treatment with DAAs over pegylated interferon and ribavirin therapy include shorter duration of treatment, higher effectiveness, and a lower rate of side effects.

Ethics

Informed Consent: A consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: O.G., N.B., Concept: A.S., O.G., N.B., Design: M.A., O.G., N.B., Data Collection or Processing: A.S., Analysis or Interpretation: A.S., M.A., Literature Search: A.S., M.A., Writing: A.S., M.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Lindenbach BD, Thiel HJ, Rice CM. Flaviviridae: The viruses and their replication. In Fields Virology. 5th ed. Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven; 2007.
- Zaltron S, Spinetti A, Biasi L, Baiguera C, Castelli F. Chronic HCV infection: epidemiological and clinical relevance. BMC Infect Dis. 2012;12(Suppl 2):S2.
- 3. Massey GV, Zipursky A, Chang MN, et al. A prospective study of the natural history of transient leukemia (TL) in neonates

with Down syndrome (DS): Children's Oncology Group (COG) study POG-9481. Blood. 2006;107:4606-4613.

- Wang X, Gao F, Yuan G, et al. Ten-year follow-up analysis of chronic hepatitis C patients after getting sustained virological response to pegylated interferon-α and ribavirin therapy. J Viral Hepat. 2016;23:971-976.
- Deming P. Viral hepatitis. In: Pharmacotherapy: A Pathophysiologic Approach. 9th ed. New York, NY; 2019.
- Indolfi G, Hierro L, Dezsofi A, et al. Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis C Virus Infection in Children: A Position Paper by the Hepatology Committee of European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;66:505-515.
- Schwarz KB, Molleston JP, Jonas MM, et al. Durability of Response in Children Treated With Pegylated Interferon alfa [corrected] 2a ± Ribavirin for Chronic Hepatitis C. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2016;62:93-96.
- Jakobsen JC, Nielsen EE, Feinberg J, et al. Direct-acting antivirals for chronic hepatitis C. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;9:CD012143.
- Tsunoda T, Inui A, Kawamoto M, Sogo T, Komatsu H, Fujisawa T. Effects of pegylated interferon-α-2a monoterapy on growth in Japanese children with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatol Res. 2014;44:251-258.



DOI: 10.4274/gulhane.galenos.2021.96168 Gulhane Med J 2022;64:204-7

Diagnosis and treatment of constrictive pericarditis: From chest X-ray to pericardiectomy or anti-inflammatory therapy

🛛 Serkan Asil, 🖾 Selen Eski, 🖾 Ender Murat, 🖨 Murat Çelik, 🖨 Hasan Kutsi Kabul

University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye

Date submitted: 25.08.2021

Date accepted: 18.10.2021

Online publication date: 15.06.2022

Corresponding Author:

Serkan Asil, M.D., University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, Ankara, Türkiye dr_serkanasil@hotmail.com

ORCID:

orcid.org/0000-0002-6782-4237

Keywords: Constrictive pericarditis, pericardiectomy, transient constriction, anti-inflammatory drug therapy

Introduction

Constrictive pericarditis (CP), a serious, often a difficult diagnosis that causes heart failure, is associated with thickening and calcification of the pericardial layers, impairing the diastolic functions of the heart (1). Chest X-ray, transthoracic echocardiography (TTE), cardiac computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and left-right cardiac catheterization are used for diagnosis (1).

The standard treatment for chronic CP is pericardiectomy (1). In the transient form of the disease, anti-inflammatory therapy is the primary treatment option (2). In these two case reports, we want to pay attention to the diagnostic process and the importance of distinguishing the chronic form of the disease from the transient form, and the difference between the two treatment modalities.

ABSTRACT

Constrictive pericarditis (CP) consists of pericardial fibrotic thickening and calcification and causes the impaired diastolic filling of the ventricles. Echocardiography and other imaging modalities and left-right cardiac catheterization are used for diagnosis. The standard treatment for chronic CP is pericardiectomy. However, in the transient form of the disease, anti-inflammatory therapy should be the primary treatment option. In two cases of CP, the diagnostic process and the importance of distinguishing the chronic form of the disease from the transient form, and the difference in the two treatment modalities have been highlighted.

Case Presentations

Case 1

A 32-year-old male patient was admitted with shortness of breath. Physical examination revealed pretibial edema, and increased jugular venous pressure. On admission, the electrocardiogram showed atrial fibrillation (AF), and the chest X-ray revealed pericardial calcification (Figure 1A). TTE examination showed normal biventricular function, moderate to mild mitral and tricuspid regurgitation, the diastolic bounce of the interventricular septum, and >25% variation in mitral inflow with respiration, mitral annular septal-lateral é reversal, and increased pericardial thickness (Figure 1B, 1C). Cardiac CT showed diffuse calcification of the pericardium, and the calcific plaques were 6 mm at the thickest part (Figure 1D). The patient was diagnosed with CP, but he refused surgery. On a phone

[®]Copyright 2022 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine / Gülhane Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House.

visit 6 months later, the patient was learned to have undergone pericardiectomy and was clinically better.

Case 2

A 50-year-old female patient was admitted with dyspnea and palpitations. We learned that the patient was a refugee and had a history of pericarditis and pericardiocentesis 6 months ago in his own country. In laboratory examination. hepatic and renal function and albumin levels were normal but brain natriuretic peptide 950 pg/mL, C-reactive protein 58 mg/L, white blood cell count 12.000/µL. The TTE of the patient revealed normal biventricular function, moderate atrial dilatation, marked dilation of the inferior vena cava (25 mm), and increased thickness of the pericardium (Figure 2A). Also, diastolic bounce of the interventricular septum, >25% variation in mitral inflow with respiration, and mitral annular septal-lateral é reversal, as indicators of ventricular interdependence, were observed (Figure 2B, 2C). Cardiac CT showed increased pericardial thickness and minimal calcification (Figure 2D). In the catheterization, left ventricular and right ventricular end-diastolic pressures equalized and increased, right atrial pressure increased, X and Y descent became evident, and there was respiratory discordance (Figure 2E, 2F). Since the patient had a previous history of pericarditis and pericardiocentesis

and pericardial calcification was more limited, a follow-up was planned with anti-inflammatory therapy to rule out a transient constriction. In addition to standard medical therapy, the patient was prescribed oral corticosteroid. The patient showed clinical and TTE improvements at the 3-month follow-up.

Discussion

In these two case reports, we intended to draw attention to some significant differences in the diagnosis and treatment of CP. In particular, we emphasized that, after the diagnosis of CP is made, the transient form of the disease should be distinguished. In addition, CP can successfully be treated with anti-inflammatory therapy without the need for pericardiectomy.

CP is characterized by abnormal diastolic filling patterns and low cardiac output. The most common clinical findings are shortness of breath, edema, and increased jugular venous pressure. Also, hepatomegaly, pleural effusions, ascites, and hypoalbuminemia may occur in more advanced cases.

Chest X-ray, TTE, cardiac CT and MRI, and left-right cardiac catheterization are used for the diagnosis of CP (1). Chest X-ray can be an initial diagnostic test that can detect pericardial calcifications (3). The essential pathophysiologic mechanism in CP is the dissociation of intrathoracic and intracardiac pressures and ventricular interdependence within a fixed space.



Figure 1. A-C: Chest X-ray, computed tomography, and echocardiographic images of increased pericardial thickness and calcification. D: >25% variation in E mitral inflow wave with respiration on echocardiography



Figure 2. A, B: Transthoracic echocardiography showed >25% variation in mitral inflow with respiration, dilation of the inferior vena cava, and diminished collapse. C: Mitral annular septal-lateral é reversal. D: Thorax computed tomography showed increased pericardial thickness and minimal calcification. E, F: In the left and right heart catheterization, left ventricular and right ventricular end-diastolic pressures equalized and increased, right atrial pressure increased, X and Y descent became evident, and respiratory discordance

Through these pathophysiologic mechanisms in TTE, the abnormal septal motion might have increased the respiratory variation of mitral inflow velocity, and also reversed the mitral annulus septal-lateral velocity (4). In addition to TTE, CT is a valuable imaging modality, especially in the evaluation of pericardial calcifications (5). With the development of newer imaging methods, there has been a shift to invasive imaging tools, particularly when CP is suspected. However, cardiac catheterization remains a diagnostic tool, particularly when other imaging tools are inconclusive (6).

While it is critical to distinguish the disease from restrictive cardiomyopathy before the diagnosis of the disease, it is important to distinguish the disease in its transient form after the diagnosis of CP. The transient constriction is a typical clinical course that implies the presence of acute inflammatory pericarditis with constriction due to inflammation, which resolves once the inflammatory process is treated. Thus, conservative treatment may be conducted for 2 to 3 months before recommending pericardiectomy in the absence of signs that the problem is chronic (for example, cachexia, AF, hepatic dysfunction, or pericardial calcification) (2). Also, CT and MRI can be used to detect pericardial inflammation to diagnose transient constriction (5).

The standard treatment for chronic CP is pericardiectomy (1). However, pericardiectomy has significant perioperative mortality ranging from 6 to 12% (1,7). Therefore, pericardiectomy should be carefully evaluated in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction, severe renal and hepatic failure, cachexia, hypoalbuminemia, and patients with radiation-induced CP (1,2). Considering this information, we recommended pericardiectomy in our first case because the patient was young, did not have cachexia, and had low comorbidities.

In the transient form of the disease with concomitant evidence of pericardial inflammation and increased inflammatory markers, empiric anti-inflammatory therapy can be considered (1). While the combination of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and colchicine is recommended as initial treatment, corticosteroids can be chosen in resistant cases (1). In our second case, corticosteroid treatment was started due to increased inflammatory markers in the blood tetsts, resistance of the disease to the fşrst line treatment and the absence of findings indicating the chronic form of the disease such as hypoalbuminemia and pericardial calcification.

Conclusion

The diagnosis and treatment steps of two different cases of CP are discussed in this case report. The evaluation of patients

for transient constriction, especially before pericardiectomy can be recommended, which could prevent unnecessary and highrisk surgery.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent forms were obtained from all patients for the case reports here.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: S.A., S.E., Design: S.A., M.Ç., E.M., Data Collection, or Processing: S.A, E.M., Analysis, or Interpretation: S.A., M.Ç., H.K.K., Literature Search: S.A., S.E., Writing: S.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study received no financial support.

References

1. Adler Y, Charron P, Imazio M, et al. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of pericardial diseases: The

Task Force for the Diagnosis and Management of Pericardial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Endorsed by: The European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J. 2015;36:2921-2964.

- Haley JH, Tajik AJ, Danielson GK, Schaff HV, Mulvagh SL, Oh JK. Transient constrictive pericarditis: causes and natural history. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43:271-275.
- Ferguson E, Berkowitz EA. Cardiac and pericardial calcifications on chest radiographs. Clin Radiol. 2010;65:685-694.
- Welch TD, Ling LH, Espinosa RE, et al. Echocardiographic diagnosis of constrictive pericarditis: Mayo Clinic criteria. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014;7:526-534.
- Cosyns B, Plein S, Nihoyanopoulos P, et al. European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging (EACVI) position paper: Multimodality imaging in pericardial disease. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015;16:12-31.
- 6. Doshi S, Ramakrishnan S, Gupta SK. Invasive hemodynamics of constrictive pericarditis. Indian Heart J. 2015;67:175-182.
- DeValeria PA, Baumgartner WA, Casale AS, et al. Current indications, risks, and outcome after pericardiectomy. Ann Thorac Surg. 1991;52:219-224.

CONTENTS

REVIEW

128 Use of high flow nasal cannula as a modality of acute respiratory failure due to COVID-19 Kristin Purnama Dewi, Ivana Purnama Dewi, Iswanto Iswanto, Erika Marfiani, Muhammad Amin; Surabaya, Yoqyakarta, Indonesia

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

- **136** Roles of angiotensin II, Olmesartan and PD123319 on proliferation, oxidative stress and TGF- β 1 in HUVEC culture Zehra Cicek, Kübra Akıllıoğlu, Ayse Sebnem İlhan; Ankara, Adana, Türkiye
- 144 Clinical findings and molecular diagnosis in children with Bardet-Biedl Syndrome in Turkey: Identification of novel variants Özlem Akgün Doğan, Nihat Buğra Ağaoğlu; İstanbul, Türkiye
- 152 Evaluation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels in obese individuals Gülsah Kaner, Neriman İnanc, Eda Basmısırlı, Kürsad Ünlühizarcı; İzmir, Kayseri, Türkiye
- **159** Geographical prevalence of dens invaginatus in the upper lateral teeth of young adult Turkish men Elif Aybala Oktay, Serpil Karaoğlanoğlu, Numan Aydın, Akın Alper, Bilge Ersöz; Ankara, Izmir, Türkiye
- 164 Clinical outcomes and feasibility of laparoscopic cholecystectomy in elderly patients Ahmet Burak Ciftci, Sönmez Ocak, Ahmet Can Sarı; Samsun, Türkiye
- 169 Evaluation of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on pain, stress, sleep and quality of life in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain Elzem Bolkan Günaydın, Mustafa Çağrı Öcalan, Aslıhan Uzunkulaoğlu, Saime Ay; Ankara, Türkiye
- **178** Factors associated with treatment outcome of tuberculosis in Bale Robe General Hospital, Southeastern Ethiopia: A retrospective study

Addisu Assefa Tadesse, Yeshumnesh Belete Gebrewold, Helmut Kloos; Ethiopia, Africa; San Francisco, USA

189 Low serum zinc and total antioxidant capacity levels in individuals with premenstrual syndrome Tuğba Küçükkasap Cömert, Duygu Ağagündüz, Özlem Muşlu, Aylin Güçlü, Hülya Zengin, Bediye Öztas, Süleyman Akarsu; Ankara, Türkiye

CASE REPORTS

- **197** Multiple rare neoplasms arising from the nevus sebaceous of the scalp: A case report Deepthi Shetty, Anilkumar Desai, Niranjan Kumar, Dinesh U.S., Aditya Agnihotri, Sauray Bhaduri; Dharwad, India
- 201 Treatment of pediatric patients with Down syndrome, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, and hepatitis C infection by directacting antivirals

Ayberk Selek, Melike Arslan, Orhan Gürsel, Necati Balamtekin; Ankara, Türkiye

204 Diagnosis and treatment of constrictive pericarditis: From chest X-ray to pericardiectomy or anti-inflammatory therapy Serkan Asil, Selen Eski, Ender Murat, Murat Çelik, Hasan Kutsi Kabul; Ankara, Türkiye